# **UNITED STATES** SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

# FORM 10-Q

(M	ar	, (	Դո	4
UVI	211	кι	. , 111	•

Mark One)	
☑ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 (	OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly p	period ended March 31, 2017
	Or
☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 (	OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transiti	on period from to
Commission	File Number 001-36295
Egalet	Corporation
(Exact Name of Regis	strant as Specified in Its Charter)
Delaware	46-3575334
(State or Other Jurisdiction of	(I.R.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization)	Identification No.)
600 Lee Road	
Suite 100	19087
Wayne, PA (Address of Principal Executive Offices)	(Zip Code)
•	er, including area code: (610) 833-4200
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:	
Title of each class	Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share	NASDAQ Global Market
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None	
(Title of Class)	
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports receding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to $0$ days. Yes $\boxtimes$ No $\square$	quired to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronical abmitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chequired to submit and post such files). Yes $\boxtimes$ No $\square$	lly and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be apter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer efinitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," and "smaller reporting continuous programmes."	, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the ompany" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.:
arge accelerated filer	Accelerated filer ⊠
Non-accelerated filer $\square$ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)	Smaller reporting company $\square$
merging growth company	
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registra evised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Ex	ant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or change Act. ⊠
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as def	ined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes □ No ⊠
Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes	of common stock, as of the latest practical date.
Common Stock, \$0.001 par value Shares outstanding	g as of May 10, 2017: 25,615,126

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	_	Page
	PART I- FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Financial Statements	
	Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017 (unaudited)	1
	Consolidated Statements of Operations (unaudited) for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017	2
	Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss (unaudited) for the three months ended March 31, 2016	
	and 2017	3
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited) for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and	4
	2017	4
	Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements	5
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	23
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	31
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	32
	PART II- OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	33
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	33
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	33
Item 3	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	33
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	33
Item 5.	Other Information	33
Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	34
SIGNATI	IDES	35

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references to the "Company", "we", "us" and "our" refer to Egalet Corporation and its subsidiaries. The Egalet logo is our trademark and Egalet is our registered trademark. All other trade names, trademarks and service marks appearing in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are the property of their respective owners. We have assumed that the reader understands that all such terms are source-indicating. Accordingly, such terms, when first mentioned in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, appear with the trade name, trademark or service mark notice and then throughout the remainder of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q without the trade name, trademark or service mark notices for convenience only and should not be construed as being used in a descriptive or generic sense. Unless otherwise indicated, all statistical information provided about our business in this report is as of March 31, 2017.

# PART I

# ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# **Egalet Corporation and Subsidiaries**

# Consolidated Balance Sheet s (in thousands, except share and per share data)

Assets Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents Marketable securities, available for sale Accounts receivable  Assets  44,355 \$ 26,98  42,471 78,35  1,108 5,41	57
Cash and cash equivalents \$ 44,355 \$ 26,98 Marketable securities, available for sale 42,471 78,35	57
Marketable securities, available for sale 42,471 78,35	57
Accounts receivable 1.108 5.41	10
Accounts receivable 1,100 5,41	
Inventory 1,700 1,51	11
Other current assets - 19	97
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,537 1,37	78
Other receivables 1,001 1,04	49
Total current assets 93,172 114,88	89
Intangible assets, net 8,350 7,88	82
Property and equipment, net 12,709 11,85	57
Deposits and other assets 627 70	05
Total assets \$ 114,858 \$ 135,33	33
Liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)	
Current liabilities:	
Accounts payable 2,392 6,59	98
Accrued expenses 18,147 15,03	33
Deferred revenue 3,975 6,17	75
Debt - current 381 42	28
Total current liabilities 24,895 28,23	34
Debt - non-current portion, net 83,711 123,38	80
Deferred income tax liability 23	23
Derivative liability 12	-
Other liabilities 891 84	49
Total liabilities 109,532 152,48	86
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)	
Stockholders' equity (deficit)	
Common stock\$0.001 par value; 75,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2016	
and March 31, 2017; 25,189,125 and 25,407,427 shares issued and outstanding at	
December 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017, respectively 25	26
Additional paid-in capital 230,379 233,94	41
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income 100 19	94
Accumulated deficit (225,178) (251,31	14)
Total stockholders' equity (deficit) 5,326 (17,15	53)
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity \$ 114,858 \$ 135,33	33

# Egalet Corporation and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited) (in thousands, except share and per share data)

(in thousands, except share and per share data)				
	Three Months Ended March 31,			
	_	2016		2017
Revenues	_			
Net product sales	\$	2,563	\$	5,427
Collaboration revenues		100		
Total revenue		2,663		5,427
Cost and Expenses				
Cost of sales (excluding amortization of product rights)		882		1,325
Amortization of product rights		501		503
General and administrative		5,998		8,491
Sales and marketing		6,202		9,258
Research and development	_	6,119		6,520
Total costs and expenses		19,702		26,097
Loss from operations		(17,039)		(20,670)
Other (income) expense:				
Change in fair value of derivative liability		(610)		(12)
Interest expense, net		2,309		4,534
Other gain		(3)		181
Loss (gain) on foreign currency exchange	_	(2)		
		1,694		4,703
Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes		(18,733)		(25,373)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes		(185)		
Net loss	\$	(18,548)	\$	(25,373)
Per share information:				
Net loss per share of common stock, basic and diluted	\$	(0.76)	\$	(1.02)
Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic and diluted		24,406,247		24,766,147

# **Egalet Corporation and Subsidiaries**

# Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Los s (Unaudited) (in thousands)

	Three mo Mar	 
	 2016	2017
Net loss	\$ (18,548)	\$ (25,373)
Other comprehensive income (loss):		
Unrealized (loss) gain on available for sale securities	158	(35)
Foreign currency translation adjustments	588	129
Comprehensive loss	\$ (17,802)	\$ (25,279)

# **Egalet Corporation and Subsidiaries**

# Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow s (Unaudited) (in thousands)

	Three Months End	ed March 31, 2017
Operating activities:		
Net loss	\$ (18,548) \$	(25,373)
Adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization	822	1,429
Change in fair value of derivative liability	(610)	(12)
Stock-based compensation expense	1,315	1,793
Noncash interest and amortization of debt discount	2,163	1,471
Amortization of premium on marketable securities	302	25
Deferred income taxes	(185)	_
Changes in assets and liabilities:		
Related party receivable	58	_
Accounts receivable	(534)	(4,302)
Inventory	(300)	189
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	(320)	962
Other receivables	(1,119)	(37)
Deposits and other assets	429	(76)
Accounts payable	(695)	4,293
Accrued expenses	130	(3,123)
Deferred revenue	(1,757)	2,200
Other current liabilities	56	1
Other liabilities	<del>_</del>	(46)
Net cash used in operating activities	(18,793)	(20,606)
Investing activities:		
Payments for purchase of property and equipment	(3,610)	(64)
Purchases of investments	(26,713)	(55,945)
Sales of investments	2,400	
Maturity of investments	33,761	20,000
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities	5,838	(36,009)
Financing activities:		
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock	_	1,007
Net proceeds from debt and royalty rights	_	38,304
Royalty payments in connection with the senior secured 13% notes	<u> </u>	(146)
Net cash provided by financing activities		39,165
Effect of foreign currency translation on cash and cash equivalents	457	82
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(12,498)	(17,368)
Cash at beginning of period	46,665	44,355
	\$ 34,167	26,987
Cash at end of period	\$ 34,107 \$	20,967
Symplemental disabetures of each flow information.		
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:	Ф 2.042 Ф	2 704
Cash interest payments	\$ 2,042 \$	3,784

#### **Egalet Corporation and Subsidiaries**

#### **Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements**

#### 1. Organization and Description of the Business

#### **Organization and Business Overview**

Egalet Corporation (the "Company") is a fully integrated specialty pharmaceutical company developing, manufacturing and commercializing innovative treatments for pain and other conditions. Given the need for acute and chronic pain products and the issue of prescription abuse, the Company is focused on bringing non-narcotic and abuse-deterrent formulations to patients and physicians. The Company is currently marketing SPRIX \*(ketorolac tromethamine) Nasal Spray ("SPRIX Nasal Spray"), OXAYDO \*(oxycodone HCI, USP) tablets for oral use only—CII ("OXAYDO"), and ARYMO<sup>TM</sup> ER (morphine sulfate) extended-release ("ER") tablets ("ARYMO ER").

SPRIX Nasal Spray is a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug indicated in adult patients for the short-term (up to five days) management of moderate to moderately severe pain that requires analgesia at the opioid level. OXAYDO is an immediate release ("IR") oxycodone product designed to discourage abuse via snorting, indicated for the management of acute and chronic moderate to severe pain where an opioid is appropriate.

On January 9, 2017, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") approved ARYMO ER, the Company's first product developed using its proprietary Guardian<sup>TM</sup> Technology. ARYMO ER is an ER morphine product formulated with abuse-deterrent ("AD") properties and is approved for the management of pain severe enough to require daily, around-the-clock, long-term opioid treatment and for which alternative treatment options are inadequate. On March 30, 2017, the Company began personal promotion of ARYMO ER to its target healthcare providers. The Company also has a pipeline of products in development using Guardian Technology. The Company plans to continue to grow through the revenues of its three commercial products, business development and leveraging its proprietary Guardian Technology.

# Liquidity

The Company has incurred recurring operating losses since inception. As of March 31, 2017, the Company had an accumulated deficit of \$251.3 million and will require substantial additional capital to fund its commercialization strategies for ARYMO ER, SPRIX Nasal Spray and OXAYDO and its research and development of its proprietary product candidates. The Company reasonably expects that its cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities at March 31, 2017, will enable it to fund its operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements at least through June 30, 2018. The Company anticipates operating losses to continue for the foreseeable future due to, among other things, costs related to the development of its commercial and administrative organization and the research and development of its preclinical and clinical product candidates. As the Company continues to incur losses, a transition to profitability is dependent upon the successful commercialization of its approved products, the successful development, approval and commercialization of its product candidates and the achievement of a level of revenue adequate to support the Company's cost structure. The Company may never achieve profitability, and unless and until it does, the Company will continue to need to raise additional capital. Management intends to fund future operations through the sale of equity, debt financings or other sources, including potential additional collaborations, until profitability is achieved, if ever. There can be no assurances, however, that additional funding will be available on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all.

#### 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Accounting

#### **Basis of Presentation**

The unaudited consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with United States ("U.S.") generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial information. Certain information and footnotes normally included in consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") for quarterly reports on Form 10-Q. The Company's consolidation policy requires the consolidation of entities where a controlling financial interest is held. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The accompanying consolidated financial information at March 31, 2017 and for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017 is unaudited. The interim unaudited financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the annual audited financial statements and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of the Company's consolidated financial position as of March 31, 2017 and the consolidated results of its operations, comprehensive loss and cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017. The financial data and other information disclosed in these notes related to the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2017, any other interim periods or any future year or period. These unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2016 filed on March 13, 2017 with the SEC

The Company's significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. Since the date of those financial statements, there have been no changes to the Company's significant accounting policies.

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In March 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-09, *Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting*, which provides for simplification of certain aspects of employee share-based payment accounting including income taxes, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities, accounting for forfeitures and classification on the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-09 became effective for the Company in the first quarter of 2017 and was applied using a modified retrospective transition approach. Under ASU 2016-09 the Company has elected to no longer estimate forfeiture rates as part of its stock-based compensation expense and will true up forfeitures as they occur. As a result of the adoption of ASU 2016-09, the Company recorded a cumulative adjustment of \$763,000 to accumulated deficit as of January 1, 2017.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, *Leases* (Topic 842). The new standard establishes a right-of-use ("ROU") model that requires a lessee to record a ROU asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. ASU 2016-02 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those annual periods, with early adoption permitted. A modified retrospective transition approach is required for lessees for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements, with certain practical expedients available. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the standard will have on the financial statements, and has not yet determined what effect, if any, the impact of adoption will be.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, *Financial Instruments - Overall (Subtopic 825-10), Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities*, which addresses certain aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of financial instruments. ASU 2016-01 will be effective for annual periods and interim periods within those annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and early adoption is

not permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the standard will have on the financial statements, and has not yet determined what effect, if any, the impact of adoption will be.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, *Income Taxes: Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes*. ASU 2015-17 simplifies the balance sheet classification of deferred taxes and requires that all deferred taxes be presented as noncurrent. ASU 2015-17 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016 with early adoption permitted. The adoption of the update did not have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, *Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern*. ASU 2014-15 requires management of all entities to evaluate whether there are conditions and events that raise substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the financial statements are issued, and to make certain disclosures if it concludes that substantial doubt exists or when its plans alleviate substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. ASU 2014-15 is effective for the Company for annual reporting periods beginning in 2016 and for interim reporting periods starting in the first quarter of 2017. The adoption of this update did not have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued new guidance related to revenue recognition, ASU 2014-09, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers* ("ASC 606"), which outlines a comprehensive revenue recognition model and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance. The new guidance requires a company to recognize revenue upon transfer of goods or services to a customer at an amount that reflects the expected consideration to be received in exchange for those goods or services. ASC 606 defines a five-step approach for recognizing revenue, which may require a company to use more judgment and make more estimates than under the current guidance. The new guidance becomes effective in calendar year 2018 and early adoption in calendar year 2017 is permitted. Two methods of adoption are permitted: (a) full retrospective adoption, meaning the standard is applied to all periods presented; or (b) modified retrospective adoption, meaning the cumulative effect of applying the new guidance is recognized at the date of initial application as an adjustment to the opening retained earnings balance.

In March 2016, April 2016 and December 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, Revenue From Contracts with Customers (ASC 606): Principal Versus Agent Considerations, ASU No. 2016-10, Revenue From Contracts with Customers (ASC 606): Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing, and ASU No. 2016-20, Technical Corrections and Improvements to Topic 606, Revenue From Contracts with Customers, respectively, which further clarify the implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations contained in ASU No. 2014-09. In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-12 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, narrow-scope improvements and practical expedients which provides clarification on assessing the collectability criterion, presentation of sales taxes, measurement date for non-cash consideration and completed contracts at transition. These standards will be effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2018. Early adoption is permitted.

As of March 31, 2017, the Company has not elected early adoption and has not concluded on an adoption method. The Company has formed a task force that is in the process of analyzing the Company's customer contracts and the potential impacts the standard may have on previously reported revenues and future revenues. The Company expects to recognize the majority of its revenue under such contracts earlier under ASC 606 than it would have recognized under current guidance. However, the Company is still evaluating the materiality of the impact on the consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

#### 3. Investments

# **Marketable Securities**

Marketable securities consisted of the following at December 31, 2016:

(in thousands)	Cost Basis	<b>Unrealized Gains</b>	Unrealized Losses	Fair Value
Corporate notes and bonds	\$ 42,481	\$ 4	\$ (14)	\$ 42,471
Total	\$ 42,481	\$ 4	\$ (14)	\$ 42,471

Marketable securities consisted of the following as of March 31, 2017:

(in thousands)	Cost Basis	Unrealized	Gains	Unrea	lized Losses	Fair Value
Corporate notes and bonds	\$ 78,402	\$	1	\$	(46)	\$ 78,357
Total	\$ 78,402	\$	1	\$	(46)	\$ 78,357

The fair value of marketable securities as of March 31, 2017 with a maturity of less than one year is \$56.2 million. The fair value of marketable securities with a maturity of greater than one year is \$22.2 million.

At March 31, 2017, the Company held 18 marketable securities that were in a continuous loss position for less than one year. The unrealized losses are immaterial in amount and are the result of current economic and market conditions and the Company has determined that no other than temporary impairment exists at March 31, 2017.

# 4. Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market using actual cost net of reserve for excess and obsolete inventory. The following represents the components of inventory at December 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017:

(in thousands)	mber 31, 2016	rch 31, 2017
Raw materials	\$ 779	\$ 886
Finished goods	820	484
Deferred cost of sales	101	141
Total	\$ 1,700	\$ 1,511

The deferred costs of sales will be recognized upon release of the product to patients.

# 5. Intangible Assets

The following represents the balance of the intangible assets at December 31, 2016:

(in thousands)	Gross Intangible Accumulated Assets Amortization				Remaining Useful Life (in years)	
OXAYDO product rights	\$	7,520	\$ (2,124)	\$	5,396	5.00
SPRIX Nasal Spray product rights		4,620	(1,827)		2,793	3.00
IP R&D		161	_		161	Indefinite
Total	\$	12,301	\$ (3,951)	\$	8,350	

The following represents the balance of the intangible assets at March 31, 2017:

(in thousands)	In			cumulated ortization	In	Net itangible Assets	Remaining Useful Life (in years)
OXAYDO product rights	\$	7,537	\$	(2,398)	\$	5,139	4.75
SPRIX Nasal Spray product rights		4,655		(2,075)		2,580	2.75
IP R&D		163		_		163	Indefinite
Total	\$	12,355	\$	(4,473)	\$	7,882	

There was no impairment to intangible assets in the three months ended March 31, 2016 or 2017.

Collaboration and License Agreement with Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Acura")

In January 2015, the Company entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement with Acura to commercialize OXAYDO<sup>TM</sup> (oxycodone hydrochloride) tablets containing Acura's Aversion® Technology (the "OXAYDO License Agreement"). The Company paid Acura an upfront payment of \$5.0 million in January 2015 and a \$2.5 million milestone payment in October 2015 as a result of the first commercial sale of OXAYDO. The Company also incurred transaction costs of \$172,000 associated with the OXAYDO License Agreement. Refer to Note 12 — Acquisitions and License and Collaboration Agreements for additional details.

During the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017, the Company recognized amortization expense of \$274,000, and \$269,000, respectively, related to the OXAYDO product rights intangible asset.

Purchase Agreement with Luitpold Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Luitpold")

In January 2015, the Company entered into and consummated the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement with Luitpold to purchase SPRIX Nasal Spray (the "SPRIX Purchase Agreement"). Pursuant to the SPRIX Purchase Agreement, the Company acquired specified assets and liabilities associated with SPRIX (ketorolac tromethamine) Nasal Spray for a purchase price of \$7.0 million. The Company recorded an intangible asset of \$4.6 million related to this transaction. Refer to Note 12 — Acquisitions and License and Collaboration Agreements for additional details.

During the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017, the Company recognized amortization expense of \$231,000 and \$234,000, respectively, related to the SPRIX Nasal Spray product rights intangible asset.

In-Process Research and Development ("IP R&D")

In connection with the acquisition of Egalet A/S, the Company recognized an IP R&D asset related to the drug delivery platform specifically designed to help deter physical abuse of pain medications, the Guardian Technology. The IP R&D is considered an indefinite-lived intangible asset and is assessed for impairment annually or more frequently if impairment indicators exist. As of December 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017, the carrying value of IP R&D was \$161,000, and \$163,000, respectively. The change in value was entirely due to fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates.

#### 6. Long-Term Debt

Hercules Loan and Security Agreement

In January 2015, the Company entered into the Loan and Security Agreement, which was subsequently amended in December 2015 (as amended, the "Loan Agreement"), with Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc. ("Hercules") and certain other lenders, pursuant to which the Company borrowed \$15.0 million under a term loan. The term loan bore an interest rate per annum equal to the greater of either (i) 9.40% plus the prime rate as reported in The Wall Street Journal minus 3.25% or (ii) 9.40%. Under the Loan Agreement, the Company made interest only payments through July 1, 2016, and then was scheduled to repay the principal balance of the loan in 30 equal monthly payments of principal and interest through the scheduled maturity date of July 1, 2018. In connection with the Loan Agreement, the Company granted a security interest in substantially all of its assets, excluding intellectual property and certain new drug applications and related approvals, as collateral for the obligations under the Loan Agreement.

On August 31, 2016, the Company repaid all outstanding obligations under the Loan Agreement with the proceeds of the 13% Notes (as defined below).

5.50% Convertible Senior Notes Due 2020 (the "5.50% Notes")

In April and May 2015, the Company issued through a private placement \$61.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the 5.50% Notes. Interest on the 5.50% Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing October 1, 2015.

The 5.50% Notes are general, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations and rank senior in right of payment to all of the Company's indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the notes. The 5.50% Notes rank equal in right of payment to the Company's existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities that are not so subordinated. The 5.50% Notes are effectively subordinated to any of the Company's future secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness, and rank structurally junior to all indebtedness and other liabilities incurred by the Company's subsidiaries, including trade payables. The 5.50% Notes rank equal in right of the payment to the 13% Notes described below.

The Company may not redeem the 5.50% Notes prior to maturity. The 5.50% Notes are convertible prior to maturity, subject to certain conditions described below, into shares of the Company's common stock at an initial conversion rate of 67.2518 shares per \$1,000 principal amount of the 5.50% Notes (equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately \$14.87 per share of common stock). This conversion rate is subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain specified events but will not be adjusted for accrued and unpaid interest. The Company will satisfy the conversion obligation by paying or delivering, as the case may be, cash, shares of the Company's common stock or a combination thereof, at the Company's election.

Holders may convert all or any portion of their 5.50% Notes, in multiples of \$1,000 principal amount, at their option at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding January 1, 2020 only under the following circumstances:

- on or after the date that is six months after the last date of original issuance of the 5.50% Notes, if the last reported sale price of the Company's common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending within the five trading days immediately preceding a conversion date is greater than or equal to the conversion price for the 5.50% Notes on each applicable trading day;
- during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period, (the "measurement period"), in
  which the trading price per \$1,000 principal amount of 5.50% Notes for each trading day of the measurement period
  was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the Company's common stock and the conversion
  rate on each such trading day; or

• upon the occurrence of specified corporate events.

On or after January 1, 2020 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date (April 1, 2020), holders may convert all or any portion of their 5.50% Notes, in multiples of \$1,000 principal amount, at the option of the holder regardless of the foregoing circumstances.

Upon conversion, the Company will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of the Company's common stock or a combination of cash and shares of the Company's common stock, at the Company's election, and an interest make-whole payment in shares of the common stock, if applicable. If the Company satisfies the conversion obligation solely in cash or through payment and delivery, as the case may be, of a combination of cash and shares of the Company's common stock, the amount of cash and shares of common stock, if any, due upon conversion will be based on a daily conversion value calculated on a proportionate basis for each trading day in a 50 trading day observation period.

In addition, following certain corporate events that occur prior to the maturity date, the Company will increase the conversion rate for a holder who elects to convert its 5.50% Notes in connection with such a corporate event in certain circumstances. Holders will not receive any additional cash payment or additional shares representing accrued and unpaid interest, if any, upon conversion of a note, except in limited circumstances. Instead, interest will be deemed to be paid in full, rather than cancelled, extinguished or forfeited from the consideration paid to the holders upon conversion of a 5.50% Note.

On or after the date that is six months after the last date of original issuance of the 5.50% Notes, if the last reported sale price of the Company's common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending within the five trading days immediately preceding a conversion date is greater than or equal to the conversion price for the 5.50% Notes on each applicable trading day, the Company will, in addition to the other consideration payable or deliverable in connection with such conversion, make an interest make-whole payment to the converting holder equal to the sum of the present value of the remaining scheduled payments of interest that would have been made on the 5.50% Notes to be converted had such notes remained outstanding from the conversion date through April 1, 2018, computed using a discount rate equal to 2%. The Company will pay any interest make-whole payment by delivering shares of the Company's common stock valued at 95% of the simple average of the daily volume weighted average price for the 10 trading days ending on and including the trading day immediately preceding the conversion date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the number of shares the Company may deliver in connection with a conversion of the 5.50% Notes, including those delivered in connection with an interest makewhole payment, will not exceed 77.3395 shares of common stock per \$1,000 principal amount of 5.50% Notes, subject to adjustment. The Company will not be required to make any cash payments in lieu of any fractional shares or have any further obligation to deliver any shares of common stock or pay any cash in excess of the threshold described above. In addition, if in connection with any conversion the conversion rate is adjusted, then such holder will not receive the interest make-whole payment with respect to such 5.50% Note.

The Company accounts for convertible debt instruments by recording the liability and equity components of the convertible debt separately. The liability is computed based on the fair value of a similar debt instrument that does not include the conversion option. The liability component includes both the value of the embedded interest make-whole derivative and the carrying value of the 5.50% Notes. The equity component is computed based on the total debt proceeds less the fair value of the liability component. The equity component is also recorded as debt discount and amortized as interest expense over the expected term of the 5.50% Notes, using the effective interest method.

The liability component of the 5.50% Notes on the date of issuance was computed as \$41.6 million, including the value of the embedded interest make-whole derivative of \$0.9 million and the carrying value of the 5.50% Notes of \$40.6 million. Accordingly, the equity component on the date of issuance was \$19.4 million. The discount on the 5.50% Notes is being amortized to interest expense over the term of the 5.50% Notes, using the effective interest method.

The conversion criteria for the 5.50% Notes have not been met at March 31, 2017. Should the 5.50% Notes become convertible, management will determine whether the intent is to settle in cash which would result in the liability

component of the 5.50% notes being classified as a current liability and the equity component being presented as redeemable equity if the liability is considered current.

Transaction costs of \$4.1 million related to the issuance of the 5.50% Notes are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to the allocation of the proceeds and accounted for as debt discount and equity issuance costs, respectively. Approximately \$1.3 million of this amount was allocated to equity and the remaining \$2.8 million was recorded as debt discount.

The following table summarizes how the issuance of the 5.50% Notes is reflected in the Company's balance sheet at December 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017:

	December 31, 2016		6 March 31, 2017	
(in thousands)				
Gross proceeds	\$	61,000	\$	61,000
Unamortized debt discount		(15,091)		(13,930)
Carrying value	\$	45,909	\$	47,070

On September 28, 2016, in connection with the issuance of the 13% Notes, the Company and its subsidiaries entered into Supplemental Indentures with the trustee for the 5.50% Notes pursuant to which the Company's subsidiaries became guarantors under the indenture guaranteeing the 5.50% Notes.

13% Senior Secured Notes (the "13% Notes")

In August 2016, the Company completed the initial closing (the "Initial Closing") of its offering (the "Offering") of up to \$80.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 13% senior secured notes (the "13% Notes") and entered into an indenture (the "Indenture") governing the 13% Notes with the guarantors party thereto (the "Guarantors") and U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking association, as trustee (the "Trustee") and collateral agent (the "Collateral Agent").

The Company issued \$40.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 13% Notes at the Initial Closing, and issued an additional \$40.0 million aggregate principal amount upon the FDA's approval of ARYMO<sup>TM</sup> ER in January 2017 (the "Second Closing"). Net proceeds from the Initial Closing and Second Closing were \$37.2 million and \$38.3 million, respectively, after deducting the estimated Offering expenses payable by the Company in connection with the Initial Closing and Second Closing. The 13% Notes were sold only to qualified institutional buyers within the meaning of Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

The Company has used and will use the net proceeds from the 13% Notes and the Royalty Rights (as defined below) to repay all outstanding obligations to Hercules under the Loan Agreement with Hercules, to support the commercialization of ARYMO ER, to support the development of Egalet-002 and for general corporate purposes.

Prior to the Second Closing, interest on the 13% Notes accrued at a rate of 13% per annum and was payable semi-annually in arrears on March 20 and September 20 of each year (each, a "Payment Date") commencing on March 20, 2017. On each Payment Date commencing on March 20, 2018, the Company was required to also pay an installment of principal of the 13% Notes pursuant to a straight-line fixed amortization schedule. Following Second Closing in January 2017, in lieu of the straight-line fixed amortization schedule, on each Payment Date commencing on March 20, 2018, the Company will pay an installment of principal on the 13% Notes in an amount equal to 15% (or 17% if certain sales targets are not met) of the aggregate net sales of OXAYDO, SPRIX Nasal Spray, ARYMO ER and Egalet-002, if approved, for the two consecutive fiscal quarterly period most recently ended, less the amount of interest payable on the 13% Notes on such Payment Date.

The 13% Notes are senior secured obligations of the Company and will be equal in right of payment to all existing and future pari passu indebtedness of the Company (including the Company's outstanding 5.50% Notes due 2020), will be senior in right of payment to all existing and future subordinated indebtedness of the Company, will have the benefit of a security interest in the 13% Notes collateral and will be junior in lien priority in respect of any collateral

that secures any first priority lien obligations incurred, which includes intellectual property ("IP"), from time to time in accordance with the Indenture. Following the Second Closing, the stated maturity date of the 13% Notes became September 30, 2033. Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, subject to certain conditions, or certain Asset Sales events (each, as defined in the Indenture), holders of the 13% Notes may require the Company to repurchase for cash all or part of their 13% Notes at a repurchase price equal to 101.00% of the principal amount of the Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of repurchase.

The Company may redeem the 13% Notes at its option, in whole or in part from time to time, prior to August 31, 2018, at a redemption price equal to 100.00% of the principal amount of the Notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, through the redemption date, plus a make-whole premium computed using a discount rate equal to the treasury rate in respect of such redemption date plus 100 basis points. The Company may redeem the 13% Notes at its option, in whole or in part from time to time, on or after August 31, 2018 at a redemption price equal to: (i) from and including August 31, 2018 to and including August 30, 2019, 109.00% of the principal amount of the 13% Notes to be redeemed, (ii) from and including August 31, 2019 to and including August 30, 2020, 104.50% of the principal amount of the 13% Notes to be redeemed, and (iii) from and including August 31, 2020 and thereafter, 100.00% of the principal amount of the 13% Notes to be redeemed, in each case, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date. In addition, prior to August 31, 2018, the Company may redeem, at its option, up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the 13% Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption in accordance with the Indenture; provided that at least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of 13% Notes issued under the Indenture remains outstanding immediately after each such redemption and provided further that each such redemption occurs within 90 days of the date of closing of each such equity offering. No sinking fund is provided for the 13% Notes, which means that the Company is not required to periodically redeem or retire the 13% Notes.

The obligations of the Company under the Indenture and the 13% Notes are unconditionally guaranteed on a secured basis by the Guarantors. Under the terms of the Indenture, the Company may designate entities within its corporate structure as unrestricted subsidiaries, which entities will therefore not be guarantors provided that certain conditions set forth in the Indenture are met

Pursuant to the Indenture, the Company and its restricted subsidiaries must also comply with certain affirmative covenants, such as furnishing financial statements to the holders of the 13% Notes, and negative covenants, including limitations on the following: the incurrence of debt; the issuance of preferred and/or disqualified stock; the payment of dividends, the repurchase of shares and under certain conditions making certain other restricted payments; the prepayment, redemption or repurchase of subordinated debt; the merger, amalgamation or consolidation involving the Company; engaging in certain transactions with affiliates; and the making of investments other than those permitted by the Indenture.

The Indenture governing the 13% Notes contains customary events of default with respect to the 13% Notes (including the Company's failure to make any payment of principal or interest on the 13% Notes when due and payable), and upon certain events of default occurring and continuing, the Trustee by notice to the Company, or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the outstanding 13% Notes by notice to the Company and the Trustee, may (subject to the provisions of the Indenture) declare 100% of the principal of and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on all of the 13% Notes to be due and payable. Upon such a declaration of acceleration, such principal and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as well as the then-applicable optional redemption premium under the Indenture, will be due and payable immediately. In the case of certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization involving the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary (as defined in the Indenture), the 13% Notes will automatically become due and payable.

In connection with the Intial Offering in August 2016, the Company entered into royalty rights agreements with each of the 13% Notes Purchasers pursuant to which the Company sold to such Purchasers the right to receive, in the aggregate, a payment equal to 1.5% of the aggregate net sales of OXAYDO and SPRIX Nasal Spray from the Initial Closing through December 31, 2019, inclusive (the "Royalty Rights"). Following the approval of ARYMO ER in January 2017, the Royalty Rights will continue through December 31, 2020 and the Company also entered into separate royalty rights agreements with each of the Purchasers pursuant to which the Company sold to such Purchasers the right

to receive 1.5% of the aggregate net sales of ARYMO ER payable from the date of first sale of ARYMO ER through December 31, 2020, inclusive. The royalty rights agreements also include other terms and conditions customary in agreements of this type.

The Royalty Rights were determined to be a freestanding element with respect to the 13% Notes and the Company is accounting for the Royalty Rights obligation relating to future royalties as a debt instrument. The Company has Royalty Rights obligations of \$4.9 million as of March 31, 2017, which are classified within current and non-current debt in the consolidated balance sheet.

The Company incurred fees and legal expenses of \$4.5 million in connection with the issuance of the 13% Notes, which have been recorded as a discount on the debt in the consolidated balance sheets and are amortized using the effective interest method. The Company calculated an effective interest rate of 15.9% as of March 31, 2017 based on its best estimate of future cash outflows.

The accounting for the 13% Notes requires the Company to make certain estimates and assumptions about the future net sales of OXAYDO, SPRIX Nasal Spray and ARYMO ER in the U.S. The estimates of the magnitude and timing of OXAYDO, SPRIX Nasal Spray and ARYMO ER net sales are subject to significant variability due to the recent product launch and the extended time period associated with the financing transaction, and are thus subject to significant uncertainty. Therefore, these estimates and assumptions are likely to change as the Company gains experience marketing OXAYDO, SPRIX Nasal Spray and ARYMO ER, which may result in future adjustments to the portion of the debt that is classified as a current liability, the amortization of debt issuance costs and discount as well as the accretion of the interest expense. Any such adjustments could be material. The fair value of the Royalty Rights associated with certain net product sales was estimated to be \$4.9 million using a probability-weighted present value analysis.

The following table summarizes how the issuance of the 13% Notes is reflected in the Company's consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017:

	<u>I</u>	December 31, 2016	March 31, 2017
(in thousands)			
Gross proceeds	\$	40,000	\$ 80,000
Unamortized debt discount		(5,187)	(8,236)
Carrying value	\$	34,813	\$ 71,764

Current and non-current debt on the Company's consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017 includes the carrying value of the 5.50% Notes and the 13% Notes, as well as \$3.3 million and \$5.0 million, respectively, for the Royalty Rights issued in connection with the 13% Notes.

#### 7. Stockholders' Equity

On July 2, 2015, the Company entered into a Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement ("2015 Sales Agreement") with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. ("Cantor"), under which the Company could, at its discretion, from time to time, sell shares of its common stock, for an aggregate offering price of up to \$30.0 million. The Company provided Cantor with customary indemnification rights, and Cantor was entitled to a commission at a fixed rate of 3% of the gross proceeds per share sold. Sales of the shares under the 2015 Sales Agreement have been and, if there are additional sales under the 2015 Sales Agreement, will be made in transactions deemed to be "at the market offerings", as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

The Company initiated sales of shares under the 2015 Sales Agreement in March 2017 and sold an aggregate of 187,972 shares of common stock through March 31, 2017, resulting in net proceeds of \$876,000 after deducting commissions of \$27,000. As of May 4, 2017, an additional 217,699 shares were sold under the 2015 Sales Agreement subsequent to March 31, 2017 resulting in net proceeds of \$1.0 million after deducting commissions of \$32,000 which will be recognized during the second quarter of 2017.

#### 8. Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures . ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (the exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The guidance in ASC 820 outlines a valuation framework and creates a fair value hierarchy in order to increase the consistency and comparability of fair value measurements and the related disclosures. In determining fair value, the Company maximizes the use of quoted prices and observable inputs. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market data obtained from independent sources. The fair value hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the source of inputs as follows:

- Level 1—Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
- Level 2—Valuations based on observable inputs and quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities
- Level 3—Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and models that are significant to the overall fair value measurement.

The following fair value hierarchy table presents information about each major category of the Company's financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

(in thousands)	Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2016			
				Total
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	2016
Assets				
Cash equivalents (money market funds)	\$ 27,635	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 27,635
Marketable securities, available-for-sale	_	42,471	_	42,471
Total assets	\$ 27,635	\$ 42,471	\$ <u> </u>	\$ 70,106
Liabilities				
Interest make-whole derivative	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 12	\$ 12
Total liabilities	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 12	\$ 12

(in thousands)	Fair Value Measurements as of March 31, 2017			
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total 2017
Assets				
Cash equivalents (money market funds)	\$ 11,854	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 11,854
Marketable securities, available-for-sale	_	78,357	_	78,357
Total assets	\$ 11,854	\$ 78,357	\$ —	\$ 90,211
Liabilities				
Interest make-whole derivative	\$ —	\$ —	s —	\$ —
Total liabilities	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —

The 5.50% Notes include an interest make-whole feature whereby if a noteholder converts any of the 5.50% Notes prior to April 1, 2018, the Company will, in addition to the other consideration payable or deliverable in connection with such conversion, make an interest make-whole payment to the converting holder equal to the sum of the present value of the remaining scheduled payments of interest that would have been made on the 5.50% Notes to be converted had such notes remained outstanding from the conversion date through April 1, 2018, computed using a discount rate equal to 2%. The Company has determined that this feature is an embedded derivative and have recognized the fair value of this derivative as a liability in the Company's consolidated balance sheet, with subsequent changes to fair value recorded through earnings at each reporting period on the Company's consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss as change in fair value of derivative liabilities. The fair value of this embedded derivative was determined based on a binomial tree lattice model.

The following tables set forth a summary of changes in the fair value of Level 3 liabilities for the March 31, 2017:

(in thousands)			Fair Value	
	December 31,		Change in	March 31, 2017
	2016	Additions	2017	
Interest make-whole derivative	12	\$ —	\$ (12)	\$
Total liabilities	\$ 12	\$ —	\$ (12)	\$

As of March 31, 2017, the fair value of the 5.50% Notes was estimated utilizing the binomial lattice tree model. This fair value measurement is based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus represents a Level 3 measurement within the fair value hierarchy. The fair value measurement was based on several factors including:

- Credit spread at the valuation date
- Discount yield as of the valuation date

The fair value and carrying value of the Company's 5.50% Notes at March 31, 2017 was as follows:

(in thousands)	Fair Value	Carry	ing Value	Face Value
5.50% Notes due April 1, 2020	\$ 48,288	\$	47,070	\$ 61,000

The fair value of the Company's 13% Notes approximates its carrying value of \$71.8 million as the interest rate is reflective of the interest rates on debt the Company could currently obtain with similar terms and conditions and thus represents a Level 2 measurement within the fair value hierarchy.

#### 9. Net Loss Per Common Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share for the periods indicated:

(in thousands, except share and per share data)	Three Months Ended March 31,			d March 31,
		2016		2017
Basic and diluted net loss per common share calculation:				_
Net loss	\$	(18,548)	\$	(25,373)
Weighted average common stock outstanding	2	24,406,247		24,766,147
Net loss per share of common stock—basic and diluted	\$	(0.76)	\$	(1.02)

The following outstanding securities for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017 have been excluded from the computation of diluted weighted shares outstanding, as they would have been anti-dilutive:

	Three months end	ded March 31,
	2016	2017
Stock options outstanding	1,904,533	3,482,479
Unvested restricted stock awards	629,018	373,138
Common shares issuable upon conversion of the 5.50% Notes	4,102,360	4,102,360
Total	6,635,911	7,957,977

#### 10. Stock-based Compensation

# 2013 Stock-Based Incentive Compensation Plan

In November 2013, the Company adopted its 2013 Stock-Based Incentive Compensation Plan (as subsequently amended from time to time, the "2013 Plan"). Pursuant to the 2013 Plan, the compensation committee of the Company's board of directors is authorized to grant equity-based incentive awards to its directors, executive officers and other employees and service providers, including officers, employees and service providers of its subsidiaries and affiliates. The number of shares of the Company's common stock initially reserved for issuance under the 2013 Plan was 1,680,000 in the form of common stock, deferred stock, restricted stock units, stock options and stock appreciation rights. Share increases of 2,000,000 and 2,600,000 to the number of shares originally reserved for issuance under the 2013 Plan were authorized by the Company's stockholders in June 2014 and June 2016, respectively. The amount, terms of grants and exercisability provisions are determined by the compensation committee, and in certain circumstances pursuant to delegated authority, the Company's chief executive officer and chief financial officer, acting jointly. The term of the options may be up to 10 years, and options are exercisable in cash or as otherwise determined by the compensation committee. All stock options vest over time as stipulated in the individual award agreements. In September 2015, the compensation committee voted to amend the 2013 Plan to, among other things, allow for monthly vesting of stock options granted thereunder after the first annual vesting.

#### 2017 Inducement Plan

In December 2016, the Company adopted its 2017 Inducement Plan (the "Inducement Plan"), which became effective in January 2017. Pursuant to the Plan, the Company's compensation committee is authorized to grant equity-based incentive awards to its employees, including employees of its subsidiaries, who were not previously employees or non-employee directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (or who have had a bona fide period of non-employment with the Company and its subsidiaries) in compliance with Rule 5635(c)(4) of the Nasdaq Global Market. The number of shares of the Company's common stock initially reserved for issuance under the Plan was 300,000, in the form of common stock, deferred stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock options and stock appreciation rights. The amount, terms of grants and exercisability provisions are determined by the compensation committee of the Company's board of directors. The term of stock options issued under the Inducement Plan may be up to 10 years, and stock options are exercisable in cash or as otherwise determined by the compensation committee of the Company's board of directors. All stock options vest over time as stipulated in the individual award agreements.

#### **Employee Stock Purchase Plan**

In January 2016, the Company established an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "Purchase Plan"), which was approved by the Company's stockholders in June 2016. A total of 750,000 shares of common stock were originally approved for future issuance under the Purchase Plan pursuant to purchase rights granted to the Company's employees. Under the Company's Purchase Plan, eligible employees can purchase the Company's common stock through accumulated payroll deductions at such times as established by the administrator. The Purchase Plan is administered by the compensation committee. Under the Purchase Plan, eligible employees may purchase the Company's common stock at 85% of the lower of the fair market value of a share of the Company's common stock on the first day of an offering period or on the last day of the offering period. Eligible employees may contribute up to 10% of their eligible compensation. A participant may purchase a maximum of 1,500 shares of common stock per offering period. Under the Purchase Plan, a participant may not accrue rights to purchase more than \$25,000 worth of the Company's common stock for each calendar year in which such right is outstanding.

At the end of each offering period, shares of the Company's common stock may be purchased at 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the first or last day of the respective offering period. In accordance with the guidance in ASC 718-50 – *Compensation – Stock Compensation*, the ability to purchase shares of the Company's common stock at the lower of the price on the first day of the offering period or the last day of the offering period (i.e. the purchase date) represents an option and, therefore, the Purchase Plan is a compensatory plan under this guidance. Accordingly, stock-based compensation expense is determined based on the option's grant-date fair value and is recognized over the requisite service period of the option. The Company has estimated the option's fair value to be \$1.15 using the Black-Scholes valuation model and recognized stock-based compensation expense of \$35,000 during the three months ended March 31, 2017, related to the Purchase Plan.

# **Shares Available for Future Grant Under Equity Compensation Plans**

As of March 31, 2017, the Company has reserved the following shares to be granted under its equity compensation plans:

Shares initially reserved under the 2013 Plan	1,680,000
Shares reserved under the Inducement Plan	300,000
Shares reserved under the Purchase Plan	750,000
Authorized increase to the 2013 Plan	4,600,000
Common stock options granted under the 2013 Plan	(3,690,364)
Common stock options granted under the Inducement Plan	(160,000)
Restricted stock awards granted under the 2013 Plan	(1,543,660)
Common stock issued under the Purchase Plan	(52,833)
Stock options and awards forfeited	360,737
Remaining shares available for future grant	2,243,880

The estimated grant-date fair value of the Company's share-based awards is amortized ratably over the awards' service periods. Stock-based compensation expense recognized was as follows:

	Three months en	ded March 31,
(in thousands)	2016	2017
General and administrative	1,130	1,356
Sales and marketing	80	159
Research and development	105	278
Total stock based compensation expense	1,315	1,793

#### **Stock Options Granted Under Equity Compensation Plans**

	Stock Options Outstanding				
	Number of Shares	Weighted-Average Exercise Price	Weighted-average Remaining Contractual Term (in years)		
Outstanding at December 31, 2016	2,952,572	\$ 8.63			
Granted	545,507	6.85			
Exercised	_	_			
Forfeited	(15,600)	5.92			
Cancelled	_	_			
Outstanding at March 31, 2017	3,482,479	\$ 8.37	8.84		
Vested or expected to vest at March 31, 2017	3,482,479	\$ 8.37	8.84		
Exercisable at March 31, 2017	749,271	\$ 9.09	8.07		

The intrinsic value of the 3,482,479 options outstanding as of March 31, 2017 was \$50,000, based on a per share price of \$5.10, the Company's closing stock price on that date, and a weighted-average exercise price of \$8.37 per share.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes valuation model in determining the fair value of equity awards. For stock options granted to employees and directors with only service-based vesting conditions, the Company measures stock-based compensation cost at the grant date based on the estimated fair value of the award, and recognize it as expense over the requisite service period on a straight-line basis. The Company records the expense of services rendered by non-employees based on the estimated fair value of the stock option as of the respective vesting date. Further, the Company expenses the fair value of non-employee stock options that contain only service-based vesting conditions over the requisite service period of the underlying stock options. Following the adoption of ASU 2016-09 the Company no longer estimates forfeitures in calculating its stock-based compensation expense and adjusts each period to reflect actual forfeitures.

The per-share weighted-average grant date fair value of the options granted to employees during the three months ended March 31, 2017 was estimated at \$4.85 per share on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

	2017
Risk-free interest rate	2.07 %
Expected term of options (in years)	6.25
Expected volatility	80.86 %
Dividend yield	

The weighted-average valuation assumptions were determined as follows:

- Risk-free interest rate: The Company based the risk-free interest rate on the interest rate payable on U.S. Treasury securities in effect at the time of grant for a period that is commensurate with the assumed expected option term.
- Expected term of options: The Company estimated the expected life of its employee stock options using the "simplified" method, as prescribed in Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") No. 107, "Share Based Payments", whereby the expected life equals the arithmetic average of the vesting term and the original contractual term of the option due to its lack of sufficient historical data.
- Expected stock price volatility: The Company estimated the expected volatility based on its actual historical volatility of the Company's stock price. The Company calculated the historical volatility by using

daily closing prices over a period of the expected term of the associated award. A decrease in the expected volatility would have decreased the fair value of the underlying instrument.

Prior to the three months ended March 31, 2017, the Company estimated the expected volatility based on actual historical volatility of the stock price of similar companies with publicly-traded equity securities. The Company calculated the historical volatility of the selected companies by using daily closing prices over a period of the expected term of the associated award. The impact of this change had an immaterial effect on the Company's financial results for the three months ended March 31, 2017.

• Expected annual dividend yield: The Company estimated the expected dividend yield based on consideration of its historical dividend experience and future dividend expectations. The Company has not historically declared or paid dividends to stockholders. Moreover, it does not intend to pay dividends in the future, but instead expects to retain any earnings to invest in the continued growth of the business. Accordingly, the Company assumed an expected dividend yield of 0.0%.

As of March 31, 2017, there was \$12.4 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense, related to unvested options granted under the 2013 Plan and the Inducement Plan, which will be recognized over the weighted-average remaining period of 3.01 years.

#### **Restricted Stock**

A summary of the status of the Company's restricted stock awards at March 31, 2017 and of changes in restricted stock awards outstanding under the 2013 Plan for the three months ended March 31, 2017 is as follows:

	Number of		d-average Date Fair
	Shares	Value p	er Share
Unvested at December 31, 2016	543,577	\$	10.77
Granted	_	\$	_
Forfeited	_	\$	_
Vested restricted stock awards	(170,439)	\$	11.65
Unvested at March 31, 2017	373,138	\$	10.38

For stock awards that vest subject to the satisfaction of service requirements, stock-based compensation expense is measured based on the fair value of the award on the date of grant and is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. All of the restricted stock awards reflected above vest over time as stipulated in the individual award agreements. In the event of a change in control, the unvested awards will be accelerated and fully vested immediately prior to the change in control.

As of March 31, 2017, there was \$1.1 million of total unrecognized compensation expense, related to restricted stock under the 2013 Plan, which will be recognized over the weighted-average remaining period of 1.92 years.

#### 11. Commitments and Contingencies

#### **Legal Proceedings**

On January 27, 2017 and February 10, 2017, respectively, two putative securities class actions were filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania that named as defendants Egalet Corporation and current officers Robert S. Radie, Stanley J. Musial, and Jeffrey M. Dayno. These two complaints, captioned Mineff v. Egalet Corp. et al., No. 2:17-cv-00390-MMB and Klein v. Egalet Corp. et al., No. 2:17-cv-00617-MMB, assert securities fraud claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 on behalf of putative classes of persons who purchased or otherwise acquired Egalet Corporation securities between December 15, 2015 and January 9, 2017. On May 1, 2017, the Court entered an order consolidating the two cases before it, appointing the Egalet Investor

Group (consisting of Johseph Spizzirri, Abdul Rahiman and Kyle Kobold) as lead plaintiff and approving their selection of lead and liaison counsel. The allegations in the complaints center on allegedly false and/or misleading statements and/or failures to disclose information about the likelihood that ARYMO ER would be approved for oral abuse-deterrent labeling. The Company disputes these allegations and intends to defend these actions vigorously. The Company cannot determine the likelihood of, nor can it reasonably estimate the range of, any potential loss, if any, from these lawsuits.

#### 12. Acquisitions and License and Collaboration Agreements

Collaboration and License Agreement with Acura

In January 2015, the Company entered into the OXAYDO License Agreement with Acura to commercialize OXAYDO tablets containing Acura's Aversion Technology. OXAYDO (formerly known as Oxecta®) is currently approved by the FDA for marketing in the U.S. in 5 mg and 7.5 mg strengths, but was not actively marketed at the time of the OXAYDO License Agreement. Under the terms of the OXAYDO License Agreement, Acura transferred the approved New Drug Application ("NDA") for OXAYDO to the Company and the Company was granted an exclusive license under Acura's intellectual property rights for development and commercialization of OXAYDO worldwide in all strengths.

The Company paid Acura an upfront payment of \$5.0 million in January 2015 and a \$2.5 million milestone payment in October 2015 as a result of the first commercial sale of OXAYDO. In addition, Acura will be entitled to a one-time \$12.5 million milestone payment when OXAYDO net sales reach a level of \$150.0 million in a calendar year.

The Company has recorded a product rights intangible asset of \$7.7 million related to the arrangement, which includes \$172,000 of transaction costs related to the License Agreement. The intangible asset is being amortized over a useful life of 7 years, which coincides with the patent protection of the product in the U.S.

In addition, Acura receives from the Company, a stepped royalty at percentage rates ranging from mid-single digits to double-digits on net sales during a calendar year based on OXAYDO net sales during such year. In any calendar year in which net sales exceed a specified threshold, Acura will receive a double digit royalty on all OXAYDO net sales in that year. The Company's royalty payment obligations commence on the first commercial sale of OXAYDO and expire, on a country-by-country basis, upon the expiration of the last to expire valid patent claim covering OXAYDO in such country (or if there are no patent claims in such country, then upon the expiration of the last valid claim in the U.S.). Royalties will be reduced upon the entry of generic equivalents, as well for payments required to be made by the Company to acquire intellectual property rights to commercialize OXAYDO, with an aggregate minimum floor.

# Purchase Agreement with Luitpold

In January 2015, the Company entered into and consummated the transactions contemplated by the SPRIX Nasal Spray Purchase Agreement with Luitpold. Pursuant to the SPRIX Purchase Agreement, the Company acquired specified assets and liabilities associated with SPRIX (ketorolac tromethamine) Nasal Spray for a purchase price of \$7.0 million. The Company concurrently purchased an additional \$1.1 million of glassware, equipment and active pharmaceutical ingredient ("API") from Luitpold and agreed to purchase an additional \$340,000 of API after closing.

Under the Company's purchase agreement with Luitpold it was assigned the license for SPRIX Nasal Spray from Recordati. S.p.A. Under the agreement with Recordati S.p.A., the Company is obligated to use best commercial efforts to market and sell SPRIX Nasal Spray and pay a fixed, single-digit royalty to Recordati S.p.A.

#### **Table of Contents**

The Company accounted for the arrangement as a business combination and the purchase price has been allocated to the acquisition date fair values as follows:

(in thousands)		urchase Price location
Inventory	\$	3,408
Property, plant & equipment	,	100
Finite lived intangible-intellectual property		4,620
Net assets acquired	\$	8,128

#### 13. Income Taxes

In accordance with ASC Topic No. 270 " *Interim Reporting*" and ASC Topic No. 740 " *Income Taxes*" (Topic No. 740) at the end of each interim period, the Company is required to determine the best estimate of its annual effective tax rate and then apply that rate in providing for income taxes on a current year-to-date (interim period) basis. For the three months ended March 31, 2016, the Company recorded a tax benefit of \$185,000. For the three months ended March 31, 2017, the Company had no tax provision since it is now in a full valuation allowance for federal, foreign and state purposes. The Company maintains a full valuation allowance against all deferred tax assets as management has determined that it is not more likely than not that the Company will realize these future tax benefits. The Company will continue to monitor and determine whether valuation allowances are appropriate.

# ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and result of operations should be read in conjunction with our 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

#### **Forward Looking Statements**

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-O contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the words "may," "might," "will," "could," "would," "should," "expect," "intend," "plan," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "project," "potential," "continue," "seek to" and "ongoing," or the negative of these terms, or other comparable terminology intended to identify statements about the future. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from the information expressed or implied by these forwardlooking statements. Although we believe that we have a reasonable basis for each forward-looking statement contained in this Form 10-Q, we caution you that these statements are based on a combination of facts and factors currently known by us and our expectations of the future, about which we cannot be certain, including, but not limited to, risks related to: our estimates regarding expenses, future revenues, capital requirements and needs for additional financing; our current and future indebtedness; our ability to obtain additional financing; the level of commercial success of our products and, if approved, our product candidates; our ability to execute on our sales and marketing strategy, including developing relationships with customers, physicians, payors and other constituencies; the continued development of our currently limited commercialization capabilities, including sales and marketing capabilities and the outcome of the internalization of our previously external sales force; the success of competing products that are or become available; the accuracy of our estimates of the size and characteristics of the potential markets for our product candidates and our ability to serve those markets; the rate and degree of market acceptance of our products and product candidates; the difficulties in obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of our products and product candidates, and any related restrictions, limitations and/or warnings in the product label under any approval we may obtain; the performance of third parties, including contract research organizations, manufacturers and collaborators; our success with regard to any business development initiaitives; the success and timing of our preclinical studies and clinical trials; our ability to recruit or retain key scientific or management personnel or to retain our executive officers; regulatory developments in the U.S. and foreign countries; obtaining and maintaining intellectual property protection for our product candidates and our proprietary technology; our ability to operate our business without infringing the intellectual property rights of others; recently enacted and future legislation regarding the healthcare system; the success of competing products that are or become available; and our ability to integrate and grow any businesses or products that we may acquire.

You should refer to the "Risk Factors" section of our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the SEC, which are incorporated herein by reference, for a discussion of additional important factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements. As a result of these risks and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements included herein or that may be made elsewhere from time to time by, or on behalf of, us. Furthermore, such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

#### Our Business

We are a fully integrated specialty pharmaceutical company developing, manufacturing and commercializing innovative treatments for pain and other conditions. Given the need for acute and chronic pain products and the issue of prescription abuse, we are focused on bringing non-narcotic and abuse-deterrent opioid formulations to patients and physicians. We are currently marketing SPRIX® (ketorolac tromethamine) Nasal Spray ("SPRIX Nasal Spray"), OXAYDO® (oxycodone HCI, USP) tablets for oral use only—CII ("OXAYDO") and ARYMO<sup>TM</sup> ER (morphine sulfate) extended-release ("ER") tablets ("ARYMO ER").

SPRIX Nasal Spray is the first and only approved nasal spray formulation of a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory

drug ("NSAID"), in this case, ketorolac, used for short-term (up to five days) management of moderate to moderately severe pain that requires analgesia at the opioid level. While providing analgesia at the opioid level, SPRIX Nasal Spray does not have issues of misuse or abuse common to opioids or some of the common opioid related side effects.

OXAYDO is an immediate-release ("IR") oral formulation of oxycodone indicated for the management of acute and chronic moderate to severe pain where the use of an opioid analgesic is appropriate. It was designed to discourage abuse via the route of snorting. We are targeting high-decile of pain medicine prescribers who have a history of prescribing SPRIX and healthcare providers who have a history of prescribing intramuscular injections of ketorolac with our sales force. In addition, we have sought to augment our commercial reach in other markets, including through our agreements for SPRIX Nasal Spray with Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd. in the Middle East and with Septodont, Inc. ("Septodont") focused on dentists in the U.S.

On January 9, 2017, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") approved ARYMO ER, our first product developed using our proprietary Guardian<sup>TM</sup> Technology. ARYMO ER is an ER morphine product formulated with abuse-deterrent ("AD") properties and approved for the management of pain severe enough to require daily, around-the-clock, long-term opioid treatment and for which alternative treatment options are inadequate. On March 30, 2017, we began personal promotion of ARYMO ER to our target healthcare providers.

In conjunction with the ARYMO ER launch, we transitioned our salesforce, which was internalized in January 2017, into two separate teams. A team of 32 territory managers are focusing on educating approximately 4,500 healthcare providers about SPRIX Nasal Spray, and another team of 50 territory managers are promoting OXAYDO and ARYMO ER to approximately 6,000 healthcare providers. In addition, we have an account management team calling on commercial and government payers, and a trade team focused on channel partners.

To expand the commercial opportunity for OXAYDO, we submitted a prior approval supplement to support approval of 10 and 15 mg dosage strengths which was accepted on April 18, 2017. In addition, in December 2016, we filed a supplemental new drug application ("sNDA") for OXAYDO with the FDA to support an abuse-deterrent label claim for the intravenous route of abuse. The application was based on data that was presented at the PAINWeek conference in September 2016.

Beyond our commercial programs, we have a pipeline of products developed using our Guardian Technology. Egalet-002, an AD, ER, oral oxycodone formulation currently in Phase 3 studies, is in development for the same indication as ARYMO ER. We will be delaying indefinitely our previously-announced anticipated 2019 filing date for the Egalet-002 New Drug Application. We are seeking partners for our earlier programs, Egalet-003, an AD stimulant, and Egalet-004, an AD, ER hydrocodone.

We are focusing our business development on augmenting our product portfolio through potential in-licenses and product acquisitions; enhancing the opportunities for our existing products through partnerships that access physicians and patients outside of our commercial focus in the United States or markets outside the United States; and developing partnerships to leverage our Guardian Technology by collaborating on our current product candidates or exploring new product opportunities. *Financial Operations* 

Our net losses for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017 were \$18.5 million and \$25.4 million, respectively. We recognized revenues in the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017 of \$2.7 million and \$5.4 million, respectively. As of March 31, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of \$251.3 million. We expect to incur significant expenses and operating losses for the foreseeable future as we incur significant commercialization expenses as we continue to grow our sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to sell our commercial products in the U.S. Additionally, we expect to continue to scale-up manufacturing capabilities, protect and expand our intellectual property portfolio, hire additional personnel and continue the development and clinical trials of, and seek regulatory approval for, our product candidates.

Until we become profitable, if ever, we will seek to fund our operations primarily through public or private equity or debt financings or other sources. Other additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. Our failure to raise capital as and when needed could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and our ability to pursue our business strategy. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or any future commercialization efforts.

#### Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

We believe there have been no significant changes in our critical accounting policies and significant judgments and estimates as discussed in our audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2016 filed on March 13, 2017.

# **Results of Operations**

# Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017

(in thousands)	Three Months Ended March 31,		
	2016	2017	Change
Revenues			
Net product sales	\$ 2,563	\$ 5,427	\$ 2,864
Collaboration revenues	100	_	(100)
Total revenue	2,663	5,427	2,764
Cost and Expenses			
Cost of sales (excluding amortization of product rights)	882	1,325	443
Amortization of product rights	501	503	2
General and administrative	5,998	8,491	2,493
Sales and marketing	6,202	9,258	3,056
Research and development	6,119	6,520	401
Total costs and expenses	19,702	26,097	6,395
Loss from operations	(17,039)	(20,670)	(3,631)
Other (income) expense:			
Change in fair value of derivative liability	(610)	(12)	598
Interest expense, net	2,309	4,534	2,225
Other (gain) loss	(3)	181	184
Gain on foreign currency exchange	(2)		2
	1,694	4,703	3,009
Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes	(18,733)	(25,373)	(6,640)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	(185)		185
Net loss	\$ (18,548)	\$ (25,373)	\$ (6,825)

Net Product Sales

Net product sales increased from \$2.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to \$5.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. Net product sales for the three months ended March 31, 2016 consisted of \$2.2 million for SPRIX Nasal Spray and \$417,000 for OXAYDO. Net product sales for the three months ended March 31, 2017 consisted of \$4.1 million for SPRIX Nasal Spray and \$1.3 million for OXAYDO.

Cost of Sales (excluding Amortization of Product Rights)

Cost of sales (excluding amortization of product rights) increased from \$882,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to \$1.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017.

Cost of sales for SPRIX Nasal Spray for the three months ended March 31, 2016 of \$773,000 reflects the fair value of finished goods inventory assumed as part of the SPRIX Nasal Spray acquisition. Cost of sales for SPRIX Nasal Spray for the three months ended March 31, 2017 of \$1.1 million reflected the average cost of inventory produced and dispensed to patients during the three months ended March 31, 2017 and included a write-down of SPRIX Nasal Spray inventory of \$427,000.

Cost of sales for OXAYDO for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017 were \$100,000 and \$160,000, respectively. Cost of sales for OXAYDO in both periods reflected the average costs of inventory dispensed to patients.

#### Amortization of Product Rights

Amortization of product rights increased from \$501,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to \$503,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2017. Amortization of product rights was comprised of \$270,000 for the OXAYDO and \$231,000 for the SPRIX Nasal Spray intangible assets in the three months ended March 31, 2016, and \$269,000 for the OXAYDO and \$234,000 for the SPRIX Nasal Spray intangible assets in the three months ended March 31, 2017.

#### General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by \$2.5 million, or 41.6% from \$6.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to \$8.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. The increase was attributable to increases in employee salary and benefit expenses of \$544,000, increases in stock-based compensation expense of \$218,000 and increases in professional and administrative fees of \$634,000. For the three months ended March 31, 2016 general and administrative expenses were lower due to a regulatory filing fee refund of \$800,000.

# Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses increased \$3.1 million or 49.3%, from \$6.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to \$9.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. Approximately \$1.1 million of the increase was attributable to the expansion of our commercial organization and costs associated with the internalization of our previously contracted sales organization in January 2017. There were also increases in sales and marketing launch preparation expenses related to ARYMO ER of \$1.1 million and \$923,000 related to recruiting, sales force training and other expenses.

#### Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased by \$401,000, or 6.6% from \$6.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to \$6.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. This increase was driven primarily by increases in developments costs for Egalet-002 of \$1.1 million and increases in employee salary and benefit expenses of \$236,000. These increases were partially offset by decreases in our development costs for ARYMO ER and OXAYDO of \$415,000 and \$236,000, respectively and decreases in other non-product related expenses of \$428,000.

# Change in fair value of derivative liability

The interest make whole provision of our 5.50% convertible senior notes due April 1, 2020 (the "5.50% Notes") is subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date and we recognize any change in fair value in our statements of operations and comprehensive loss as a change in fair value of the derivative liability. During the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017 we had a gain of \$610,000 and \$12,000, respectively, as a result of the change in the fair value of our derivative liability. The change in fair value of the derivative liability is due primarily to changes in the value of our common stock during the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017.

# Interest expense

Interest expense was \$2.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, and \$4.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. The increase was driven primarily by the issuance of the 13% Notes (as defined below) in August 2016 and January 2017. The interest expense of \$4.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 includes non-cash interest and amortization of debt discount totaling \$1.8 million.

#### Gain on Foreign Currency Exchange

For the three months ended March 31, 2016, we recognized a gain on foreign currency exchange of \$2,000. For the three months ended March 31, 2017, there was no financial impact. This difference is primarily attributable the change in the average rates of currency in which we transacted during 2016 when compared to 2017.

#### Provision (benefit) for Income Taxes

We had a benefit for income taxes of \$185,000 and \$0 for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017, respectively. The income tax benefit for the three months ended March 31, 2016 relates to a state tax benefit associated with the 5.50% Notes. We had no tax provision for the three months ended March 31, 2017 since we are now in a full valuation allowance for federal and state purposes.

#### **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

Since our inception, we have incurred net losses and generally negative cash flows from our operations. We incurred net losses of \$18.5 million and \$25.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017, respectively. Our operating activities used \$18.8 million of cash and \$20.6 million of cash during the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017, respectively. At March 31, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of \$251.3 million, a working capital surplus of \$86.7 million and cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaling \$105.3 million.

From our inception through our initial public offering ("IPO") on February 11, 2014, we received gross proceeds of \$31.1 million from the issuance of preferred stock and convertible debt.

In January 2015, we entered into the Loan Agreement with Hercules and certain other lenders, pursuant to which we borrowed \$15.0 million under a term loan. In August 2016, we repaid all outstanding obligations under the Loan Agreement, using the proceeds from the 13% Notes. Refer to Note 6 — Long-term Debt in the Notes to our Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

In April and May 2015, we issued through a private placement \$61.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the 5.50% Notes. Interest on the 5.50% Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing on October 1, 2015. Refer to Note 6- Long-term debt for additional information.

In July 2015, we completed an underwritten public offering of 7,666,667 shares of common stock (including the exercise in full of the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares) at an offering price of \$11.25 per share for gross proceeds of \$86.3 million. The net offering proceeds from the sale were \$80.8 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of \$5.2 million and offering costs of \$293,000.

Through December 31, 2015 we financed our operations with the \$4.1 million in payments from our collaborative research and development agreements along with aggregate upfront and milestone payments of \$20.0 million under our collaborative research and license agreement with Shionogi Limited.

In August 2016, we issued \$40.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the 13% Senior Secured Notes and issued another \$40.0 million in aggregate principal amount following FDA approval of ARYMO ER in January 2017 (the "13% Notes"). Interest on the 13% Notes accrues at a rate of 13% per annum and is payable semi-annually in

arrears on March 20 and September 20 of each year (each, a "Payment Date") commencing on March 20, 2017. On each Payment Date commencing on March 20, 2018, we will also pay an installment of principal on the 13% Notes in an amount equal to 15% (or 17% if certain sales targets are not met) of the aggregate net sales of OXAYDO (oxycodone HCI, USP) tablets for oral use only – CII, SPRIX Nasal Spray, ARYMO ER and Egalet-002, if approved, for the two consecutive fiscal quarter period most recently ended, less the amount of interest paid on the Notes on such Payment Date.

In March 2017, we initiated sales of shares under its July 2015 Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement ("2015 Sales Agreement") with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. ("Cantor") and sold an aggregate of 187,972 shares of common stock through March 31, 2017, resulting in net proceeds of \$876,000 after deducting commissions of \$27,000. As of May 4, 2017, an additional 217,699 shares were sold under the 2015 Sales Agreement subsequent to March 31, 2017 resulting in net proceeds of \$1.0 million after deducting commissions of \$32,000 which will be recognized during the second quarter of 2017. Under the 2015 Sales Agreement, we may, at our discretion, from time to time sell shares of our common stock, for an aggregate offering price of up to \$30.0 million (includive of amounts sold to date). We provided Cantor with customary indemnification rights, and Cantor is entitled to a commission at a fixed rate of 3% of the gross proceeds per share sold. Sales of the shares under the 2015 Sales Agreement have been made and, if there are additional sales under the 2015 Sales Agreement, will be made in transactions deemed to be "at the market offerings", as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities will be sufficient to fund our projected operating requirements through at least June 30, 2018.

#### Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2017:

(in thousands)	Three Months Ended March 31,		
		2016	2017
Net cash provided by (used in):			
Operating activities	\$	(18,793)	\$ (20,606)
Investing activities		5,838	(36,009)
Financing activities		_	39,165
Effect of foreign currency translation on cash		457	82
Net decrease in cash	\$	(12,498)	\$ (17,368)

#### Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2016 was \$18.8 million and consisted primarily of a net loss of \$18.5 million and net cash outflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities of \$4.1 million, which consisted of a decrease in deferred revenue of \$1.8 million, an increase in other receivables of \$1.1 million, a decrease in accounts payable of \$695,000 and an increase in accounts receivable of \$534,000. These cash outflows were partially offset by non-cash interest and amortization of debt discount of \$2.2 million and non-cash expense for stock-based compensation expense of \$1.3 million.

Net cash used in operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was \$20.6 million and consisted primarily of a net loss of \$25.4 million. The net loss was partially offset by \$4.5 million net non-cash adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operations, which included stock-based compensation expense of \$1.8 million, non-cash interest and amortization of debt discount of \$1.4 million and depreciation and amortization expense of \$1.3 million. Net cash outflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities of \$276,000 consisted of an increase in accounts receivable of \$4.3 million and a decrease in accrued expenses of \$3.5 million, offset by an increase in accounts payable of \$4.3 million and a decrease in deferred revenue of \$2.2 million.

#### Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2016 was \$5.8 million and consisted of \$33.8 million from maturity of investments, \$2.4 million from the sale of investments, partially offset by \$26.7 million for the purchase of investments and \$3.6 million for the purchase of property and equipment.

Net cash used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was \$36.0 million and consisted of \$55.9 million used to purchase investments, offset by \$20.0 million for the maturity of investments.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

There was no cash provided by or used in financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2016.

Net cash provided by financing activities was \$39.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and consisted of \$38.3 million in net proceeds from the issuance of the 13% Notes and Royalty Rights and \$876,000, in net proceeds from the issuance of common stock pursuant to our "at-the-market" offering.

#### **Operating and Capital Expenditure Requirements**

We have not achieved profitability since our inception and we expect to continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future. Our primary uses of capital are, and we expect will continue to be, compensation and related expenses, sales and marketing expenses, research and development expenses, commercial infrastructure development, legal and other regulatory expense, business development opportunities and general overhead costs, including interest and principal repayments on our outstanding debt. We expect our cash expenditures to increase in the near term as we continue to grow our commercialization activities around SPRIX Nasal Spray, OXAYDO and ARYMO ER.

Because our approved products are in the early stages of commercialization that will require significant investment and our product candidates are in various stages of clinical and preclinical development, and the outcome of these efforts is uncertain, we cannot estimate the actual amounts necessary to successfully complete the commercialization and development of our products and product candidates or whether, or when, we may achieve profitability. Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of equity or debt financings and collaboration arrangements. In order to meet these additional cash requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity or convertible debt securities that may result in dilution to our stockholders. The indenture governing the 13% Notes contains covenants that restrict our ability to issue additional indebtedness. Although our ability to issue additional indebtedness is significantly limited by such covenants, if we raise additional funds through the issuance of convertible debt securities, these securities could have rights senior to those of our common stock and could contain covenants that restrict our operations. We may also seek to raise additional financing through the issuance of debt which, if available and permitted pursuant to the documents governing the 13% Notes and our other existing indebtedness, may involve agreements that include restrictive covenants limiting our ability to take important actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise additional funds through collaboration arrangements in the future, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain additional equity or debt financing on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or any future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities will be sufficient to fund our projected operating requirements through at least June 30, 2018. However, our future operating and capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

- the commercial success of our approved products;
- the cost of our current commercialization activities, including marketing, sales and distribution costs, as well as
  commercialization activities for any future product candidates that are approved for sale;our ability to establish
  collaborations or product acquisitions on favorable terms, if at all;

- the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review;
- the results of our clinical trials;
- the scope, progress, results and costs of product development of our product candidates; and
- the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and protecting our intellectual property rights and defending intellectual property-related claims.

Please see the "Risk Factors" section of our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 13, 2017 for additional risks associated with our substantial capital requirements.

#### **Contractual Obligations and Commitments**

The following table represents our contractual obligations and commitments as of March 31, 2017:

(in thousands)	Payments Due By Period				
	Less than			More than	
			1 to		
	<u>Total</u>	1 year	3 years	3 to 5 years	5 years
Operating lease obligations(1)	\$ 2,785	\$ 671	\$ 1,061	\$ 1,053	\$ —
13% Notes (2)	125,367	10,544	35,793	60,711	18,319
5.50% Notes (3)	72,743	3,355	6,710	62,678	_
Manufacturing Agreement (4)	16,410	2,010	7,200	7,200	_
Total	\$217,305	\$16,580	\$50,764	\$131,642	\$ 18,319

- (1) Operating lease obligations reflect our obligation to make payments in connection with the leases for our office space.
- (2) On August 31, 2016, we completed the initial closing (the "Initial Closing") of our offering of up to \$80.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 13% Notes. We issued \$40.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 13% Notes at the Initial Closing, and issued an additional \$40.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 13% Notes upon FDA approval of ARYMO<sup>TM</sup> ER. Interest on the 13% Notes accrues at a rate of 13% per annum and is payable semi-annually in arrears on each Payment Date, which occurs on March 20 and September 20 of each year which commenced on March 20, 2017. On each Payment Date commencing on March 20, 2018, we will pay an installment of principal on the 13% Notes in an amount equal to 15% (or 17% if certain sales targets are not met) of the aggregate net sales of OXAYDO, SPRIX Nasal Spray, ARYMO ER and Egalet-002, if approved, for the two consecutive fiscal quarter period most recently ended, less the amount of interest paid on the 13% Notes on such Payment Date.

In connection with the Intial Offering in August 2016, we entered into royalty rights agreements with each of the 13% Notes Purchasers pursuant to which we sold to such Purchasers the right to receive, in the aggregate, a payment equal to 1.5% of the aggregate net sales of OXAYDO and SPRIX Nasal Spray from the Initial Closing through December 31, 2019, inclusive (the "Royalty Rights"). Following the approval of ARYMO ER in January 2017, the Royalty Rights will continue through December 31, 2020 and we also entered into separate Royalty Rights agreements with each of the Purchasers pursuant to which we sold to such Purchasers the right to receive 1.5% of the aggregate net sales of ARYMO ER payable from the date of first sale of ARYMO ER through December 31, 2020, inclusive. The above table does not include any potential payments related to the Royalty Rights.

- (3) On April 1, 2015, we issued, through a private placement, \$60.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the 5.50% Notes. On May 6, 2015, we issued an additional \$1.0 million in principal amount pursuant to the initial purchasers' exercise of their 30-day over-allotment for aggregate gross proceeds of \$61.0 million. Interest on the 5.50% Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year, which commenced on October 1, 2015.
- (4) On February 28, 2017, we entered into a Drug Product Manufacturing Services Agreement (the "Manufacturing Agreement") with Halo Pharmaceutical, Inc. ("Halo") pursuant to which we engaged Halo to provide certain

services related to the manufacture and supply of ARYMO ER tablets for our commercial use in the United States. We are obligated to purchase all of our requirements for ARYMO ER from Halo through 2019, and seventy-five percent of our requirements thereafter, subject to certain limited exceptions. We will purchase ARYMO ER pursuant to binding purchase orders at a fixed price based on dosage strength, with specified percentage rebates for annual volumes of product ordered over a specified amount. In addition, we have agreed to purchase certain minimum amounts of manufacturing and additional services per calendar quarter from Halo over the term of the Agreement (the "Quarterly Minimum"). If we fail to meet the Quarterly Minimum, we will be required to pay to Halo the resulting shortfall.

We have employment agreements with our executive officers that require the funding of a specific level of payments if specified events occur, such as a change in control or termination without cause. However, because of the contingent nature of those payments, they are not presented in the table.

In addition, in the course of normal business operations, we have agreements with contract service providers to assist in the performance of our research and development, commercial and manufacturing activities. We can elect to discontinue the work under these agreements at any time. We could also enter into additional collaborative research, contract research, manufacturing and supplier agreements in the future, which may require upfront payments or long-term commitments of cash.

#### **Purchase Commitments**

Other than described above with respect to the purchase of ARYMO ER, we have no material non-cancelable purchase commitments with service providers as we have generally contracted on a cancelable purchase order basis.

#### **Employment Agreements**

We have entered into employment agreements with our president and chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief operating officer, chief commercial officer, chief medical officer, general counsel and senior vice president of research and development, that provide for, among other things, salary, bonus and severance payments.

#### Legal Proceedings

Please refer to Note 11 - "Commitments and Contingencies—Legal Proceedings" in the notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which is incorporated into this item by reference.

# Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have, during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined under SEC rules.

#### JOBS Act

As an "emerging growth company" under the JOBS Act of 2012, we can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards. This allows an emerging growth company to delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We are electing not to delay our adoption of such new or revised accounting standards. As a result of this election, we will comply with new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for non-emerging growth companies.

#### ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates. As of December 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017, we had cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of \$86.8 million and \$105.3 million,

respectively, consisting of money market funds, certificates of deposit, U.S. government agency securities and corporate debt securities. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest rate sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates, particularly because our investments are in marketable debt securities. Our marketable securities are subject to interest rate risk and will fall in value if market interest rates increase. Due to the short-term duration of our investment portfolio and the low risk profile of our investments, an immediate 10% change in interest rates would not have a material effect on the fair market value of our portfolio. We have the ability to hold our marketable securities until maturity, and therefore we would not expect our operating results or cash flows to be affected to any significant degree by the effect of a change in market interest rates on our investments. We do not currently have any auction rate securities.

We have international operations and as a result, contract with vendors internationally. We may be subject to fluctuations in foreign currency rates in connection with payments made under these agreements. Historically, we have not hedged our foreign currency exchange rate risk, as the impacts of changes in foreign currency rates on payments made under these arrangements have not been material.

#### ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

#### **Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures**

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer ("CEO") and chief financial officer ("CFO"), has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on that evaluation, our management, including our CEO and CFO, concluded that as of March 31, 2017 our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

#### **Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting**

During the three months ended March 31, 2017, we implemented a new enterprise resource planning ("ERP") system. As appropriate, we are modifying the design and documentation of internal control processes and procedures relating to the new system and interfaces to simplify and synchronize our existing internal control over financial reporting.

With the exception of the ERP implementation described above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the first quarter of 2017, which were identified in connection with management's evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

#### PART II

#### ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDING S

Refer to Note 11 - Commitments and Contingencies—Legal Proceedings in the notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which is incorporated into this item by reference.

#### ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We are subject to various risks and uncertainties that could have a material impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The discussion of these risk factors is included in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016. There have been no changes to these risk factors during the three months ended March 31, 2017.

# ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

# **Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities**

On August 31, 2016, we completed the initial closing (the "Initial Closing") of our offering (the "Offering") of up to \$40.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 13% senior secured notes (the "13% Notes") and entered into an indenture governing the Notes with the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking association, as trustee and collateral agent. We issued an additional \$40.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 13% Notes following FDA approval of ARYMO ER in January 2017 (the "Second Closing"). The 13% Notes were sold directly only to qualified institutional buyers within the meaning of Rule 144A under the Securities Act in reliance upon the exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) thereof relative to transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering. Morgan Stanley & Co., LLC was the placement agent in connection with the sales of the 13% Notes. We received net proceeds from the Initial Closing and Second Closing of approximately \$37.2 million and \$38.3 million, after deducting the offering expenses payable by us.

Issuer	<b>Purchases</b>	of Equity	Securities

None.

#### ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

#### ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

# **ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION**

None.

# ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Where so indicated by footnote, exhibits that were previously filed are incorporated by reference. For exhibits incorporated by reference, the location of the exhibit in the previous filing is indicated.

Exhibit Number	Description
3.1	Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Egalet Corporation, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Egalet Corporation's quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2015).
3.2	Amended and Restated Bylaws of Egalet Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Egalet Corporation's current report on Form 8 - K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 11, 2014).
10.1	Form of Royalty Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Egalet Corporation's current report on Form 8 - K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 18, 2017).
10.2*	Drug Product Manufacturing Services Agreement dated as of February 28, 2017 by and among Halo Pharmaceutical, Inc., and Egalet Corporation, Egalet, Ltd, and Egalet US Inc. (filed herewith).
10.3	Egalet Corporation 2017 Inducement Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to Egalet Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10 - K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 13, 2017).
31.1	Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (filed herewith).
31.2	Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (filed herewith).
32.1	Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
32.2	Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document (filed herewith).
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document (filed herewith).
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document (filed herewith).
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document (filed herewith).
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document (filed herewith).
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document (filed herewith).

<sup>\*</sup> Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

## **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: May 10, 2017		
	EGALET CORI	PORATION
	Ву:	/s/ ROBERT S. RADIE  Robert S. Radie  President and Chief Executive Officer
	35	

## EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit  Exhibit			
Number			
3.1	Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Egalet Corporation, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Egalet Corporation's quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2015).		
3.2	Amended and Restated Bylaws of Egalet Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Egalet Corporation's current report on Form 8 - K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 11, 2014).		
10.1	Form of Royalty Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Egalet Corporation's current report on Form 8 K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 18, 2017).		
10.2*	Drug Product Manufacturing Services Agreement dated as of February 28, 2017 by and among Halo Pharmaceutical, Inc., and Egalet Corporation, Egalet, Ltd, and Egalet US Inc. (filed herewith).		
10.3	Egalet Corporation 2017 Inducement Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to Egalet Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10 K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 13, 2017).		
31.1	Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (filed herewith).		
31.2	Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (filed herewith).		
32.1	Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).		
32.2	Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).		
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document (filed herewith).		
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document (filed herewith).		
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document (filed herewith).		
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document (filed herewith).		
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document (filed herewith).		
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document (filed herewith).		

<sup>\*</sup> Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.



## D RUG PRODUCT MANUFACTURING SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS DRUG PRODUCT MANUFACTURING SERVICES AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is effective as of February 28, 2017 (the "Effective Date") by and between Halo Pharmaceutical, Inc., a Delaware corporation, having offices at 30 North Jefferson Road, Whippany, NJ 07981 ("Halo"), and Egalet Corporation, a Delaware corporation, having offices at 600 East Lee Road Suite 100 Wayne, PA 19087, Egalet, Ltd, a UK company having offices at 160 Queen Victoria Street London EC4V 4QQ and Egalet US Inc., having offices at 600 Lee Road, Wayne, PA 19087 (collectively known as "Client").

#### RECITALS

- A. Client develops, markets and sells pharmaceutical products, including the product(s) generally known as ARYMO <sup>TM</sup> ER Tablets.
- B. Halo provides pharmaceutical product development, manufacturing and packaging services from its facility in New Jersey.
- C. Halo and Egalet Ltd., an Affiliate of Client, have executed a Project Management/Services Agreement (" **PMSA**") dated October 8, 2015.
- D. Client desires to engage Halo to provide certain commercial manufacturing and related services to Client, and Halo desires to provide such services, on the terms and subject to the conditions set out below in this Agreement.

**NOW THEREFORE**, the parties agree as follows:

# ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS

- **1.1 Glossary**. The following terms shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the respective meanings set out below and grammatical variations of such terms shall have corresponding meanings:
- "API" means the active pharmaceutical ingredient(s) listed on <u>Schedule G</u>. The parties acknowledge that certain API may be controlled substances under Applicable Laws.
- "API Specifications" means, with respect to a given API, the specifications for such API, including chemical name, structure, reference profile, limits, impurities, physical properties, identity tests, analytical methods, storage requirements, and similar information, all of which shall be attached to the Ouality Agreement.

Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

23269823.3.BUSINESS

- "Affiliate" of a party means a business entity that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with such party, where "control" means the ownership of shares or other ownership interests or rights carrying at least a majority of the votes in respect of the election of the directors of a corporation or the equivalent managers of any other business form. Egalet Corporation and all its Affiliates, including Egalet, Ltd, and Egalet US, Inc., are jointly and severally liable under this Agreement, and any notice or direction to Halo hereunder from any one of them shall function as notice or direction from all of them, upon which Halo is entitled to rely.
- "Applicable Laws" means all laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations, rules, judgments, decrees or orders of any Authority: (i) with respect to each party, in any jurisdiction in which such party actually operates or performs activities hereunder; (ii) with respect to Client, in any jurisdiction in which API, PEO or Product are produced, marketed, distributed, used or sold; and (iii) with respect to Halo, in any jurisdiction expressly designated in the Specifications. The term Applicable Laws includes cGMPs.
- "Authority" means any governmental authority, department, body or agency or any court, tribunal, bureau, commission or other similar body, whether international, supranational, state, provincial, county or municipal.
- "Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day that is a statutory holiday in the state of New Jersey, United States.
- "cGMPs" means current good manufacturing practices as described in Parts 210 and 211 of Title 21 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations together with any binding FDA guidance documents pertaining to manufacturing and quality control practice, and any equivalent rules governing the manufacture of pharmaceutical products promulgated by any Regulatory Authority of any jurisdiction expressly designated in the Specifications; in each case, as in effect, updated, amended and revised from time to time during the Term.
- "Commercially Reasonable Efforts" means efforts and resources normally used by a party that are consistent with the efforts and resources used by a pharmaceutical or manufacturing company, as the case may be, of similar size and market capitalization as such party in the exercise of its commercially reasonable business practices relating to an exercise of a right or performance of an obligation under this Agreement, including for a compound or product owned by it or to which it has rights, which is of similar stage in its product life, taking into account the competitiveness of the marketplace, the proprietary position of the compound or product, the regulatory structure involved, the profitability of the applicable product and other relevant factors.
- "Components" means, collectively, all raw materials, ingredients and packaging (including labels, product inserts and containers), required to be used in order to produce the Products in accordance with the Specifications, other than the API, PEO and Consumables. The term Components includes Exclusive Components.
- "Conforming Product" means Product delivered by Halo hereunder that meets the Product Warranty.

#### Halo Pharma • Confidential

- "Contract Quarter" means the full calendar quarters beginning with January 1, April 1, July 1, and October 1 of each calendar year; *provided*, that (a) the first Contract Quarter shall commence January 1, 2017 and (b) in respect of any period after the end of the last Calendar Quarter but before the expiration or termination date of this Agreement (e.g., if the Agreement terminates on October 31, then the period from October 1 through October 31), any obligation or payment accruing on a Contract Quarter basis (including Quarterly Minimums) shall apply *pro rata* to such period.
  - "DEA" means the United States Drug Enforcement Agency or any successor thereto.
- " FDA" means the United States government department known as the Food and Drug Administration or any successor thereto.
- "Finished Goods" means the Product in its final configuration for purposes of this Agreement (e.g., tablets in bottles with labels and package insert or in bulk form) as described in the Specifications.
- " Injection Molding Machines" or " IM Machines" means the equipment set forth on  $\underline{Schedule\;J}$  .
- "Intellectual Property" means all intellectual property and embodiments thereof, including patents, patent applications, trademarks, trademark applications, tradenames, copyrights, industrial designs, trade secrets and Inventions.
- "Invention" means information relating to any innovation, improvement, development, discovery, computer program, device, trade secret, method, know-how, process, technique or the like, whether or not written or otherwise fixed in any form or medium, regardless of the media on which it is contained and whether or not patentable or copyrightable. [\*\*\*\*\*].
- "Inventory" means all inventories of Components, Consumables, Product and work-inprocess purchased, produced, held or maintained by Halo as contemplated by Section 2.4(b) or Section 4.3, including any excess material purchased by reason of vendor's minimum purchase requirements and long lead time material. For the avoidance of doubt, Inventory does not include any API or PEO.
- **"Latent Defect"** means any defect that is not normally detected by visual inspection or the analytical methods used to characterize the Product, API or PEO at the time of release.
- "Manufacturing Services" means the manufacturing, quality control, quality assurance and stability testing, packaging (in bulk or finished packaging), labeling and related services, as contemplated in this Agreement, required to produce Products from API, PEO and Components. The term Manufacturing Services excludes Additional Services.
- "**Manufacturing Site**" means the facility owned and operated by Halo located at 30 North Jefferson Road, Whippany, New Jersey, 07981, USA.

#### Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

- "**Maximum API Credit Value**" means the maximum value of API that may be credited by Halo pursuant to this Agreement, as set forth on <u>Schedule G</u>.
- "**Maximum PEO Credit Value**" means the maximum value of PEO that may be credited by Halo pursuant to this Agreement, as set forth on <u>Schedule G</u>.
- "Packaging Fee" means the per-unit fee for the Packaging of Product payable by Client to Halo and set forth on Schedule A in the column so labeled, as the same may be adjusted in accordance with this Agreement.
  - " **PEO** " means [\*\*\*\*\*].
- "PEO Specifications" means the written specifications for PEO as published by the manufacturer thereof and including limits, impurities, physical properties, identity tests, analytical methods, storage requirements, and similar information, all of which shall be attached to the Quality Agreement.
- "Person" shall mean any individual, corporation, proprietorship, firm, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability company, trust, association or other entity.
- "Price" means the per-unit sale price for Product payable by Client to Halo and set forth on Schedule A in the column so labeled, as the same may be adjusted in accordance with this Agreement.
- " Product" means a pharmaceutical product listed on <u>Schedule A</u>, as more specifically described in the Specifications.
- "Quality Agreement" means an agreement between Halo and Client setting out the quality assurance standards applicable to the Manufacturing Services and the parties' responsibilities in respect thereof.
- "Quota" shall mean the manufacturing quota quantity of a given API allotted by the DEA to Halo for a given calendar year.
- "Recall" means any action (i) by Client to recover title to or possession of quantities of Product sold or shipped to Third Parties and to remove that Product from its physical location at a Third Party's location (including any voluntary withdrawal of Product from the market), (ii) by Client to modify, adjust, relabel, destroy, or inspect (including through patient monitoring) Product sold or shipped to Third Parties without recovering title or possession, or (iii) by any Regulatory Authority to recall, withdraw from the market, order any corrective action, or otherwise detain or destroy any of the Product.
- "Regulatory Approval" means permission, authority, or approval from a Regulatory Authority to permit marketing and/or sale of a Product, including, but not limited to, investigational new drug applications, new drug applications, abbreviated new drug applications, and biologics license applications

### Halo Pharma • Confidential

- "Regulatory Authority" means any Authority competent to grant marketing, distribution and related approvals for pharmaceutical products in the Territory and in the jurisdictions in which the Manufacturing Sites are located, including the FDA and DEA, as applicable.
- "Specifications" means, with respect to a Product, the following written information, which are included in Schedule A and/or which shall be attached to the Quality Agreement and/or which Client shall provide to Halo (and may subsequently revise) in accordance with Section 3.3: [\*\*\*\*\*\*].
- "Territory" means the geographic area specified in <u>Schedule I</u> where the Product is to be offered for sale by Client or its Affiliates or licensees.
  - "Third Party" shall mean any Person other than Halo, Client and their respective Affiliates.
  - "Third Party Rights" means the rights held by a Third Party in Intellectual Property.
- "Year" means, (i) with respect to the first year of this Agreement, the period from the Effective Date up to and including December 31 of the same year, (ii) with respect to the last year of this Agreement, the period from January 1 of such last calendar year up to and including the date of termination or expiration of this Agreement, and (iii) for all periods in between, a calendar year.
- **1.2** Index. The following terms are defined in the section of this Agreement indicated below:

Term	Section
Actual Annual Yield or AAY	2.3(c)
Additional Services	2.2(a)
Agreement	Introductory paragraph
API Cost	2.1(b)(i)
Broader Intellectual Property Rights	12.2(b)
Client	Introductory paragraph
Client Indemnitees	10.3(a)
Client Party	13.1
CMC	7.7(c)
Commitment	3.2(b)
Confidential Information	11.1
Consumables	2.1(b)(iv)
Contributing Expenses	4.2(b)
Deficiency Notice	6.1(a)
Dispute	13.1
Effective Date	Introductory paragraph
Exclusive Components	4.3(b)
Exclusive Components Purchasing Summary	4.3(b)

#### Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

Facilitator		10.1
Firm Order         4.1(b)           Force Majeure Event         14.1           Forecast (including Forecasted)         3.2(a)           Forfeit Date         4.2(d)           Halo         Introductory paragraph           Halo         Introductory paragraph           Halo Indemnitees         10.3(b)           Initial Term         8.1           Losses         10.3(a)           Machine Space         2.1(b)(vi)(B)           Master Confidentiality Agreement         11.1           Materials Credit         2.3(e)           Non-Comfliant Services         6.3(a)           Non-Compliant Services         6.3(a)           Non-Conforming Product         6.1(a)           Packaging         3.5           PEO Cost         2.1(b)(ii)           PMSA         Recital C           Product Warranty         9.3(e)           Proposed Response         7.5           Purchase Order         4.1(a)           Quantity Converted         2.3(a)           Quantity Poispensed         2.3(a)           Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           R	Facilitator	13.1
Force Majeure Event		4.1(h)
Forecast (including Forecasted)   3.2(a)		
Forfeit Date		
Halo Introductory paragraph Halo Indemnitees 10.3(b) Initial Term 8.1 Losses 10.3(a) Machine Space 2.1(b)(vi)(B) Master Confidentiality Agreement 11.1 Materials Credit 2.3(e) Non-Compliant Services 6.3(a) Non-Compliant Services 6.3(a) Non-Conforming Product 6.1(a) Packaging 3.5 PEO Cost 2.1(b)(ii) PMSA Recital C Product Warranty 9.3(e) Proposed Response 7.5 Purchase Order 4.1(a) Quantity Converted 2.3(a) Quantity Dispensed 2.3(a) Quantity Received 2.3(a) Quantity Minimum 4.2(a) Reconciliation Report 2.3(d) Records 7.3  Renewal Term 8.1  Requirements Obligation 2.1(a) Shortfall 2.3(d) Target Yield Determination Batches 2.3(b) Technical Dispute 13.2 Third Party Claim 10.3(a)	Forecast (including Forecasted)	
Halo Indemnitees		
Initial Term		
Losses		
Machine Space         2.1(b)(vi)(B)           Master Confidentiality Agreement         11.1           Materials Credit         2.3(e)           Non-Compliant Services         6.3(a)           Non-Conforming Product         6.1(a)           Packaging         3.5           PEO Cost         2.1(b)(ii)           PMSA         Recital C           Product Warranty         9.3(e)           Proposed Response         7.5           Purchase Order         4.1(a)           Quantity Converted         2.3(a)           Quantity Dispensed         2.3(a)           Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)		
Master Confidentiality Agreement         11.1           Materials Credit         2.3(e)           Non-Compliant Services         6.3(a)           Non-Conforming Product         6.1(a)           Packaging         3.5           PEO Cost         2.1(b)(ii)           PMSA         Recital C           Product Warranty         9.3(e)           Proposed Response         7.5           Purchase Order         4.1(a)           Quantity Converted         2.3(a)           Quantity Dispensed         2.3(a)           Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)		
Materials Credit         2.3(e)           Non-Compliant Services         6.3(a)           Non-Conforming Product         6.1(a)           Packaging         3.5           PEO Cost         2.1(b)(ii)           PMSA         Recital C           Product Warranty         9.3(e)           Proposed Response         7.5           Purchase Order         4.1(a)           Quantity Converted         2.3(a)           Quantity Dispensed         2.3(a)           Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)		
Non-Compliant Services         6.3(a)           Non-Conforming Product         6.1(a)           Packaging         3.5           PEO Cost         2.1(b)(ii)           PMSA         Recital C           Product Warranty         9.3(e)           Proposed Response         7.5           Purchase Order         4.1(a)           Quantity Converted         2.3(a)           Quantity Dispensed         2.3(a)           Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)		
Non-Conforming Product         6.1(a)           Packaging         3.5           PEO Cost         2.1(b)(ii)           PMSA         Recital C           Product Warranty         9.3(e)           Proposed Response         7.5           Purchase Order         4.1(a)           Quantity Converted         2.3(a)           Quantity Dispensed         2.3(a)           Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)		
Packaging         3.5           PEO Cost         2.1(b)(ii)           PMSA         Recital C           Product Warranty         9.3(e)           Proposed Response         7.5           Purchase Order         4.1(a)           Quantity Converted         2.3(a)           Quantity Dispensed         2.3(a)           Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)	1	
PEO Cost         2.1(b)(ii)           PMSA         Recital C           Product Warranty         9.3(e)           Proposed Response         7.5           Purchase Order         4.1(a)           Quantity Converted         2.3(a)           Quantity Dispensed         2.3(a)           Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)		
PMSA Recital C Product Warranty 9.3(e) Proposed Response 7.5 Purchase Order 4.1(a) Quantity Converted 2.3(a) Quantity Dispensed 2.3(a) Quarterly Minimum 4.2(a) Reconciliation Report 2.3(d) Records 7.3  Renewal Term 8.1  Requirements Obligation 2.1(a) Shortfall 2.3(d) Supply Shortage 2.4(a) Target Yield Determination Batches 7.3  Term 8.1  Third Party Claim 10.3(a)		3.5
Product Warranty         9.3(e)           Proposed Response         7.5           Purchase Order         4.1(a)           Quantity Converted         2.3(a)           Quantity Dispensed         2.3(a)           Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)		2.1(b)(ii)
Proposed Response         7.5           Purchase Order         4.1(a)           Quantity Converted         2.3(a)           Quantity Dispensed         2.3(a)           Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)	PMSA	Recital C
Purchase Order         4.1(a)           Quantity Converted         2.3(a)           Quantity Dispensed         2.3(a)           Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)	Product Warranty	
Quantity Converted         2.3(a)           Quantity Dispensed         2.3(a)           Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)		7.5
Quantity Dispensed         2.3(a)           Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)	Purchase Order	4.1(a)
Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)	Quantity Converted	2.3(a)
Quantity Received         2.3(a)           Quarterly Minimum         4.2(a)           Reconciliation Report         2.3(d)           Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)	Quantity Dispensed	2.3(a)
Quarterly Minimum4.2(a)Reconciliation Report2.3(d)Records7.3Renewal Term8.1Requirements Obligation2.1(a)Shortfall2.3(d)Supply Shortage2.4(a)Target Yield2.3(b)Target Yield Determination Batches2.3(b)Technical Dispute13.2Term8.1Third Party Claim10.3(a)	Quantity Received	
Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)	Quarterly Minimum	4.2(a)
Records         7.3           Renewal Term         8.1           Requirements Obligation         2.1(a)           Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)	Reconciliation Report	2.3(d)
Renewal Term       8.1         Requirements Obligation       2.1(a)         Shortfall       2.3(d)         Supply Shortage       2.4(a)         Target Yield       2.3(b)         Target Yield Determination Batches       2.3(b)         Technical Dispute       13.2         Term       8.1         Third Party Claim       10.3(a)	Records	
Requirements Obligation 2.1(a) Shortfall 2.3(d) Supply Shortage 2.4(a) Target Yield 2.3(b) Target Yield Determination Batches 2.3(b) Technical Dispute 13.2 Term 8.1 Third Party Claim 10.3(a)		
Requirements Obligation 2.1(a) Shortfall 2.3(d) Supply Shortage 2.4(a) Target Yield 2.3(b) Target Yield Determination Batches 2.3(b) Technical Dispute 13.2 Term 8.1 Third Party Claim 10.3(a)	Renewal Term	8.1
Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)		
Shortfall         2.3(d)           Supply Shortage         2.4(a)           Target Yield         2.3(b)           Target Yield Determination Batches         2.3(b)           Technical Dispute         13.2           Term         8.1           Third Party Claim         10.3(a)	Requirements Obligation	2.1(a)
Supply Shortage2.4(a)Target Yield2.3(b)Target Yield Determination Batches2.3(b)Technical Dispute13.2Term8.1Third Party Claim10.3(a)		2.3(d)
Target Yield2.3(b)Target Yield Determination Batches2.3(b)Technical Dispute13.2Term8.1Third Party Claim10.3(a)	Supply Shortage	
Target Yield Determination Batches2.3(b)Technical Dispute13.2Term8.1Third Party Claim10.3(a)	Target Yield	
Technical Dispute 13.2 Term 8.1 Third Party Claim 10.3(a)		
Term 8.1 Third Party Claim 10.3(a)		
Third Party Claim 10.3(a)	*	

## ARTICLE 2 HALO's services

6

## Halo Pharma • Confidential

 $[*****] \begin{tabular}{ll} Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment. \\ \end{tabular}$ 

### 2.1 <u>Manufacturing Services</u>.

- (a) Arrangement. In consideration of Client's payment of the fees due under, and the other terms and conditions of, this Agreement, Halo shall perform the Manufacturing Services at the Manufacturing Site in order to supply Product to Client for sale in the Territory. Client shall purchase (i) one hundred percent (100%) of its requirements for Product in calendar years 2017, 2018 and 2019, and (ii) seventy-five percent (75%) of its requirements for Product in each calendar year during the Term thereafter ("Requirements Obligation") from Halo except to the extent otherwise expressly permitted in this Agreement. Halo acknowledges that Client may take any commercially reasonable steps necessary to protect its supply of Product, including by establishing a backup source of supply for Product and/or manufacturing Product itself or purchasing Product from Third Parties; in each case subject to the Requirements Obligation. However, the Requirements Obligation shall not apply and shall be waived solely for [\*\*\*\*\*].
- (b) <u>Conversion of API, PEO and Components</u>. Halo shall convert API, PEO and Components into Finished Goods in accordance with this Agreement.
- API. Client shall purchase at its sole cost and expense all API, and deliver API to Halo in accordance with Section 3.4. Halo shall visually inspect API upon receipt to verify identity and quantity and shall test each shipment of API in accordance with the Quality Agreement. Halo shall store such API on behalf of the Client on the terms and subject to the conditions hereof. The parties acknowledge and agree that title to API shall at all times belong to and remain the property of the Client. Except as set forth in this Agreement, risk of loss of the API shall at all times remain with Client. Client will insure the API at Client's cost. Halo agrees that any API received by it from or on behalf of Client shall (A) only be used by Halo to provide the Manufacturing Services, (B) be stored and handled in accordance with the API Specifications, any special instructions agreed between Client and Halo in writing, and Applicable Law, and (C) be kept free of all liens, claims and encumbrances arising from acts or omissions of Halo. Halo shall notify Client promptly of any material damage to or destruction of API, and shall compensate Client for any API lost, destroyed or damaged during Halo's storage of API due to Halo's negligence, wilful misconduct or breach of this Agreement at an amount equal to [\*\*\*\*\*] (" API Cost"), subject to the Maximum API Credit Value; provided, that for ease of administration, in lieu of calculating the actual API Cost, the parties have agreed and set forth on Schedule G a number that represents and will be used as the API Cost ([\*\*\*\*\*]). For the avoidance of doubt, Client shall be compensated for any other API lost, destroyed or damaged during Halo's manufacture of Product as follows: (1) to the extent included in Conforming Product and exceeding the Target Yield, through the mechanism set forth in Section 2.3 and (2) to the extent included in Nonconforming Product, through the mechanism set forth in Article 6.
- PEO to Halo in accordance with Section 3.4. Halo shall visually inspect PEO upon receipt to verify identity and quantity and shall test each shipment of PEO in accordance with the Quality Agreement. Halo shall store such PEO on behalf of the Client on the terms and subject to the conditions hereof. The parties acknowledge and agree that title to PEO shall at all times belong to and remain the property of the Client. Except as set forth in this Agreement, risk of loss of the PEO shall at all times remain with Client. Client will insure the PEO at Client's cost. Halo agrees

that any PEO received by it from or on behalf of Client shall (A) only be used by Halo to provide the Manufacturing Services, (B) be stored and handled in accordance with the PEO Specifications, any special instructions agreed between Client and Halo in writing, and Applicable Law, and (C) be kept free of all liens, claims and encumbrances arising from acts or omissions of Halo. Halo shall notify Client promptly of any material damage to or destruction of PEO, and shall compensate Client for any PEO lost, destroyed or damaged during Halo's storage of PEO due to Halo's negligence, wilful misconduct or breach of this Agreement at an amount equal to [\*\*\*\*\*] ("PEO Cost"), subject to the Maximum PEO Credit Value; provided, that for ease of administration, in lieu of calculating the actual PEO Cost, the parties have agreed and set forth on Schedule G a number that represents and will be used as the PEO Cost ([\*\*\*\*\*]). For the avoidance of doubt, Client shall be compensated for any other PEO lost, destroyed or damaged during Halo's manufacture of Product as follows: (1) to the extent included in Conforming Product and exceeding the Target Yield, through the mechanism set forth in Section 2.3 and (2) to the extent included in Nonconforming Product, through the mechanism set forth in Article 6.

- (iii) <u>Components</u>. Halo shall purchase all Components as required by and included in the Specifications and as further described in Section 4.3. Halo shall procure only Components that are warranted by the vendor to have been manufactured in accordance with cGMPs. Halo shall test all Components after receipt at the Manufacturing Site as required by the Specifications and the Quality Agreement.
- (iv) <u>Consumables</u>. Halo shall purchase all columns and standards, and subject to Client's prior written approval for purchases exceeding [\*\*\*\*\*], tooling and other project-specific items, necessary for Halo to perform the Manufacturing Services (" **Consumables**"). Halo shall charge through to Client all Third Party vendor fees for such purchases at Halo's actual cost [\*\*\*\*\*].
- (v) <u>Credit</u>. Any Components or Consumables previously purchased by Halo and paid for by Client under any purchase order prior to the Effective Date and used in the Manufacturing Services shall not be invoiced or charged-through, including any administrative fees, to Client.

### (vi) <u>Equipment</u>.

(A) <u>General</u>. Except as Halo and Client may agree in writing from time to time, Halo shall provide at its cost all equipment needed to perform the Manufacturing Services, with the exception of the Client-owned Injection Molding Machines and associated parts. Client has installed the IM Machines at the Manufacturing Site pursuant to the PMSA and, subject to the rights of Client's Third Party lien-holders, and subject to the terms of this Agreement (including without limitation clauses (D) and (E) below and Section 4.2(d)), Halo shall have the right of possession and control of the IM Machines at all times during the Term. Client shall carry appropriate insurance on the IM Machines at all times during the Term. Halo shall use the IM Machines and associated parts solely for the benefit of Client, and may not use such equipment for any other purpose or customer, unless otherwise approved in writing by Client following a request from Halo. Title to all IM Machines will remain solely with Client.

- (B) <u>Machine Space</u>. Halo agrees that the area at the Manufacturing Site in which the IM Machines have been installed and certain adjoining space, all as more specifically described on <u>Schedule B</u> (the "Machine Space"), shall remain dedicated to the IM Machines during the Term, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including this Section 2.1(b)(vi) and Section 4.2(d). In consideration of Halo making the Machine Space available to Client (which shall be considered an Additional Service under this Agreement), Client shall pay the IM Machine space fee set forth on <u>Schedule B</u>; *provided*, that Halo shall waive such fee, and such fee shall not be payable by Client, for each Contract Quarter in which Client fulfills the Quarterly Minimum (as reduced or waived pursuant to Sections 4.2(a), 4.2(d) or 8.2(a)), whether by purchasing Product or Contributing Services or making payments in lieu thereof. Client agrees and acknowledges that the availability of the Machine Space hereunder for the IM Machines is for the parties' convenience in connection with ensuring Halo's ability to supply Product hereunder, and is not and shall not be deemed a lease, rental or other interest in real property, and agrees that Client is not and shall not be deemed, and shall not be entitled to any of the rights afforded to, a lessee under applicable law, including but not limited to any right of entry, possession or quiet enjoyment.
- (C) <u>Maintenance</u>. Halo will perform and be responsible for the costs and expenses of routine maintenance and servicing of [\*\*\*\*\*] IM Machine while located at the Manufacturing Site. Halo will perform routine maintenance and servicing on all additional IM Machines while located at the Manufacturing Site at Client's expense at [\*\*\*\*\*]. Client will perform and be responsible for the cost of non-routine maintenance and servicing of the IM Machines (such as major repairs and parts replacement), except where such non-routine maintenance or servicing results from Halo's failure to operate, maintain and service the IM Machines in accordance with the vendor's instructions or from Halo's negligence or willful misconduct. Halo will promptly notify Client of the need for any such non-routine maintenance or servicing. Further, Halo will permit at all times during normal working hours Client and its personnel and agents, and the manufacturers of the IM Machines, to have access to the IM Machines in order to perform maintenance and servicing.
- (D) Termination of Agreement. Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement or in connection with a Client request under Section 4.2(d), Halo shall surrender possession of the IM Machines to Client in the same order, condition and repair as received, ordinary wear and tear excepted, at the Manufacturing Site. Client shall complete the removal of the IM Machines within [\*\*\*\*\*] following the expiration or termination of this Agreement or the Forfeit Date, as applicable. If and to the extent Client fails to remove the IM Machines within such [\*\*\*\*\*] period, Halo may uninstall the IM Machines and transfer them to storage, and Client shall pay rent at the rate set forth on Schedule B, as well as all maintenance and other costs pursuant to clause (A) above. Halo shall invoice Client for such amounts due monthly in arrears. Upon removal of any IM Machines, unless such removal occurs due to termination of this Agreement for Halo's material breach or insolvency, Client shall, at its sole cost and expense, return the Manufacturing Site (or the forfeited suite under Section 4.2(d)) and its systems to a condition reasonably suitable for cGMP manufacturing, except as may otherwise be agreed in writing by Halo.

- (E) <u>Issues Arising from IM Machines</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Quality Agreement, or otherwise, so long as Halo shall have operated, maintained and serviced the IM Machines in accordance with the vendor's instructions and, so long as not inconsistent with the vendor's instructions and subject to clause (C) above, Client's instructions, Halo shall have no liability in connection with any issue, problem or other matter whatsoever to the extent arising from any of the IM Machines, including without limitation any failure to supply Product, delay in Product supply, Supply Shortage, Non-Conforming Product, need for rework or reprocessing, loss of API, PEO, Components and/or Packaging, failure to achieve Target Yield, Recall, scrap, etc.; and Halo shall be entitled to receive the Price, Packaging Fee and/or other amounts hereunder for work performed even if any such issue, problem or other matter occurs, except to the extent that the relevant issue, problem or other matter whatsoever arising from any of the IM Machines results from any Halo external physical machinery, Halo building infrastructure, Halo processes, or Halo equipment that adversely affects operation of the IM Machines or similar Halo negligence or willful misconduct unrelated to the IM Machines.
- (vii) <u>Batch Number and Expiration Date</u>. Halo will assign each batch of Product manufactured by it assigned a unique batch number using Halo's batch numbering system. This batch number will appear on all documents relating to the particular batch of Product. Halo will calculate the expiration date for each batch of Product based on the date of compounding such batch.
- (c) <u>Packaging</u>. Halo shall package Product as required by the applicable Firm Order. Halo shall be responsible for imprinting or affixing the batch number and expiration date of each batch of Product onto the Finished Goods and shipping cartons as described in the Specifications and required by the Quality Agreement and cGMPs and, when required by the Drug Safety Control & Security Act, a serial number and 2D barcode. Halo's name shall not appear on any Product Packaging except to the extent (i) required by any Applicable Laws or (ii) Halo expressly consents in writing to such use of its name.
- (d) <u>Quality Control</u>. Halo shall perform the Product quality control and quality assurance testing required by the Quality Agreement. Product batch review and release to Client shall be the responsibility of Halo's quality assurance group. Halo shall perform such batch review and release responsibilities in accordance with Halo's standard operating procedures. Unless prevented by deviations or failures, or agreed to in writing by Client, Halo will complete its batch review within [\*\*\*\*\*] following completion of Product production. Each time Halo delivers a batch of Product to Client, Halo shall provide Client with a certificate of analysis and certificate of compliance for such batch. At Client's request, Halo will provide copies of additional batch documentation, including, but not limited to batch manufacturing records, lot packaging records, equipment data printouts, raw material data, and laboratory notebooks, at no additional cost for one copy.

### 2.2 <u>Additional Services</u>.

(a) <u>Product Related Services</u>. In addition to the Manufacturing Services, Halo shall perform any services in connection with Product as Halo and Client may agree in writing from

10

Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

time to time, such as qualification, validation, and stability services (including as contemplated by Section 2.2(b), "Additional Services"). Such written agreement shall specify the scope, timing, parameters (including protocols, if applicable), fees payable by Client, and other matters pertinent to the Additional Services. To the extent Halo and Client have agreed any such matters as of the Effective Date, they are set forth on Schedule B. The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall govern the provision and receipt of any Additional Services. Schedule K is a complete and accurate list of all current Additional Services that are being performed by Halo as of the Effective Date, and are evidenced by Halo work orders and Egalet Purchase Orders.

(b) Post Marketing Stability Testing. At Client's request, in consideration of the fees set forth on Schedule B, Halo shall conduct post marketing stability testing on Product in accordance with such commercial and Product stability protocols as Halo and Client may agree in writing. Halo shall not make any changes to these protocols without Client's prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. In the event of a confirmed stability test failure, Halo will notify Client within [\*\*\*\*\*] of such confirmation. Halo and Client shall cooperate to determine the proceedings and methods to be undertaken to investigate the causes of such failure, including the allocation between Halo and Client of the cost of such investigation. To the extent Client pays for all or part of the investigation, Halo's costs will be billed to Client at the rate set forth on Schedule B. Each investigation must give rise to an explanation and/or corrective action, which shall be reviewed by Halo's quality assurance department. Upon Client's request, Halo will provide Client with a copy of all data and results relating to any post marketing stability testing and/or any such investigation. If required by Applicable Law, Client is responsible to, and shall, file a field alert or other required notice with the FDA.

### **Yield** 2.3

- (a) <u>Interim Inventory Reports.</u> The Manufacturing Site shall provide Client with monthly and quarterly inventory reports for each API and PEO held by Halo. Each inventory report shall be in substantially the form set forth on <u>Schedule C</u>, shall be based on data from Halo's manufacturing resource planning (MRP) system and/or manufacturing batch records, and shall contain the following information with respect to the applicable period:
- (i) "Quantity Received": The total quantity labeled on drums of API/PEO received at the Manufacturing Site that comply with the Specifications, less any incoming samples, retains or quantities used for testing purposes (such as stability samples);
- (ii) "Quantity Dispensed": The total quantity of API/PEO dispensed from inventory at the Manufacturing Site in connection with commercial manufacturing of Product, less any (A) API/PEO that must be retained by Halo as samples and stability, (B) API/PEO contained in Product that must be retained as samples, (C) API/PEO used in connection with testing (if applicable) and (D) API/PEO received or consumed in connection with technical transfer activities or development activities, including any regulatory, stability, validation, or test batches manufactured; and

11

#### Halo Pharma • Confidential

- (iii) "Quantity Converted": The total amount of API/PEO contained in Product produced with the Quantity Dispensed (including any replacement Product produced in accordance with Article 6), which Product was delivered by Halo and not rejected, Recalled or returned in accordance with Article 6 as a result of Non-Compliant Services, less any API/PEO losses due to sampling (including retain), testing or stability.
- (b) <u>Target Yield</u>. For each batch size of Product, after Halo has produced [\*\*\*\*\*] (collectively, the "**Target Yield Determination Batches**") pursuant to this Agreement, Halo and Client will agree on the target yield for the API and PEO used in such Product at the Manufacturing Site for such batch size (each, a "**Target Yield**"); *provided*, that the Target Yield Determination Batches shall not include any batches that were produced in production runs involving technical difficulties or involving an extraordinary loss of API or PEO, as agreed by both Halo and Client.
- (c) <u>Actual Annual Yield and Report</u>. Within [\*\*\*\*\*] after the end of each Year, Halo shall prepare for each API and PEO used in a Product an annual reconciliation report substantially in the form attached as <u>Schedule D</u> (the "**Reconciliation Report**"), including the calculation of the "**Actual Annual Yield**" or "**AAY**" for such API or PEO used in such Product at each Manufacturing Site for all batch sizes during the Year, expressed as a percentage of Quantity Dispensed and calculated as follows:

# Quantity Converted during the Year Quantity Dispensed during the Year

(d) <u>Shortfall Calculation</u>. If the Actual Annual Yield falls more than [\*\*\*\*\*] below the Target Yield for a given Year, then the shortfall for such Year (the "**Shortfall**") shall be determined based on the following calculation:

[\*\*\*\*\*]

Any Shortfall shall be disclosed by Halo on the Reconciliation Report and Halo will undertake an investigation of the reasons for the Shortfall.

- (e) <u>Materials Credit</u>. If there is a Shortfall for any API or PEO for a given Year, Halo shall credit Client's account for the amount of such Shortfall within [\*\*\*\*\*] after the end of such Year, up to a maximum aggregate credit amount equal to the Maximum API Credit Value in respect of API and the Maximum PEO Credit Value in respect of PEO (the amount of such Shortfall for API or PEO, as capped by the Maximum API Credit Value or Maximum PEO Credit Value, as applicable, the "**Materials Credit**"). Each Materials Credit shall be summarized on the Reconciliation Report and shall be used to offset amounts owed to Halo under invoices issued to Client in accordance with Section 5.6. Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement, Halo shall pay Client an amount equal to any remaining Materials Credit (*i.e.*, that was not used to offset invoices issued to Client) within [\*\*\*\*\*] following the date of such expiration or termination.
- (f) <u>No Material Breach</u>. It shall not constitute a material breach of this Agreement by Halo, for the purposes of Section 8.2(a), if the Actual Annual Yield is less than the Target Yield.

12

#### Halo Pharma • Confidential

### 2.4 <u>Supply Shortages and Safety Supplies</u>.

- (a) <u>Supply Shortage</u>. A "**Supply Shortage**" shall be deemed to have taken place if quantities of Conforming Product supplied by Halo to Client are either [\*\*\*\*\*]. A Supply Shortage shall be considered a material breach of this Agreement, but such breach shall be deemed cured upon tender of delivery by Halo of Conforming Product within the applicable cure period.
- Safety Supplies. Halo shall maintain an inventory of API (subject to Quotas), PEO (b) and Components that would reasonably be expected to suffice for Halo to meet Client's then-current Forecast. At Client's request, Halo shall also maintain an inventory of Finished Goods as specified by Client. Halo shall turn over all such safety supplies as new API, PEO and Components are received or new lots of Product are delivered, respectively, to optimize the shelf life of such safety supplies. Halo shall promptly notify Client in writing at any time if it reasonably anticipates that additional amounts of API or PEO will be needed for Halo to meet Client's then-current Forecast. If Halo reasonably believes that it is or will be unable to obtain a sufficient supply of Components from Third Party vendors for Halo to meet Client's then-current Forecast, Halo shall promptly notify Client in writing and Client shall have the right to negotiate directly with such Third Party vendors to secure an adequate supply of such Components. If Client directs Halo to maintain Finished Goods in inventory pursuant to this Section 2.4(b) and fails to take possession of such Finished Goods within [\*\*\*\*\*] following its release, Client shall pay Halo the monthly storage fee set forth in Schedule B thereafter for storing such Product. Upon [\*\*\*\*\*] written notice to Client, Halo shall have the option to ship to Client at Client's expense any finished Product, Components, API and PEO held by Halo in inventory hereunder longer than [\*\*\*\*\*].

#### 2.5 Quotas.

- (a) Quota Request Filings. The parties acknowledge that certain API hereunder is scheduled under the Federal Controlled Substances Act, and that Halo is required to obtain a Quota from DEA before manufacturing a Product. Halo will submit to DEA in a reasonably timely manner all documents required by the DEA to request a Quota sufficient to meet Client's Forecasts made pursuant to Article 3.2; provided, that Client shall submit, in a reasonably timely manner, to Halo proposed documentation (including justification of quantities requested by Client) to be included in Halo's Quota request to DEA. Additional request(s) will be submitted by Halo to DEA in a reasonably timely manner as necessary to reflect changes in Client's Forecasts, subject again to Halo's receipt of any necessary supporting documentation from Client.
- (b) <u>Cooperation</u>. In the event the DEA requires additional information (including, but not limited to, purchase orders) in order to grant a sufficient Quota, Client and Halo agree to cooperate in good faith to obtain such Quota to enable manufacture of the Product. If Halo has notified Client of a shortfall in Quota, Client shall not issue Purchase Orders for a Product in excess of the DEA-approved Quota without Halo's consent. Halo and Client shall meet to discuss and agree in good faith on adjustments to the Forecast and/or Purchase Orders as a result of the DEA-approved Quota for a Product.
- **2.6** Permits. Halo shall at its own cost obtain on a timely basis and maintain all licenses, permits and approvals of Authorities, and make any required filings with Regulatory

Authorities as further specified in Section 7.7, in respect of the operation of Halo's business generally, the Manufacturing Sites, and the performance of services of the nature of the Manufacturing Services; *provided*, that Halo shall have the right to pass through to Client its *pro rata* share of (a) any applicable fees payable by Halo to any Regulatory Authority and (b) reasonable similar fees imposed on the pharmaceutical industry by Regulatory Authorities after the Effective Date, in each case to the extent specifically related to the production of the Product and not to the operation of Halo's business generally or the Manufacturing Sites generally.

# ARTICLE 3 CLIENT OBLIGATIONS

**3.1** Payment. Client shall pay Halo the fees set forth on Schedule A for the provision of Manufacturing Services (including the Price, Packaging Fee (if applicable), and the annual product review fee) and all other amounts owing pursuant to this Agreement (including in respect of Additional Services, Components, and Consumables), as specified in this Agreement.

### 3.2 **Rolling Forecasts**.

- (a) <u>Procedure</u>. Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Client shall provide Halo with a written [\*\*\*\*\*] forecast of the volume of each Product that Client anticipates it will require Halo to supply during each [\*\*\*\*\*] of that [\*\*\*\*\*] period and indicating the percentage of such Product that will require Packaging (the "Forecast"). Client shall provide Halo with an updated Forecast (i) on or before the tenth (10 h) day of each calendar month on a [\*\*\*\*\*] basis and (ii) promptly following any determination by Client that the volumes set forth in the Forecast most recently provided to Halo have changed [\*\*\*\*\*] or more.
- (b) <u>Binding Portion; Orders</u>. The first [\*\*\*\*\*] of each Forecast shall be binding on Client with respect to the quantities and Packaging presentations of Product specified therein (the "**Commitment**"), and the balance shall be a non-binding, good faith estimate. Client shall place orders for Manufacturing Services against the Forecast as specified in Article 4.
- (c) <u>Capacity Constraints</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the parties acknowledge that Halo's capacity to manufacture Product at the Manufacturing Site using the IM Machines [\*\*\*\*\*]. Accordingly, unless and until Product manufacturing [\*\*\*\*\*] is validated and/or the parties successfully introduce and validate a manufacturing process involving [\*\*\*\*\*], in no event shall Client's Forecasts or orders exceed the foregoing capacity. Following validation of manufacturing [\*\*\*\*\*] and following validation of a manufacturing process involving [\*\*\*\*\*], the parties shall discuss in good faith an increase to Client's maximum Forecast and order quantities based on Halo's capacity at the Manufacturing Site using the IM Machines.
- 3.3 Specifications. Prior to the Effective Date, Client has provided Halo with a preliminary copy of certain of the Specifications pertaining to Product. Prior to Client placing its first Firm Order, Client shall provide Halo with originally executed copies of final Specifications (it being understood that any change from the preliminary Specifications shall be subject to the following sentence) and other Product-related information reasonably requested by Halo in connection with the Manufacturing Services. Client may revise the Specifications from time to

time, so long as (i) Client provides Halo with originally executed copies of such revised Specifications, (ii) Halo and Client have complied with Section 5.4, and (iii) Halo and Client have agreed on a timeline for Halo's implementation of such change.

- 3.4 <u>Client-Supplied Materials</u>. Client shall, at its sole cost and expense, deliver the API and PEO to Halo DDP (Incoterms 2010) the Manufacturing Site in sufficient quantities and at such times as to enable Halo to timely provide the Manufacturing Services on a non-rush basis. To this end, Client shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to deliver the API and PEO on or about [\*\*\*\*\*] in advance of the date on which Product is scheduled to begin processing, which scheduled processing shall be communicated by Halo to Client in writing. Halo shall have the right to charge Client a storage fee as set forth on <u>Schedule B</u> for API or PEO delivered sooner than [\*\*\*\*\*] in advance of the date on which Product is scheduled to begin processing.
- **Packaging**. Client shall be solely responsible for the development of all artwork and labeling in connection with Product finished packaging, including all associated content and intellectual property matters. Halo shall provide copies of final labeling layouts for Client approval, which Client shall approve or provide comments on within [\*\*\*\*\*] of receipt . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if Client fails to timely approve the product labeling and as a result Halo is unable to package Product, Halo shall not be liable for any delay in delivery hereunder, and no supply failure, Supply Shortage, material breach, or similar malfeasance on the part of Halo shall be deemed to have occurred. Client may, in its sole discretion and at its cost, make changes to Product finished packaging, including labels, inserts and cartons (" **Packaging** ") and Client may also request multi-country Packaging as specified in Section 5.5; provided, that (i) Client shall be responsible for the cost of all obsolete Components held by Halo when any such Packaging changes occur to the extent Halo procured such Components consistent with Client's then-current Forecast and the vendor's minimum purchase requirements and (ii) Client shall reimburse Halo for all pre-approved, documented costs incurred by Halo (A) in making modifications to Packaging or the imprinting thereof, (B) in connection with changes to any manufacturing processes to accommodate Client's new Packaging, and/or (C) to accommodate any other Packaging changes requested by Client. Upon receipt of any request for modified Packaging, Halo shall use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to implement such new Packaging in accordance with Client's requested schedule thereof. Client shall provide Halo with any modifications to Packaging as far in advance as possible in order to ensure compliance with Applicable Laws. When requesting reimbursement of any of the foregoing costs, Halo shall invoice Client and provide reasonable supporting documentation thereof. Client shall pay such invoices within [\*\*\*\*\*] after Client's receipt thereof. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, unless Egalet agrees to pay for the cost of any such changes or capital expenditures and such changes or capital expenditures do not cause a material disruption to Halo's ability to perform services for its other customers, Halo shall not be obligated to make any changes to the Manufacturing Site or incur any capital expenditures to accommodate any Client request for modified Packaging, and Halo may refuse any request for modified Packaging to such extent.
- **3.6 Quality Control**. Client shall have sole responsibility for the release of Product to the market and for handling customer matters as contemplated by Section 6.5.

3.7 <u>Permits</u>. Client shall at its own cost obtain on a timely basis and maintain all licenses, permits and approvals of Authorities, and make any required filings with Regulatory Authorities as further specified in Section 7.7, in respect of the operation of Client's business generally, the Products and the Specifications, including, without limitation, all marketing and post-marketing approvals.

# ARTICLE 4 ORDERS, authorization to procure, SHIPMENT

#### 4.1 Orders.

- (a) <u>Purchase Orders</u>. From time to time as provided in this Section 4.1(a), Client shall submit to Halo a binding, non-cancellable purchase order for Manufacturing Services identifying an order number, the Product to be manufactured, the number of batches, the batch size (to the extent the Specifications permit batches of different sizes), Client's requested delivery date for each batch, any Packaging (including quantities to be Packaged; it being understood that any Product for which Packaging is not ordered will be bulk packaged), and any other elements necessary to ensure the timely production and delivery of Product (each, a "**Purchase Order**"). Concurrently with the submission of each Forecast, Client shall submit a Purchase Order for all portions of the Commitment not already ordered. Purchase Orders for quantities of Product or Packaging in excess of the Commitment shall be submitted by Client at least [\*\*\*\*\*] in advance of the delivery date requested in the Purchase Order.
- (b) Firm Orders. Subject to this Section 4.1(b) and Section 4.1(c) below, Halo will accept in writing each Purchase Order, including the Product, quantity, Packaging and expected delivery date, within [\*\*\*\*\*] of receipt. If Halo has not accepted or rejected a Purchase Order within [\*\*\*\*\*] of receipt, such Purchase Order shall be deemed to be accepted by Halo. If Halo is unable to meet the delivery date requested by Client in its Purchase Order, Halo shall so notify Client in Halo's acceptance of such Purchase Order and provide to Client an alternative delivery date, which shall not be more than [\*\*\*\*\*] earlier or later than the initial delivery date requested by Client in its Purchase Order. Only upon Halo's acceptance of Client-issued Purchase Orders and confirmation of a delivery date will such orders become firm (each, a "Firm Order"). Halo may change the expected delivery date of any Firm Order within a [\*\*\*\*\*] window upon written notice to Client (and without Client's prior approval). Halo may not change the quantity of Product in any Firm Order except with Client's prior written approval; provided, that Client shall accept any minor change in quantity delivered due to normal yield variation. Client may not change the quantity of Product in any Firm Order; provided, that Client may cancel any Firm Order without penalty or other liability if (i) Halo is unable to meet the delivery date requested by Client in its Firm Order [\*\*\*\*\*] or (ii) a Supply Shortage then exists.
- (c) <u>Rejection; Excess Volume</u>. Halo may reject any Purchase Order without penalty or liability to Client (i) for Product quantities or Packaging in excess of the Commitment or Halo's capacity constraints described in Section 3.2(c), (ii) if Halo has been granted a Quota for API by the DEA that is insufficient to meet such Purchase Order, or (iii) the Purchase Order is not given in accordance with this Agreement; *provided*, that with respect to clauses (i) and (ii), Halo may reject only the quantity of Product that Halo is unable to supply due to the circumstances described

in such clause (i) or (ii). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Halo shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to supply Client with quantities of Product and Packaging that are up to [\*\*\*\*\*] of Commitment quantities, subject to Halo's other supply commitments and manufacturing, packaging and equipment capacity (including as described in Section 3.2(c)).

#### 4.2 Minimum Spend.

- (a) <u>Quarterly Minimum</u>. For the first Contract Quarter (i.e., beginning January 1, 2017), Client shall purchase from Halo and/or its Affiliates an aggregate of [\*\*\*\*\*]: for the second Contract Quarter, Client shall purchase from Halo and/or its Affiliates an aggregate of at least [\*\*\*\*\*] worth of services; for the third Contract Quarter, Client shall purchase from Halo and/or its Affiliates an aggregate of at least [\*\*\*\*\*] worth of services; for the fourth Contract Quarter, Client shall purchase from Halo and/or its Affiliates an aggregate of at least [\*\*\*\*\*] worth of services; and for each Contract Quarter thereafter, Client shall purchase from Halo and/or its Affiliates an aggregate of at least [\*\*\*\*\*] worth of services (such quarterly amount, the "Quarterly Minimum"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, [\*\*\*\*\*].
- Contributing Services. Services contributing to the fulfillment of the Quarterly (b) Minimum may include (i) Manufacturing Services (i.e., for Products and/or additional products added pursuant to Section 14.2) and/or Additional Services under this Agreement and/or (ii) products or services (such as [\*\*\*\*\*] ) under other written agreements between Halo and/or any of its Affiliates, on the one hand, and any Client entity and/or any of its Affiliates, on the other hand. Amounts payable to Halo for such services contributing to the fulfillment of the Quarterly Minimum (e.g., Price and Packaging Fees under this Agreement) are collectively referred to as " **Contributing Expenses** ". Contributing Expenses shall exclude (A) pass-through costs, such as in respect of Consumables and Regulatory fees (but shall include any administrative charges assessed by Halo and/or its Affiliates on such pass-through costs), (B) amounts due from or on behalf of Client in connection with indemnity obligations, (C) amounts due from or on behalf of Client in consideration of assets, equity interests, profit shares, or similar investments, and (D) any amounts due from or on behalf of Client other than pursuant to invoices issued by Halo and/or any of its Affiliates for services rendered in the ordinary course of business. Such excluded expenses shall be invoiced and paid in accordance with this Agreement or the other applicable agreement(s) between Halo and Client and/or their respective Affiliates.
- (c) <u>True-up</u>. Within [\*\*\*\*\*] after the end of each Contract Quarter, Halo will compare the total amount of the Contributing Expenses invoiced by Halo during the Contract Quarter against the Quarterly Minimum for the same quarter. If the total amount of the Contributing Expenses is less than the Quarterly Minimum, then, except as provided in the next sentence with respect to [\*\*\*\*\*], Halo shall invoice Client for the difference between the Quarterly Minimum and the Contributing Expenses (such difference, a "**True Up Amount**"). With respect to [\*\*\*\*\*], the True Up Amount shall not be determined on a Contract Quarter basis and instead shall be determined [\*\*\*\*\*]. If, subsequent to Halo's calculation of the True Up Amount for a given Contract Quarter (or, with respect to [\*\*\*\*\*]), Client successfully disputes all or any part of a Halo invoice issued during such quarter (or for [\*\*\*\*\*]) or if a Halo invoice issued during such quarter (or for [\*\*\*\*\*]) is otherwise reduced, Halo shall have the right to review the Contributing Expenses and the Quarterly Minimum for such Contract Quarter (or [\*\*\*\*\*]). To the extent Halo

would have been entitled to a greater True Up Amount had the invoice originally been issued for the reduced amount, then Halo shall be entitled to invoice Client for such incremental True Up Amount. Additionally, to the extent Client successfully disputes Halo's calculation of the True Up Amount and that results in a lower True Up Amount, then Halo promptly shall refund to Client any overpayment by Client of the True Up Amount.

(d) <u>Reduction in Quarterly Minimums</u>. The Parties agree to use their respective commercially reasonable best efforts to cease the dedication of the Machine Space referred to as the IMS1 and for Client to vacate the IMSI space as soon as reasonably practicable, but in no event without the written consent of Client relinquishing such IMS1 Machine Space to Halo. Once vacated (the "**Forfeit Date**"), the Quarterly Minimum (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the total monthly Additional Service fee payable under Section 2.1(b)(vi)(B) in respect of the Machine Space) shall be reduced by [\*\*\*\*\*].

### 4.3 Authorization to Procure.

- (a) Reliance on Forecast. Client understands and acknowledges that Halo will rely on the Forecast, Commitment and Firm Orders to procure Components necessary for Halo to fulfill its obligations to supply Product under this Agreement. In addition, Client understands that to ensure an orderly supply of such Components, it may be desirable for Halo to purchase such Components in sufficient volumes to meet the anticipated requirements for Products set forth in part or all of the Forecast or such longer period as Halo and Client may agree. Accordingly, Client authorizes Halo to purchase Components sufficient to satisfy Client's Product and Packaging requirements set forth in the [\*\*\*\*\*] of the Forecast most recently provided by Client to Halo pursuant to Section 3.1 and such longer period as Halo and Client may agree in writing from time to time. If Components ordered by Halo as permitted by this Section 4.3(a) are not included in Products manufactured for Client within [\*\*\*\*\*] after the Forecasted month in respect of which such purchases were made (or such longer period as Halo and Client may agree) or if such Components have expired during such period, Client shall reimburse Halo its documented costs for procuring and testing such items.
- (b) Exclusive Components. Halo shall provide Client with a list substantially in the form set forth on Schedule E (the "Exclusive Components Purchasing Summary") of all Components unique to Client or Product that Halo expects to purchase pursuant to Section 2.1(b)(iii) ("Exclusive Components"), in keeping with the Product volumes set forth in the then-current Forecast, Commitment and Firm Orders. Halo shall provide a preliminary Exclusive Components Purchasing Summary following execution of this Agreement, a revised version following receipt of final Specifications, and thereafter an updated version on an annual basis. The Exclusive Components Purchasing Summary shall indicate which Exclusive Components have a limited shelf life and which are subject to minimum order quantities as specified by the vendor. Client shall reimburse Halo its documented costs for procuring and testing all Exclusive Components purchased by Halo for use under this Agreement that are not used to perform Manufacturing Services prior to the expiry of the Exclusive Component's shelf life.
- (c) <u>Reimbursement</u>. Reimbursement from Client under this Section 4.3 shall be due, where applicable, within [\*\*\*\*\*] after Halo provides written notice to Client that the relevant

Component has expired. Halo shall deliver to Client documentation reasonably sufficient to support the amount of such reimbursement; *provided*, that Halo shall not be obligated to provide specific pricing information regarding any Component that is subject to confidentiality obligations between Halo and its vendor. In respect of any unused, but unexpired, Components reimbursed by Client hereunder, to the extent such Components are incorporated into Product subsequent to such reimbursement, Halo will credit Client for the amount reimbursed to Halo under this Section 4.3.

(d) <u>Delay</u>. Halo shall not be liable for any delay in delivery of Product if (i) Halo is unable to obtain any Component in a timely manner and (ii) Halo placed orders for such Component in keeping with this Section 4.3. In the event that any Component becomes subject to purchase lead time beyond [\*\*\*\*\*], Halo and Client will negotiate in good faith an appropriate amendment to Section 4.3(a).

## 4.4 **Shipment**.

- (a) <u>Risk of Loss and Title</u>. Halo shall ship Product to Client or its designee FCA (Incoterms 2010) the Manufacturing Site promptly following Client's authorization to ship pursuant to Section 5.6. Risk of loss of Product shall remain with Halo until Halo loads Product onto the carrier's vehicle for shipment at the shipping point, at which time risk of loss shall transfer to Client. To the extent not already held by Client, title to Product shall transfer to Client concurrently with risk of loss.
- (b) Packing and Transport. Halo shall pack and label shipping containers in accordance with Applicable Law and transport guidelines, the Specifications, and Client's written instructions (to the extent not inconsistent with any of the foregoing). At Client's request and expense, merely as a convenience for Client and without any liability accruing to Halo whatsoever (including in respect of damage in transit, delivery issues, storage/shipping condition issues or export/import issues), Halo shall reasonably cooperate with Client to facilitate, as agent for Client, (i) making shipping arrangements and/or (ii) obtaining export licences or other official authorizations necessary to export the Products, such as customs clearance. Client shall arrange for insurance and shall select the freight carrier to be used to ship Products.
- (c) <u>Delay</u>. Halo shall not be liable for any delay in delivery of Product as a result of the matters described in clauses (1), (3) and (5) of Section 2.4(a).

# ARTICLE 5 PRICING, COSTS, invoicing and payment

**5.1** Initial Period Fees. Each Price and Packaging Fee set forth on Schedule A is valid from the Effective Date until [\*\*\*\*\*]; provided, that Halo reserves the right to revise the Price and Packaging Fee, subject to reasonable negotiation between the parties, if commercial manufacturing has not commenced under this Agreement within [\*\*\*\*\*] of the Effective Date. Halo also reserves the right to revise the Price and Packaging Fee if this Agreement is substantially amended after the Effective Date, subject to Client's written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

- **Subsequent Year Fee Adjustments**. Effective on [\*\*\*\*\*], each of the Price and Packaging Fee shall be adjusted to reflect (i) [\*\*\*\*\*], and (ii) [\*\*\*\*\*], so as to pass on to Client the actual amount of any increase or decrease in such costs. Halo shall provide in writing to Client by November 1 of each Year the updated Price and Packaging Fee for the subsequent Year, with appropriate supporting documentation; *provided*, that Halo may redact confidential portions of any supporting documents subject to obligations of confidentiality between Halo and its vendors. Such revised fee shall be effective with respect to any Product delivered by Halo after the end of the then current Year.
- 5.3 Current Year Fee Adjustments. During any Year of this Agreement, the Price and Packaging Fee shall be adjusted in accordance with this Section 5.3 to reflect extraordinary increases or decreases in Component costs due to market conditions. A material change shall be deemed to have occurred if: (i) the cost of a given Component increases or decreases by [\*\*\*\*\*] or more of the cost for that Component upon which the most recent fee quote was based; or (ii) the aggregate cost for all Components of a given Product increases or decreases by [\*\*\*\*\*] or more of the total Component costs for such Product upon which the most recent fee quote was based. To the extent that a Price or Packaging Fee has been previously adjusted pursuant to Section 5.2 or this Section 5.3 to reflect an increase or decrease in the cost of one or more Components, the adjustments provided for in clauses (i) and (ii) above shall operate based on the costs attributed to such Component(s) at the time the last such adjustment was made. Halo shall provide in writing to Client the revised Price and/or Packaging Fee, with documentation to support both Halo's normal forecasted cost and new materially changed cost; provided, that Halo may redact confidential portions of any supporting documents subject to obligations of confidentiality between Halo and its vendors. Such revised Price and/or Packaging Fee shall be effective with respect to any Product delivered by Halo on or after the first day of the month following Client's receipt of Halo's notice.

# 5.4 <u>Fee Adjustments Due to Technical Changes and Productivity Improvements</u>.

- (a) <u>Technical Changes</u>. Amendments to a Product's master batch record, Specifications or the applicable Quality Agreement requested by either Halo or Client will be implemented only following a technical and cost review by the parties, and are subject to Client and Halo reaching agreement on appropriate revisions to the Price and/or Packaging Fee and any other impacted fees under this Agreement. If Halo and Client agree to proceed with such amendment and Client accepts a proposed fee revision, Halo shall implement the proposed change on the agreed timeframe, and the revised fee shall apply only to Products that are manufactured under the amended master batch record, Specifications or Quality Agreement, as applicable. In addition, Client shall purchase from Halo any Inventory rendered obsolete as a result of such amendment based on the procedure described in Section 8.4(c), subject to the last sentence of Section 8.4.
- (b) <u>Productivity Improvements</u>. Halo and Client will reasonably cooperate in continuous improvement initiatives designed to reduce Product costs. A cost reduction measure is one that reduces the internal costs or out-of-pocket expenses of either Halo or Client. If Client provides to Halo an asset or mechanism by which to reduce Product costs (e.g., Intellectual Property or capital investment, including [\*\*\*\*\*]), then Halo shall pass through to Client all of

the resulting net cost savings (net of implementation costs). If Halo provides an asset or mechanism by which to reduce Product costs, then Halo and Client shall share equally the resulting net cost savings. Halo and Client shall negotiate in good faith an appropriate vehicle for any such net cost reduction pass-through or sharing, such as a one-time payment by Halo to Client, a reduction in Price or Packaging Fee, etc. For avoidance of doubt, any on-going method improvements adopted by Halo independently as part of its internal continuous improvement initiatives in the ordinary course shall not be subject to this Section 5.4(b). Nothing in this Section 5.4(b) shall be construed to require Halo to disclose its confidential financial information or to grant any access to its financial books and records (other than in its sole discretion, or to a Regulatory Authority in connection with Section 7.2), nor to perform at no cost to Client any work that otherwise would comprise an Additional Service subject to payment by Client hereunder.

5.5 <u>Multi-Country Packaging Requirements</u>. If and when Client decides that it wishes to have Halo provide Manufacturing Services in respect of Product for countries in addition to those countries that then comprise the Territory, Client shall inform Halo of the Packaging requirements for each additional country and Halo shall prepare a quotation for consideration by Client of the relevant Packaging Fee and any revised Component costs and changeover fees for Product destined for each additional country. The agreed additional Packaging requirements and related Packaging Fee, costs and changeover fees shall be set out in a written amendment to this Agreement as contemplated by Section 14.2.

#### 5.6 <u>Invoicing</u>.

- (a) <u>Submission</u>. Invoices shall be sent by fax or email to such fax number or email address as Client may provide to Halo in writing from time to time.
- (b) <u>Product Invoices</u>. Halo shall invoice Client for the Price and any applicable Packaging Fee for Product on the date on which Halo notifies Client that the applicable Product is released by Halo's quality assurance department. Each Product invoice shall, to the extent applicable, identify Client's Purchase Order number, Product batch numbers, names and quantities, Price, Packaging Fee, freight charges and the total amount to be remitted by Client. Halo shall also submit to Client with each shipment of Product an invoice covering such shipment.
- (c) Other Invoices. Halo shall invoice Client for all other fees due under this Agreement (including in connection with True Up Amounts, Additional Services, Components, and Consumables) as and when appropriate, including any credits under such invoices. Any fees assessed on an annual basis will be invoiced as of the first day of each Year. Each such invoice shall reference this Agreement and identify in reasonable detail the nature of the charges therein.
- **5.7 Payment Terms**. Client shall pay all invoiced amounts that are not subject to a good faith dispute by Client in full within [\*\*\*\*\*] following the applicable invoice date. Client shall make payment in U.S. dollars, and otherwise as directed in the applicable invoice. For amounts that are subject to a good faith dispute or in respect of invoices for Product that has been rejected by Client in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 6.1, Client shall pay, within [\*\*\*\*\*] after resolution of such dispute, any amounts agreed to be due from Client pursuant

to such resolution, together with interest as provided in <u>Section 5.8</u> from the original due date of such amounts to the date of the actual payment.

- **5.8** Interest. If any payment is not received by Halo by its due date, Halo may, in addition to any other remedies available at equity or in law, charge interest on the outstanding sum from the due date (both before and after any judgment) at [\*\*\*\*\*] (or, if less, the maximum amount permitted by Applicable Laws) until paid in full.
- **5.9** Taxes. All taxes, duties and other amounts assessed by any Authority (excluding tax based on net income and franchise taxes) on API, PEO, Manufacturing Services or Product are the responsibility of Client, and Client shall reimburse Halo for all such taxes, duties and amounts paid by Halo to any Authority (or such sums will be added to invoices directed at Client, where applicable).

# ARTICLE 6 PRODUCT CLAIMS AND RECALLS

#### 6.1 Product Claims.

- (a) <u>Product Claims</u>. Client has the right to reject any portion of any shipment of Product that is alleged not to be Conforming Product (" **Non-Conforming Product** ") without invalidating any remainder of such shipment. Client shall inspect Product supplied by Halo upon receipt thereof and shall give Halo written notice (a " **Deficiency Notice** ") of all claims that Product is Non-Conforming Product within [\*\*\*\*\*] after Client's receipt thereof (or, in the case of Latent Defects, within [\*\*\*\*\*] after discovery thereof by Client, but in no event after the expiration date of the Product), together with a sample of the Non-Conforming Product. Should Client fail to provide Halo with the Deficiency Notice within the applicable [\*\*\*\*\*] period, then the Product shall be deemed to have been accepted by Client as of the [\*\*\*\*\*] after delivery or discovery, as applicable, and Halo shall have no liability therefor.
- (b) <u>Evaluation</u>. Upon receipt of a Deficiency Notice, Halo shall have [\*\*\*\*\*] to advise Client in writing that it disagrees with the Deficiency Notice. If Client and Halo fail to agree within [\*\*\*\*\*] after Halo's disagreement notice as to whether any Products identified in the Deficiency Notice are Non-Conforming Product, then Halo and Client shall mutually select an independent laboratory or qualified person, as appropriate, to evaluate whether such Products are Non-Conforming Product and the cause of any non-conformity. Such evaluation shall be binding on the parties. If such evaluation confirms that such Products are Non-Conforming Products or if Halo does not disagree with the Deficiency Notice, such Products shall be deemed properly rejected under this Section 6.1, and Halo shall bear the expenses associated with the evaluation, if any. If such evaluation determines that Product is Conforming Product, Client shall be deemed to have accepted delivery of such Products on the [\*\*\*\*\*] after delivery (or, in the case of any defects not reasonably susceptible to discovery upon receipt of the Product, on the [\*\*\*\*\*] after discovery thereof by Client, but in no event after the expiration date of the Product), and Client shall bear the expenses associated with such evaluation.

(c) <u>Shortage</u>. Claims for shortages in the quantity of Products shipped by Halo shall be dealt with as may reasonably be agreed to by Halo and Client in the ordinary course of business.

### 6.2 **Product Recalls**.

- (a) Records and Notice. Halo and Client shall each maintain such records as may be necessary to permit a Recall of any Product delivered to Client or customers of Client. Each of Halo and Client shall promptly notify the other by telephone (to be confirmed in writing) of any notification, event or other information, whether received directly or indirectly, that might affect the marketability, safety or effectiveness of any Product and/or that might result in a Recall of any API, PEO or Product. The decision to initiate a Recall or to take some other corrective action, if any, shall be made and implemented by Client.
- (b) <u>Recalls</u>. In the event (i) any Authority issues a directive, order or, following the issuance of a safety warning or alert with respect to a Product, a written request that any Product be Recalled, (ii) a court of competent jurisdiction orders such a Recall, or (iii) Client determines that any Product should be Recalled, Halo will co-operate as reasonably requested by Client, having regard to all Applicable Laws.

## 6.3 <u>Halo's Responsibility for Non-Conforming and Recalled Product</u>.

- (a) Non-Conforming Product. In the event Client rejects Products in accordance with Section 6.1 and defect in Non-Conforming Product is determined to have arisen primarily from Halo's failure to provide the Manufacturing Services in accordance with the Specifications, Applicable Laws (including cGMPs) and the Quality Agreement ("Non-Compliant Services"), Halo will, at Client's election either (i) credit Client's account for (A) the invoiced Price for such Non-Conforming Products, plus (B) the invoiced Packaging Fee, if any, for such Non-Conforming Products, plus (C) the API incorporated in such Non-Conforming Product at the API Cost (subject to the Maximum API Credit Value), plus (D) the PEO incorporated in such Non-Conforming Product at the PEO Cost (subject to the Maximum PEO Credit Value), plus, the reasonable transportation costs incurred by Client in respect of all of the foregoing, or (ii) replace such Non-Conforming Products with Conforming Products, contingent upon the receipt from Client of API and PEO necessary for the manufacture of such replacement Products, for which Halo shall pay Client at the API Cost (subject to the Maximum API Credit Value) and the PEO Cost (subject to the Maximum PEO Credit Value), respectively.
- (b) <u>Recalled Product Not Attributed to Halo Actions</u>. Halo shall not be responsible for any aspect of any Recall (including costs), and shall be entitled to full payment for all Product delivered, if a Recall is due to reasons that cannot be primarily attributed to Halo's Non-Compliant Services. Client shall reimburse Halo for all reasonable and documented out of pocket costs and expenses incurred by Halo in assisting Client, as may be reasonably requested by Client, in investigating any such Recall.
- (c) <u>Recalled Product Attributed to Halo Actions</u>. In the event of any Recall arising out of or resulting from Halo's Non-Compliant Services, Halo shall reimburse Client for all reasonable

and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Client in conducting such Recall and, at Client's election, either:

- (i) credit Client's account for (A) the invoiced Price for such Recalled Product, plus (B) the invoiced Packaging Fee, if any, for such Recalled Product, plus (C) the API incorporated in such Recalled Product at the API Cost (subject to the Maximum API Credit Value), plus (D) the PEO incorporated in such Recalled Product at the PEO Cost (subject to the Maximum PEO Credit Value); plus, the reasonable transportation costs incurred by Client and not otherwise recovered by Client in respect of such Recalled Product; or
- (ii) replace such Recalled Products with Conforming Products, contingent upon the receipt from Client of API and PEO necessary for the manufacture of such replacement Products, for which Halo shall pay Client at the API Cost (subject to the Maximum API Credit Value) and the PEO Cost (subject to the Maximum PEO Credit Value), respectively.
- (d) <u>Limitations</u>. For avoidance of doubt, Halo shall have no obligation for or in connection with Non-Conforming Product or Recalled Product if any deficiencies in, or other liabilities associated with (and the parties expressly acknowledge and agree that it shall not be deemed to be Non-Compliant Services if), such Non-Conforming Product or Recalled Product [\*\*\*\*\*].
- 6.4 <u>Disposition of Non-Conforming Products</u>. Client shall not, without Halo's prior written consent, dispose of any Non-Conforming Products in relation to which it intends to assert a claim against Halo. Halo shall bear the cost of disposition with respect to Non-Conforming Products in relation to which it bears responsibility under Section 6.3. In all other circumstances, Client shall bear the cost of such disposition.
- 6.5 <u>Customer Questions and Complaints</u>. Client shall have the sole responsibility for responding to questions and complaints from Client's customers and for handling customer returns of Product. Questions or complaints received by Halo from Client's customers shall be promptly referred to Client in writing or by any reasonable means, including but not limited to Client's Adverse Event Hotline at [\*\*\*\*\*] or as referenced in the Quality Agreement. Halo shall cooperate and provide such information as reasonably required to allow Client to determine the cause of, respond to, and resolve any customer questions and complaints. Unless it is determined that the cause of any customer complaint is Non-Compliant Services, all costs incurred by Halo under this Section 6.5 shall be borne by Client.
- 6.6 Sole Remedy. Except for Halo's indemnity obligations under Section 10.3(a) and subject to the limitations set forth in this Agreement (including Sections 10.1 and 10.2), the remedies described in this Article 6 shall be Client's sole remedy for any Non-Conforming Product and/or Non-Compliant Services. In addition, to the extent Client elects the remedy set forth in Section 6.3(c) in connection with Recalled Product, Client may not also elect the remedy set forth in Section 6.3(a) for Non-Conforming Product.

# ARTICLE 7 COOPERATION

- **7.1** Quarterly Review. Promptly following execution of this Agreement, Halo and Client shall appoint one of its employees to be a relationship manager responsible for liaison between the parties. The relationship managers shall meet not less than quarterly to review the current status of the business relationship and manage any issues that have arisen.
- Communication with Authorities . Subject to Section 7.7, Halo may 7.2 communicate with any Authority, including any Regulatory Authority, regarding Product if, in the opinion of Halo's counsel, such communication is necessary to comply with the terms of this Agreement or the requirements of any Applicable Law; provided, that unless, in the reasonable opinion of Halo's counsel, there is a legal prohibition against doing so, Halo shall permit Client to accompany and take part in any communications with the Regulatory Authority regarding Product, and to receive copies of all such communications from the Regulatory Authority regarding Product. Unless not permitted by Applicable Law, Halo shall provide notice to Client within [\*\*\*\*\*] of any communications received from any Regulatory Authority that relate to, or have the potential to affect, the Manufacturing Services. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to limit Client's ability to communicate with any Authority, including any Regulatory Authority, concerning the Products; provided, that to the extent such communication pertains to the Manufacturing Services, unless, in the reasonable opinion of Client's counsel, there is a legal prohibition against doing so, Client can request and shall permit Halo to accompany and take part in communications with the Regulatory Authority regarding Manufacturing Services, and Client will provide Halo with copies of all communications from the Regulatory Authority regarding Manufacturing Services.
- **Records and Accounting by Halo**. Halo shall keep materially complete and accurate records of the manufacture, testing, storage, and shipping of Product, including master batch records, completed batch records, quality control documentation and results for all acceptance tests performed (collectively, "**Records**") and retain samples of Product as necessary to comply with Applicable Law, as well as to assist with resolving Product complaints and other similar investigations. Copies of Records and samples shall be retained for a period of [\*\*\*\*\*], or longer if required by Applicable Law, at which time Client will be consulted prior to any decisions concerning the delivery and destruction of such Records, subject to Section 14.3.
- 7.4 Inspection. Halo shall permit Client or Client's designee to inspect once annually, and any other time at which Client has reasonable cause, that portion of the Manufacturing Site where Product is manufactured and review such Records as are reasonably necessary for the purpose of assessing Halo's compliance with the Specifications and Applicable Laws, including cGMPs. Such inspection and Records review shall be conducted upon reasonable prior notice by Client (which, in the case of annual inspections, shall be not less than [\*\*\*\*\*] prior to the proposed inspection; and in the case of any inspection for which Client has reasonable cause, shall be on reasonably in advance of the proposed inspection), at a time during normal business hours and on a date mutually agreeable to Halo and Client, and shall be coordinated by the relationship managers appointed under Section 7.1. A Halo representative shall be present at all times during any such

inspection, and Client's representatives conducting such audit shall comply with Halo's standard procedures while on-site.

- within [\*\*\*\*\*] of learning of any inspections by any Regulatory Authority, and if such inspection specifically involves any Product, Client shall have the right to attend any such inspection. Halo shall furnish to Client (a) within [\*\*\*\*\*] after receipt, any report or correspondence issued by the FDA or other Regulatory Authority in connection with such inspection, including, but not limited to, any FDA Form 483 (list of Inspectional Observations) or applicable portions of any FDA Warning Letters that pertain to the Product in the Territory, and (b) not later than [\*\*\*\*\*] prior to the time it provides to the FDA or other Regulatory Authority, copies of proposed responses or explanations relating to items set forth above (each, a "Proposed Response"), in each case redacted of trade secrets or other confidential or proprietary information of Halo that are unrelated to its obligations under this Agreement or to Product. Halo shall discuss with Client and consider in good faith any comments provided by Client on the Proposed Response. After the filing of a response with the FDA or other Regulatory Authority, Halo shall notify Client and provide Client with copies of any further contacts with such Regulatory Authority relating to the subject matter of the response.
- Product data in its control (including release test results, complaint test results, and all investigations in manufacturing, testing and storage) that Client reasonably requires in order to complete any filing required by any Regulatory Authority, including an annual report within the meaning of 21 C.F.R. § 314.81(b)(2). At Client's request, Halo will provide Client with a copy of the annual product review report within the meaning of 21 C.F.R. § 211.180(e). Any additional reports requested by Client beyond the scope of cGMPs and customary requirements of Regulatory Authorities shall be subject to an additional fee to be agreed upon between Halo and Client.

#### 7.7 Regulatory Filings.

- (a) Regulatory Authority. Client shall have the sole responsibility for filing all Product-specific documents with all Regulatory Authorities and taking any other actions that may be required for the receipt and/or maintenance of Regulatory Authority approval for the commercial manufacture of the Products. Halo shall assist Client, to the extent consistent with Halo's obligations under this Agreement, to obtain Regulatory Authority approval for the commercial manufacture of all Products as quickly as reasonably possible. In addition to its obligations pursuant to Section 2.5, Halo shall have the sole responsibility for filing all documents with Regulatory Authorities and taking any other actions that may be required for the receipt and/or maintenance of Regulatory Authority licensure of the Manufacturing Sites, including such licenses as may be required to perform services generally of the nature of the Manufacturing Services.
- (b) <u>Verification of Data</u>. At least [\*\*\*\*\*] prior to filing in connection with obtaining regulatory approval of the Products any documents with any Regulatory Authority that incorporate data generated by Halo, Client shall provide Halo with a copy of the documents incorporating such data so as to give Halo the opportunity to verify the accuracy of such documents as they relate to

the Halo generated data. Upon completion of the review, Halo shall return or destroy any and all documents related to its review as instructed by Client.

- (c) <u>Verification of CMC</u>. At least [\*\*\*\*\*] prior to filing with any Regulatory Authority any documentation which is or is equivalent to the FDA's Chemistry and Manufacturing Controls ("CMC") related to any marketing authorization, such as a New Drug Application or Abbreviated New Drug Application, Client shall provide Halo with a copy of the CMC documents which have relied upon Halo data for preparation. Such disclosure shall permit Halo to verify that the CMC accurately describes the work that Halo has performed and the manufacturing processes that Halo will perform pursuant to this Agreement. Client shall provide Halo with copies of those sections of FDA filings at the time of submission that contain chemistry, manufacturing and controls information derived from Halo data regarding the Product. Such copies and FDA filings shall constitute Client's Confidential Information.
- (d) <u>Deficiencies</u>. If, acting reasonably, Halo determines that any of the information provided by Client in accordance with clause (b) or (c) above is inaccurate or deficient, Halo shall notify Client in writing of such matter within [\*\*\*\*\*] of receipt of documents from Client. The parties shall work together to have such matters resolved prior to Client's submission to the Regulatory Authority; *provided*, that Client shall have the final decision as to inclusion of any information in such submissions so long as such information does not obligate Halo to pay any money or perform any task or obligation beyond the Manufacturing Services provided for hereunder.
- **Quality Agreement** . If Halo and Client have executed a Quality Agreement prior to the Effective Date, it shall be attached hereto as Schedule H (and if such Quality Agreement is by only one or two of the entities included in the term "Client", then, by signing this Agreement, each Client entity who is not party to such Quality Agreement hereby agrees that such Quality Agreement applies equally to it for purposes of this Agreement). If Halo and Client have not executed a Quality Agreement prior to the Effective Date, a form of Quality Agreement shall be attached hereto as Schedule H and, as soon as reasonably practicable after the signing of this Agreement (and in any event prior to Halo's performance of any Manufacturing Services). Halo and Client shall negotiate in good faith and enter into a Quality Agreement in such form and that reflects the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Following signature of such Quality Agreement, the parties shall replace the form at Schedule H with such executed Quality Agreement. The Quality Agreement shall in no way determine financial responsibility of the parties for the responsibilities set forth therein. In the event of a conflict between any of the provisions of this Agreement and the Quality Agreement with respect to quality-related activities, including compliance with cGMPs, the provisions of the Quality Agreement shall govern. In the event of a conflict between any of the provisions of this Agreement and the Quality Agreement with respect to any commercial matters, including allocation of risk, liability and financial responsibility, the provisions of this Agreement shall govern.

27

[\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

# ARTICLE 8 TERM AND TERMINATION

8.1 Term. This Agreement shall become effective as of the Effective Date and shall continue for five (5) Years from the date of Client's first Firm Order ("Initial Term"), unless terminated earlier by Halo or Client in accordance with Section 8.2. The Initial Term shall automatically renew for successive terms of two (2) Years each (each, a "Renewal Term", and together with the Initial Term, the "Term") unless either Halo or Client gives written notice to the other of its intention to terminate this Agreement at least six (6) months prior to the end of the thencurrent Initial Term or Renewal Term, as applicable.

## **Early Termination**.

- Breach. Either Halo or Client may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to (a) the other party effective immediately if such other has failed to remedy a material breach of this Agreement within thirty (30) calendar days following receipt of a written notice that describes the material breach in reasonable detail and expressly states that it is a notice under this Section 8.2(a), provided, however, if the material breach cannot be cured within thirty (30) calendar days, then if the material breach is capable of being cured and the defaulting party substantially commences in good faith the cure within twenty (20) calendar days after receipt of the written notice of material breach and completes the cure within sixty (60) days from receipt of such written notice, then the non-defaulting party shall not be permitted to terminate this Agreement as a result of such material breach. If the defaulting Party is solely Halo, then the Requirements Obligation under Section 2.1 shall be waived for the foregoing thirty (30) and sixty (60) day periods, the Quarterly Minimum shall be reduced on a pro rata basis for the foregoing thirty (30) and sixty (60) day periods, and Halo will reimburse Client for any reasonable, out-of-pocket costs actually incurred by Client to itself fulfill or have fulfilled Manufacturing Services under Article 2 during such periods in which the Requirements Obligation is waived.
- (b) <u>Bankruptcy</u>. Either Halo or Client may terminate this Agreement immediately without further action (including without any written notice to the other) in the event that (i) any one of the entities included in the term "Client" or Halo, respectively, is declared insolvent or bankrupt by a court of competent jurisdiction, and such declaration or order remains in effect for a period of sixty (60) days, (ii) a voluntary petition of bankruptcy is filed in any court of competent jurisdiction by any one of the entities included in the term "Client" or Halo, respectively, or (iii) this Agreement is assigned by any one of the entities included in the term "Client" or Halo, respectively, for the benefit of creditors.
- (c) <u>Regulatory Considerations</u>. Client may terminate this Agreement as to any Product and applicable portion of the Territory upon thirty (30) days' prior written notice to Halo in the event that (i) any Regulatory Authority takes any action or raises any objection that prevents Client from importing, exporting, purchasing or selling such Product in all or part of the Territory, or (ii) subject to Section 8.3, Client elects to discontinue selling or otherwise withdraws from the market such Product in all or part of the Territory.

- (d) <u>Force Majeure</u>. Either Halo or Client may terminate this Agreement upon written notice as permitted by Section 14.1 (Force Majeure).
- **8.3 Product Discontinuation**. Client shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide at least [\*\*\*\*\*] advance notice to Halo if it intends to no longer order Manufacturing Services for a Product due to its election to discontinue or otherwise withdraw from the market any Product in all or part of the Territory.
- **8.4 Obligations on Termination**. If this Agreement expires or is terminated in whole or in part for any reason, then, in addition to the applicable terms of Section 8.5:
- (a) <u>Work in Process</u>. At Client's election, Halo shall either (i) complete any Product that is a work in process, which Product shall be subject to Section 8.4(b), or (ii) or cease such work and transfer such work in process into storage containers, which work in process shall be subject to Section 8.4(c); it being understood that if Client fails to timely make such an election or if termination is by Halo under Section 8.2(a) or 8.2(b), clause (ii) above shall automatically apply;
- (b) <u>Product</u>. Client shall take delivery of and pay for, at the Price and Packaging Fee in effect at the time, all completed, undelivered Conforming Product that Halo has produced pursuant to a Firm Order;
- (c) <u>Inventory</u>. Except in the event of termination of this Agreement for Halo's uncured material breach, Client shall purchase, at Halo's cost, all Inventory then in stock or that is later delivered by a Third Party vendor pursuant to non-cancellable orders, and shall reimburse Halo for any cancellation fees assessed by Third Party vendors for Inventory orders that are cancellable; *provided*, that Halo provides to Client, upon reasonable request, copies of vendor purchase orders and/or contracts to support Halo's assertion that an order is non-cancellable; *provided further*, that Halo may redact confidential portions of any such supporting documents pursuant to obligations of confidentiality between Halo and the applicable vendor.
- (d) <u>Client-Supplied Materials</u>. Halo shall return to Client all unused API and PEO, and deliver to Client all Inventory paid for by Client pursuant to clause (c) above;
- (e) <u>Records and Samples</u>. Halo shall maintain reserve samples and batch production records in accordance with Applicable Law;
- (f) <u>Stability</u>. At Client's election, Halo shall either (i) continue to perform any ongoing stability testing or (ii) ship the stability samples to Client; it being understood that if Client fails to timely make such an election or if termination is by Halo under Section 8.2(a) or 8.2(b), clause (ii) above shall automatically apply;
- (g) <u>Technology Transfer</u>. At Client's request and so long as Client is not in breach of Article 11, Halo shall permit Third Parties to access to the Manufacturing Sites for purposes of effecting a technology transfer of Client's Product and Specifications, subject to Halo's prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld ( *provided*, that if Client is in breach of Article 11, but not in material breach of Article 11, then the foregoing right of qualified access

shall be limited to Third Parties that are not direct competitors of Halo (i.e., a North America-based contract manufacturing organizations)); and

<u>Ouarterly Minimum</u>. If termination occurs prior to the end of the Initial Term and (h) such termination is by Halo under Section 8.2(a), 8.2(b), or 8.2(d) or by Client under Section 8.2(c) (except where the basis for such termination is the result of an action or objection by a Regulatory Authority that is not due to the fault of Client (e.g., if a Regulatory prohibits the sale of opioid products)), Client shall pay Halo an amount equal to (i) if termination is not concurrent with the end of a Contract Quarter, the amount that would have been due from Client to Halo under Section 4.2 if the Agreement had remained in effect through the end of the then-current Contract Quarter and Client had ordered no more Product during the then-current Contract Quarter plus (ii) the amount that would have been due from Client to Halo under Section 4.2 for each remaining full Contract Quarter of the Initial Term, but not to exceed [\*\*\*\*\*], if the Agreement had remained in effect through the end of the Initial Term and Client had not ordered any Product during any such Contract Quarter. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, payment by Client of the amounts set forth in this Section 8.4(h) shall constitute Halo's sole and exclusive remedy for termination of this Agreement by Halo under Section 8.2(a), 8.2(b), or 8.2(d) or by Client under Section 8.2(c) (subject to the other provisions of this Section 8.4);

with any costs incurred by Halo to comply with the obligations in the foregoing clauses (a) - (h), including shipping and related expenses, to be borne by Client, except in the event of termination of this Agreement by Client pursuant to Section 8.2(a) or 8.2(d), in which case Halo shall bear all such expenses. In lieu of taking possession of any of the materials described in clause (b), (c) or (d) above, Client may direct Halo to destroy such items, which Halo shall cause to be done at Client's cost except as provided in the preceding sentence.

8.5 Survival. Any termination or expiration of this Agreement shall not affect any obligations or payments due hereunder and outstanding as of the date of such termination or expiration, nor shall it prejudice any other rights or remedies that a party may have under this Agreement. Notwithstanding any termination or expiration of this Agreement for any reason, the parties' rights and obligations under the following provisions shall survive and continue in effect in accordance with their respective terms: Sections 2.1(b)(vi)(D), 3.6, 5.6 - 5.9, 7.3, 8.4, 8.5 and 9.4, and Articles 6, 10, 11, 12 (excluding Section 12.1(b)), 13 and 14.

# ARTICLE 9 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

**9.1** Authority. Each party represents and warrants to the other that (a) it has the full right and authority to enter into this Agreement, (b) it is in good standing in its jurisdiction of organization and all jurisdictions in which it operates, (c) the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of such its obligations hereunder do not conflict with, or constitute a default or require any consent under, any contractual obligation of such party, and (d) it will comply with all Applicable Laws in performing its obligations under this Agreement.

30

Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

- (a) to the best of Client's knowledge, the preliminary copy of the Specifications provided by Client to Halo further to Section 3.3 is true and accurate in all material respects, and, to the best of Client's knowledge, there will be no material change to such Specifications;
- (b) it shall at all times comply with all material Applicable Laws relating to its activities under this Agreement, and in particular (i) all Product delivered to Client by Halo hereunder shall be held, used, distributed, sold and otherwise disposed of by or on behalf of Client in accordance with all Applicable Laws and (ii) all artwork, the content of all Packaging, and all other Specifications delivered by or on behalf of Client to Halo for use in the Manufacturing Services shall comply with Applicable Law;
- (c) it owns or is licensed (with the right to sublicense to Halo) to all right, title and interest in and to all Intellectual Property rights relating to the Product (other than Halo's Intellectual Property) provided by Client to Halo for use in connection with providing Manufacturing Services, and such Intellectual Property (i) may lawfully be used by Halo in connection with providing Manufacturing Services and (ii) so long as Halo uses such Intellectual Property solely as contemplated by this Agreement, such use, to the best of Client's knowledge, does not and will not infringe, violate or misuse any Third Party Rights;
- (d) to the best of Client's knowledge, the manufacture of the Product in accordance with the Specifications, and the use of the API and PEO in the Product in the Territory, do not and will not infringe, violate or misuse any applicable United States or foreign Third Party Rights, and it has no knowledge of any actual or threatened claims, actions or proceedings alleging the infringement, violation or misuse of any Third Party Rights in connection with the manufacture of the Product or the use of the API or PEO in the Product in the Territory; and
- (e) Client shall have contractually required its suppliers of API and PEO provided to Halo hereunder to have been manufactured in accordance with Applicable Law, including cGMPs, and at the time of delivery under Section 3.4 to meet all applicable Specifications and not be adulterated, misbranded or mislabeled within the meaning of Applicable Laws;
- (f) the Injection Molding Machines are of a size, design capacity, and manufacture selected by Client, and as of the Effective Date the IM Machines are (i) suitable for Client's purposes, (ii) sufficient to produce the quantities of Product that Client expects to order hereunder subject to the capacity constraints described in Section 3.2(c), (iii) are compliant with cGMPs, and (iv) have been delivered and installed in good operating condition; and
- (g) each of the API Cost and PEO Cost accurately reflects Client's actual, out-of-pocket cost to procure the API and PEO, respectively, from its Third Party vendors and provide it to Halo.

#### Halo Pharma • Confidential

## **Halo Warranties**. Halo covenants, represents and warrants to Client that:

- (a) to the best of Halo's knowledge, there are no Third Party Rights related to Halo's Intellectual Property that would be infringed, violated or misused by Halo's performance of the Agreement;
- (b) it has no knowledge of any claims, actions or other actual or threatened legal proceedings or investigations by any Regulatory Authority, the subject of which is (i) the infringement, violation or misuse of Third Party Rights related to any Halo's Intellectual Property or (ii) the violation of Applicable Law by Halo or the Manufacturing Sites;
- (c) it does not and will not use in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement the services of any individual debarred or suspended under 21 U.S.C. §335(a) or (b);
- (d) it does not have and will not hire as an officer or employee any individual who has been convicted of a felony under the laws of the United States for conduct relating to the regulation of any drug product under the *Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act*; and
- (e) all Product provided to Client hereunder have been manufactured in accordance with the Quality Agreement, the manufacturing process set forth in the Product Specifications (subject to permitted deviations) and Applicable Law, including cGMPs, and shall at the time of delivery under Section 4.4(a) meet all Specifications and not be adulterated, misbranded or mislabeled within the meaning of Applicable Laws; *provided*, that no representation or warranty is made by Halo to the extent of (and Halo shall not be liable for any defect in Product attributable to) any of the matters described in Section 6.3(d) or clauses (2) and (4) of Section 2.4(a) (the foregoing, the "**Product Warranty**").
- 9.4 <u>Limited Warranty</u>. NO PARTY MAKES ANY REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY OR GUARANTEE OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, BY FACT OR LAW, OTHER THAN THOSE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS ARTICLE 9. HALO EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS THE IMPLIED WARRANTY OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY WITH RESPECT TO THE PRODUCTS.

# ARTICLE 10 REMEDIES, INDEMNITIES and INSURANCE

10.1 No Consequential Damages . Except for [\*\*\*\*\*], under no circumstances whatsoever shall either Halo or Client be liable to the other (or any related Person) in contract, tort, negligence, breach of statutory duty or otherwise for (a) any (direct or indirect) loss of profits (including lost sales, business interruption or lost business opportunities), revenues, production, anticipated savings, data, business or goodwill or (b) any other liability, damage, cost or expense of any kind incurred by any other party of an incidental, indirect, consequential, exemplary, punitive or special nature, regardless of any notice of the possibility of such damages.

## 10.2 <u>Limitation of Liability</u>.

- (a) <u>API</u>. Except as expressly set forth in Sections 2.1(b)(i), 2.3(e), 6.3(a) and 6.3(c) of this Agreement, under no circumstances whatsoever shall Halo be responsible for any loss, damage or destruction of API. Halo's maximum aggregate liability for loss or damage to all API under this Agreement, including Sections 2.1(b)(i), 2.3(e), 6.3(a) and 6.3(c), shall not exceed the Maximum API Credit Value in any given Year.
- (b) <u>PEO</u>. Except as expressly set forth in Sections 2.1(b)(ii), 2.3(e), 6.3(a) and 6.3(c) of this Agreement, under no circumstances whatsoever shall Halo be responsible for any loss, damage or destruction of PEO. Halo's maximum aggregate liability for loss or damage to all PEO under this Agreement, including Sections 2.1(b)(ii), 2.3(e), 6.3(a) and 6.3(c), shall not exceed the Maximum PEO Credit Value in any given Year.
- (c) <u>Maximum Liability</u>. Halo's maximum liability under this Agreement resulting from a breach of its representations, warranties or other obligations under this Agreement shall not exceed [\*\*\*\*\*]. The foregoing shall not apply to [\*\*\*\*\*].
- (d) For the avoidance of doubt, any amounts paid or credited to Client by Halo under this Agreement (i) in respect of lost, damaged or destroyed API shall not exceed the Maximum API Credit Value, (ii) in respect of lost, damaged or destroyed PEO shall not exceed the Maximum PEO Credit Value, and (iii) in respect of any and all liabilities under this Agreement (including in connection with API and PEO) shall not exceed the cap set forth in clause (c) above.

## 10.3 <u>Indemnification</u>.

- (a) <u>By Halo</u>. Halo shall indemnify and hold harmless Client, its Affiliates, and their respective officers, employees and agents ("Client Indemnitees") from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, obligations, penalties, judgments, awards, costs, expenses, and disbursements, including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses (collectively, "Losses"), in connection with any claim, suit or action asserted by a Third Party ("Third Party Claim") caused by, relating to, based upon, arising out of or in connection with: (a) any breach by Halo of any of Halo's representations, warranties or covenants under this Agreement; (b) any actual or alleged infringement or violation of any Third Party's patent, trade secret, copyright, trademark or other proprietary rights by Halo's Intellectual Property (excluding Inventions allocated to Halo pursuant to Section 12.2(b)); or (c) Halo's willful misconduct or negligence; except in each case to the extent any such Losses were caused by or arose out of any Client Indemnitee's (i) breach of the representations, warranties or covenants set forth herein, (ii) willful misconduct or negligence or (iii) other matter subject to indemnity by Client pursuant to Section 10.3(b).
- (b) <u>By Client</u>. Client shall indemnify and hold harmless Halo, its Affiliates, and their respective officers, employees and agents (" **Halo Indemnitees**") from and against any and all Losses in connection with any Third Party Claim caused by, relating to, based upon, arising out of or in connection with: (a) breach of any of Client's representations, warranties, or covenants under this Agreement; (b) any actual or alleged infringement or violation of any Third Party's patent, trade secret, copyright, trademark or other proprietary rights by Intellectual Property or materials

provided by Client, including API, (c) product liability arising from defective API or PEO; (d) Client's willful misconduct or negligence; or (e) the promotion, distribution, use, misuse, sale or effect of the API or Product; except in each case to the extent any such Losses were caused by or arose out of any Halo Indemnitee's (i) breach of the representations, warranties or covenants set forth herein, (ii) willful misconduct or negligence or (iii) other matter subject to indemnity by Halo pursuant to Section 10.3(a).

### (c) <u>Procedure</u>.

- (i) Claims. As promptly as is reasonably practicable after becoming aware of a claim for indemnification under this Agreement, but in any event no later than [\*\*\*\*\*] after becoming aware thereof, the party claiming indemnification (the "Indemnified Person") shall give written notice to the party from which indemnification is sought (the "Indemnifying Person") of such claim in accordance herewith (the "Claim Notice"); provided, that the failure of the Indemnified Person to give such notice shall not relieve the Indemnifying Person of its obligations under this Section 10.3 except to the extent (if any) that the Indemnifying Person shall have been prejudiced thereby. The Claim Notice shall set forth in reasonable detail (A) the facts and circumstances giving rise to such claim for indemnification, including all relevant, reasonably available, material supporting documentation, (B) the nature of the Losses suffered or incurred or expected to be suffered or incurred, (C) a reference to the provisions of this Agreement in respect of which such Losses have been suffered or incurred or are expected to be suffered or incurred, and (D) the amount of Losses actually suffered or incurred and, to the extent the Losses have not yet been suffered or incurred, a good faith estimate of the amount of Losses that could be expected to be suffered or incurred.
- (ii) <u>Participation</u>. The Indemnifying Person may, at its own expense, (i) participate in the defense of any such Third Party Claim and (ii) upon notice to the Indemnified Person, at any time during the course of any such Third Party Claim, assume the defense thereof with counsel of its own choice. In the event of such assumption, the Indemnifying Person shall have the exclusive right, subject to <u>clause (A)</u> in the proviso in <u>Section 10.3(c)(iii)</u>, to settle or compromise such Third Party Claim. If the Indemnifying Person assumes such defense, the Indemnified Person shall have the right (but not the duty) to participate in the defense thereof and to employ counsel, at its own expense, separate from the counsel employed by the Indemnifying Person (subject to the foregoing provisions of this <u>Section 10.3(c)(ii)</u>). Whether or not the Indemnifying Person chooses to defend any such Third Party Claim, all parties hereto shall cooperate in the defense thereof.
- (iii) <u>Settlement or Compromise</u>. Any settlement or compromise made or caused to be made by the Indemnified Person (unless the Indemnifying Person has the exclusive right to settle or compromise under <u>Section 10.3(c)(ii)</u>) or the Indemnifying Person, as the case may be, of any such Third Party Claim shall also be binding upon the Indemnifying Person or the Indemnified Person, as the case may be, in the same manner as if a final judgment or decree had been entered by a court of competent jurisdiction in the amount of such settlement or compromise; <u>provided</u>, that (i) no obligation, restriction or Loss shall be imposed on the Indemnified Person as a result of such settlement or compromise without its prior written consent and (ii) the Indemnified Person

will not compromise or settle any Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Person, in each case, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

#### (iv) <u>Mitigation</u>.

- (A) Each Indemnified Person shall use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate any Losses that such Indemnified Person asserts or is reasonably likely to assert under this Section 10.3; *provided*, however, that the use of such commercially reasonable efforts shall not be a condition to bringing a claim for indemnification hereunder in respect of such Losses; and *provided*, further, that if an Indemnified Person shall fail to make such commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate any such Losses, then, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, no Indemnifying Person shall be required to indemnify any Indemnified Person for that portion of any Losses that could reasonably be expected to have been avoided if the Indemnified Person had made such efforts.
- (B) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the amount of any Losses incurred or suffered by any Indemnified Person shall be calculated after giving effect to (1) any insurance proceeds received by the Indemnified Person (or any of its Affiliates) with respect to such Losses and (2) any recoveries obtained by the Indemnified Person (or any of its Affiliates) from any other Third Party in respect of such Losses, and each Indemnified Person shall exercise commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such proceeds, benefits and recoveries; *provided*, however, that such exercise shall not be a condition to bringing a claim for indemnification hereunder in respect of such Losses. If any such proceeds, benefits or recoveries are received by an Indemnified Person (or any of its Affiliates) with respect to any Losses after an Indemnifying Person has made a payment to the Indemnified Person with respect thereto, the Indemnified Person (or such Affiliate) shall promptly pay to the Indemnifying Person the amount of such proceeds, benefits or recoveries (up to the amount of the Indemnifying Person's payment).
- (C) Upon making any payment to an Indemnified Person in respect of any Losses, the Indemnifying Person will, to the extent of such payment, be subrogated to all rights of the Indemnified Person (and its Affiliates) against any Third Party in respect of the Losses to which such payment relates. Such Indemnified Person (and its Affiliates) and Indemnifying Person will execute upon request all instruments reasonably necessary to evidence or further perfect such subrogation rights.

#### 10.4 Insurance.

(a) <u>Coverage</u>. Each party shall purchase and maintain insurance, at its own expense, as required to protect Client and Halo as follows:

#### (i) Client:

(A) Commercial General Liability Insurance (Primary) with limits of not less than [\*\*\*\*\*] per occurrence and in the aggregate for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage, with coverage for blanket contractual liability, independent contractors and

35

#### Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

severability of interest; which insurance may be satisfied through a combination of primary and umbrella liability insurance;

- (B) Automobile Liability with a limit of liability not less than [\*\*\*\*\*] per occurrence combined single limit for bodily injury (including death) and property damage liability, with coverage for owned, non-owned and hired vehicles; and
- (C) Products and Completed Operations Insurance with limits of not less than [\*\*\*\*\*] per occurrence and in the aggregate for bodily injury or property damage.
  - (ii) Halo: \_
- (A) Commercial General Liability Insurance (Primary) with limits of not less than [\*\*\*\*\*] per occurrence and in the aggregate for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage, with coverage for blanket contractual liability, products and completed operations, independent contractors and severability of interest;
- (B) Automobile Liability with a limit of liability not less than [\*\*\*\*\*] per occurrence combined single limit for bodily injury (including death) and property damage liability, with coverage for owned, non-owned and hired vehicles;
  - (C) Excess or Umbrella Coverage of not less than [\*\*\*\*\*]; and
- (D) Professional Liability (errors and omissions) insurance with limits of not less than [\*\*\*\*\*] per occurrence and in the aggregate.
- (b) Additional Requirements. The foregoing insurance, excluding auto, shall be on a claims made basis, shall remain in force throughout the Term and for [\*\*\*\*\*] following expiration or termination of this Agreement, and shall be maintained with companies having an A.M. Best's rating of A- VII or better. Each party shall provide each other party with certificates of insurance evidencing the required insurance on written request. In no event shall work be performed until such evidence of the required insurance has been furnished. Each party shall give each other party at least [\*\*\*\*\*] prior written notice in the event of cancellation or non-renewal of any such required insurance. Each party shall name each other party, its agents and employees, as additional insureds on all policies of required insurance.
- 10.5 Reasonable Allocation of Risk. The provisions of this Agreement (including this Article) are reasonable and create a reasonable allocation of risk having regard to the relative profits the parties respectively expect to derive from the Products; and that Halo, in its fees for the provision of the Manufacturing Services, has not accepted a greater degree of the risks arising from the manufacture, distribution, sale and use of the Products, based on the fact that Client has developed the Products and requires Halo to manufacture and label the Products strictly in accordance with the Specifications; and that Client and not Halo is in a position to inform and advise potential users of the Products as to the circumstances and manner of use of the Products.

36

# ARTICLE 11 CONFIDENTIALITY

- 11.1 <u>Confidentiality</u>. The Parties agree that the Master Confidentiality Agreement, dated [\*\*\*\*\*], between the Parties (the "Master Confidentiality Agreement") shall govern the Parties' and their respective Affiliates' confidentiality and non-use obligations with respect to Confidential Information (as defined therein) provided or communicated in connection with this Agreement; provided, that:
- (a) Section 3.6 is hereby amended by adding the following to its end: "In addition, (i) the receiving Party is not required to return or destroy any Confidential Information if doing so would violate any applicable law, regulation or court order, (ii) the receiving Party shall not be required to expunge any minutes or written consents of its Board of Directors (or equivalent), and (iii) to the extent that the receiving Party's computer back-up or archiving procedures create copies of Confidential Information, the receiving Party may retain such copies for the period it normally archives backed-up computer records, so long as such copies are not readily accessible and are not used or consulted for any purpose other than disaster recovery. Any Confidential Information retained pursuant to the foregoing sentence shall remain subject to the provisions of this Section 3.2."
- (b) Section 4.6 is hereby amended by including for Halo the contact information set forth in Section 14.4 of this Agreement.
- 11.2 <u>Publicity</u>. Neither Halo nor Client will make any press release or other public disclosure regarding this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, including identifying the other as a business partner or in connection with any scholarly or industry publications or presentations, without the other's express prior written consent. The foregoing shall not apply to the extent disclosure is required under Applicable Laws, by any Authority or by the rules of any stock exchange on which the securities of the disclosing party are listed, in which case the disclosing party shall reasonably consult with and consider the other party's comments as to the form, nature and extent of the press release or public disclosure prior to issuing or making the disclosure.

# ARTICLE 12 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

# 12.1 <u>Intellectual Property</u>.

(a) Existing Items. Subject to the other provisions of this Article 12: (a) all Intellectual Property owned by or licensed by Third Parties to a party or any of its Affiliates shall be owned by such party; (b) neither Halo nor Client has, nor shall it acquire, any interest in any of the other's Intellectual Property except to the extent expressly set forth in this Agreement, and (c) each of Halo and Client agrees not to use any Intellectual Property of the other except as specifically authorized by the other or as required for the performance of its obligations under this Agreement.

37

Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

(b) <u>License to Halo</u>. For the Term, Client hereby grants to Halo a non-exclusive, paidup, royalty-free, non-transferable, irrevocable license to use Client's Intellectual Property in connection with the Manufacturing Services

#### 12.2 Inventions.

- (a) <u>Client Inventions</u>. As between Halo and Client, all Inventions generated or derived by or on behalf of Halo or any of its employees, contractors or agents in the course of performing the Manufacturing Services, to the extent specific to, or dependent upon, the development, manufacture, use and sale of Client's Product, and all Intellectual Property pertaining to such Inventions, shall be the exclusive property of Client. Such Inventions are included in the Intellectual Property licensed to Halo under Section 12.1(b).
- (b) <u>Halo Inventions</u>. As between Halo and Client, all Inventions generated or derived by or on behalf of Halo or any of its employees, contractors or agents in the course of performing the Manufacturing Services to the extent not specific to, or dependent upon Client's Product, and which have application to manufacturing processes or formulation development of drug products or drug delivery systems generally, and all Intellectual Property pertaining to such Inventions, shall be the exclusive property of Halo (the "**Broader Intellectual Property Rights**"). Halo hereby grants to Client a perpetual, non-terminable, irrevocable, non-exclusive, paid-up, royalty-free, sublicensable license to use Halo's Broader Intellectual Property Rights to manufacture or have manufactured, use, sell, offer for sale and import Client's Product.
- (c) <u>Disclosure</u>. Halo shall submit to Client a written description of all Inventions generated or derived by or on behalf of Halo or any of its employees, contractors or agents in the course of performing the Manufacturing Services, including any Broader Intellectual Property Rights. Client may disclose Broader Intellectual Property Rights in any patent application claiming Client's Inventions, as Client may reasonably require to support the claimed subject matter of such patent application, subject to Halo's prior written approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- (d) Each of Halo and Client shall be solely responsible for the costs of filing, prosecution and maintenance of patents and patent applications on its own Inventions.

# ARTICLE 13 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

13.1 <u>Escalation</u>. Halo and Client shall try to resolve any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Agreement other than a dispute determined in accordance with Section 6.1(b) (a "**Dispute**") amicably between themselves before resorting to any formal dispute resolution proceeding. To this end, either Halo or a single Client entity designated by the Client entities to act on behalf of all Client entities (the "**Client Party**") may send a notice of Dispute to the other, whereupon each of them shall appoint, within [\*\*\*\*\*], a single, senior representative having full power and authority to resolve the Dispute (a "**Facilitator**"). The Facilitators shall meet and discuss as necessary to try to resolve the Dispute as quickly as practicable.

38

- 13.2 <u>Technical Disputes</u>. Where a Dispute relates exclusively to technical aspects of the Manufacturing Services or related activities under this Agreement (a " **Technical Dispute**"), the Facilitators shall be competent to address the technical nature of the issues in question. If, despite their reasonable efforts, the Facilitators have not resolved the Technical Dispute within a reasonable period of time given the nature of the issue, but in any event within [\*\*\*\*\*] of the date of the Dispute notice, the Technical Dispute shall, at the request of either Halo or the Client Party, be referred for determination to an expert in accordance with <u>Schedule F</u>. If such parties cannot agree whether a dispute is a Technical Dispute, Section 13.3 shall govern. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Agreement (including <u>Schedule F</u>) is intended to or shall remove or limit the authority of the relevant qualified person (as specified by the Quality Agreement) to determine whether any Product is to be released for sale or distribution.
- Facilitator or if, despite their reasonable efforts, the Facilitators have not resolved a Dispute (other than a Technical Dispute) within [\*\*\*\*\*] from the date of the Dispute notice, the Dispute shall immediately be referred to the President of Halo and the Client Party (or such other officer as he/she may designate), who will meet and discuss as necessary to try to resolve the Dispute. Should such officers fail to resolve the Dispute, either Halo or the Client Party may resort to a court of competent jurisdiction or any other method of binding dispute resolution on which Halo and the Client Party may agree.
- 13.4 <u>Jurisdiction; Language</u>. Any Dispute resolution proceeding under this Article 13 shall be conducted in the jurisdiction of New Jersey, if Halo is the defendant party, or in Pennsylvania if any one or more Client entities are the defendant party(ies); in the English language.
- 13.5 <u>Prevailing Party</u>. As between Halo and Client, the party that prevails in any Dispute resolution proceeding shall have the right to recover from the other any reasonable attorneys' fees and costs incurred by reason of such proceeding.

#### ARTICLE 14 MISCELLANEOUS

14.1 Force Majeure. No party shall be liable for the failure to perform its obligations under this Agreement if such failure is occasioned by: any strikes, labor disputes of whatever nature, other labor disturbances, or lockouts; quarantines or communicable disease outbreaks; acts of government or state, embargos, or compliance with any order or regulation of any Authority acting within color of right; civil commotion, insurrection, riots, wars, or acts of terrorism; fires, floods, storms, or other acts of God; interruption of or delay in transportation; lack of, prevention in, or hindrance in obtaining energy, fuel, power, other utilities; failure of suppliers or lack of or inability to obtain components; or any other reason, cause or contingency beyond the control and without fault or negligence of the party affected thereby (a "Force Majeure Event"). If Halo or Client claims a right to excused performance under this Section 14.1, it shall immediately notify the other in writing of the extent of its inability to perform, which notice shall specify the Force Majeure Event. If Halo or Client's performance of any obligation under this Agreement is delayed owing to a Force Majeure Event for any continuous period of more than [\*\*\*\*\*], the other may

terminate this Agreement without penalty upon written notice to Halo or Client, respectively. No party shall be entitled to rely on a Force Majeure Event to relieve it from an obligation to pay money (including any interest for delayed payment) that would otherwise be due and payable under this Agreement. In addition, Client may not claim a right to excused performance under this Section 14.1 unless all the entities included in the term "Client" are subject to the applicable Force Majeure Event.

- Additional Products and Expanded Territory. Additional products and countries may be added to this Agreement upon the parties written agreement, and such additional products and countries shall be governed by the general conditions hereof. The parties shall amend or supplement this Agreement (including the Schedules) as necessary to reflect their agreement with respect to Product-specific or country-specific terms, including Price, Packaging Fee and Territory.
- **Right to Dispose and Settle**. If Halo requests in writing Client's direction with respect to disposal of any Inventory, API, equipment, Records, samples or other items belonging to Client and is unable to obtain a response from Client within [\*\*\*\*\*] after making reasonable efforts to do so, Halo shall have the right to dispose of such items at Client's expense (which may be by set off against any credit on Client's account).
- 14.4 <u>Notices</u>. Any notice, approval, instruction or other written communication required or permitted hereunder shall be sufficient if made or given to Halo or Client, as the case may be, by personal delivery, by facsimile communication, by delivery via nationally recognized overnight courier service, by first class mail postage prepaid, or by PDF attachment to an email or similar electronic transmission to the mailing address, facsimile number or email address set forth below:

#### If to Client:

Egalet Corporation 600 Lee Road, Suite 100 Wayne, PA 19087 USA Attention: [\*\*\*\*\*] Facsimile No: [\*\*\*\*\*] Email (optional): [\*\*\*\*\*]

#### If to Halo:

Halo Pharmaceutical, Inc. 30 North Jefferson Road Whippany NJ 07981 USA Attention: [\*\*\*\*\*] Facsimile No.: [\*\*\*\*\*] Email (optional): [\*\*\*\*\*]

40

#### Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

or to such other contact information provided to the other party in accordance with the terms of this Section 14.4. Notices or written communications made or given by personal delivery, overnight courier service, facsimile or email shall be deemed to have been sufficiently made or given when sent (receipt acknowledged), or if mailed, [\*\*\*\*\*] after being deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid or upon receipt, whichever is sooner. For the avoidance of doubt, Halo's giving of notice to Egalet Corporation in accordance with this Section 14.4 shall suffice for notice also to Egalet Ltd. and Egalet US Inc.

Assignment. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties, their successors and permitted assigns. Neither Halo nor Client may assign any of its rights or delegate any of its obligations under this Agreement, in whole or in part, except with the other's prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. If Halo or Client desires to assign this Agreement, it shall give written notice to the other with sufficient detail to enable the other to properly consider the matter, and any assignee reasonably acceptable to the other shall be required to covenant in writing with such party(ies) to be bound by the terms of this Agreement. In the event Halo or Client consents to the delegation of any of the other's obligations under this Agreement, the delegating party shall remain responsible for any breach of this Agreement by any such delegate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either Halo or Client may assign this Agreement in its entirety or delegate any portion of its obligations without the other's consent, but subject to prior written notice, to any of its Affiliates or to a successor to or purchaser of all or substantially all of the business or assets of the assigning party or the assigning party's business unit responsible for performance under this Agreement.

#### 14.6 Construction .

- (a) <u>Independent Contractors</u>. The parties are independent contractors to one another and this Agreement shall not be construed to create between Halo and Client any other relationship such as, by way of example only, that of employer-employee, principal-agent, joint-venturers, partners or any similar relationship, the existence of which is expressly denied by the parties.
- (b) <u>No Third Party Benefit or Right</u>. Nothing in this Agreement shall confer or be construed as conferring on any Person other than the parties hereto any benefit or the right to enforce any express or implied term of this Agreement.
- (c) <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement (including its Schedules and any other attachments), together with the Quality Agreement, constitutes the full, complete, final and integrated agreement between and among the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all previous written or oral negotiations, commitments, agreements, transactions or understandings with respect to the subject matter hereof.
- (d) PMSA. The parties acknowledge and agree that the PMSA is terminated in all respects as of [\*\*\*\*\*]. For clarity, as of such termination, [\*\*\*\*\*]. In addition, the Parties acknowledge and agree [\*\*\*\*\*].
- (e) <u>Other Terms</u>. No terms, provisions or conditions of any purchase order, quote, proposal, invoice, or other business form or written authorization used by Client or Halo will have

41

any effect on the rights, duties or obligations of the parties under, or otherwise modify, this Agreement, regardless of any failure of Client or Halo to object to such terms, provisions, or conditions, except to the extent such document specifically refers to this Agreement, sets forth an express intent to override it, and is signed by all parties.

- (f) <u>Amendments</u>. Any modification, amendment or supplement to this Agreement must be in writing and signed by authorized representatives of all parties to be effective, except to the extent otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement; *provided*, that the signature of any one Client entity shall be binding on all the Client entities.
- (g) <u>Waivers</u>. Either Halo's or Client's failure to require the other to comply with any provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of such provision or any other provision of this Agreement.
- (h) <u>Severability</u>. If any provision of this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such determination shall not impair or affect the validity, legality or enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof, and each provision is hereby declared to be separate, severable and distinct.
- (i) <u>Drafting Party</u>. The language in this Agreement is to be construed in all cases according to its fair meaning. Halo and Client acknowledge that each of them and their respective counsel have reviewed and revised this Agreement and that any rule of construction, to the effect that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party are not to be employed in the interpretation of this Agreement.
- (j) <u>Divisions</u>. The division of this Agreement into Articles, sections, subsections and Schedules and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement. Unless otherwise indicated, any reference in this Agreement to a Section or Schedule refers to the specified Section or Schedule to this Agreement. In this Agreement, the terms "this Agreement", "hereof", "herein", "hereunder" and similar expressions refer to this Agreement as a whole (including any Schedules hereto) and not to any particular part, Section, Schedule or the provision hereof.
- (k) <u>Certain Terms</u>. Whenever used in this Agreement, unless otherwise specified: (i) all monetary amounts are expressed in, and all references to "\$" or "Dollars" mean, the lawful currency of the United States of America; (ii) the word "include" (with its grammatical variations) mean "include, without limitation," "include but are not limited to", or words of similar import; (iii) the words "agree" or "written agreement" will not impose any obligation on Halo or Client to agree to any terms or to engage in discussions relating to such terms, except as such party may elect in such party's sole discretion; (iv) the word "days" means calendar days; (v) the words "copy" and "copies" include, to the extent available, electronic copies, files or databases containing the information, files, items, documents or materials to which such words apply; and (vii) all references to the singular shall include the plural and vice versa.
- (l) <u>Schedules</u>. The following Schedules are attached to, incorporated in and form part of this Agreement:

42

#### Halo Pharma • Confidential

Schedule A - Product List & Manufacturing Services Fees

Attachment: Preliminary Product Specifications

Schedule B - Additional Services

Schedule C - Form of Inventory Report

Schedule D - Form of Annual Reconciliation Report

Schedule E - Form of Exclusive Components Purchasing Summary

Schedule F - Technical Dispute Resolution

Schedule G - Client-Supplied Material

Schedule H - Quality Agreement

Schedule I - List of Territories

Schedule J - IM Machines

Schedule K - Existing Orders Qualifying as Additional Services

- 14.7 <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New Jersey and the laws of the United States applicable therein. The UN Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods shall not apply to this Agreement.
- 14.8 <u>Further Assurances</u>. The parties agree to execute, acknowledge and deliver such further instruments and to take all such other incidental acts as may be reasonably necessary or appropriate to carry out the purpose and intent of this Agreement.
- 14.9 <u>Execution in Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, by original or facsimile signature, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

Signature page follows

43

#### Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF** , the duly authorized representatives of the parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.

# HALO PHARMACEUTICAL, INC.

by /s/ L. Lee Karras

Name: L. Lee Karras

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

# EGALET CORPORATION

by /s/ Robert S. Radie
Name: Robert Radie
Title: President & CEO
EGALET LTD.
by /s/ Robert S. Radie
Name: Robert Radie
Title: President & CEO
EGALET US INC.
by /s/ Robert S. Radie
Name: Robert Radie
Title: President & CEO

2

#### Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

# **SCHEDULE A**

# PRODUCT LisT & manufacturing services FEES

[\*\*\*\*\*]

# Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.



# **SCHEDULE B**

# additional SERVICES

[\*\*\*\*\*]

Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.



# SCHEDULE C FORM OF INVENTORY REPORT

[\*\*\*\*\*]

Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.



# **SCHEDULE D**

# FORM OF ANNUAL RECONCILIATION REPORT

[\*\*\*\*\*]

Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.



# **SCHEDULE E**

# FORM OF exclusive components purchasing summary

[\*\*\*\*\*]

Halo Pharma • Confidential

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.



# **SCHEDULE F**

# technical dispute resolution

Any Technical Dispute that cannot be resolved by negotiation as provided in Sections 13.1 and 13.2 shall be resolved in the following manner:

- 1. <u>Appointment of Expert</u>. Within [\*\*\*\*\*] after a party requests pursuant to Section 13.2 that an expert be appointed to resolve a Technical Dispute, the parties shall jointly appoint a mutually acceptable expert with experience and expertise in the subject matter of the Technical Dispute. If the parties are unable to so agree within such [\*\*\*\*\*] period, or in the event of disclosure of a conflict by an expert pursuant to paragraph 2 below which results in the parties not confirming the appointment of such expert, then an expert (willing to act in that capacity hereunder) shall be appointed by an experienced arbitrator on the roster of the American Arbitration Association.
- 2. <u>Conflicts of Interest</u>. Any individual appointed as an expert shall be entitled to act and continue to act as such notwithstanding that at the time of such appointment or at any time before giving a determination, the expert has or may have some interest or duty that conflicts or may conflict with the appointment; *provided*, that before accepting such appointment (or as soon as practicable after becoming aware of the conflict or potential conflict) the individual fully discloses any such interest or duty and the parties after such disclosure shall have nevertheless confirmed or reconfirmed the appointment.
- 3. <u>Not Arbitrator</u>. No expert shall be deemed to be an arbitrator and the provisions of the American Arbitration Act and no Applicable Law (including the American Arbitration Act) shall apply to any such expert or the expert's determination or the procedure by which the expert reaches a determination to be made pursuant to this Schedule.
- 4. **Procedure**. Where an expert is a ppointed:
- (a) <u>Timing</u>. The expert shall be so appointed on condition that (i) the expert promptly fixes a reasonable time and place for receiving representations, submissions or information from the parties and issues such authorizations to the parties and any relevant Third Party for the proper conduct of a determination and any hearing and (ii) the expert renders a decision (with full reasons) within [\*\*\*\*\*] (or such other date as the parties and the expert may agree) after receipt of all information requested by the expert pursuant to paragraph 4(b) hereof.
- (b) <u>Disclosure of Evidence</u>. The parties undertake to provide to the expert all such evidence and information within their respective possession or control as the expert may reasonably consider necessary for determining the Technical Dispute, which they shall disclose promptly and in any event within [\*\*\*\*\*] of a written request from the expert.

[\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

- (c) <u>Advisors</u>. Each party may appoint such counsel, consultants and advisors as it feels appropriate to assist the expert in making a determination and so as to present their respective cases so that at all times the parties shall co-operate and seek to narrow and limit the issues to be determined.
- (d) <u>Appointment of New Expert</u>. If within the time specified in paragraph 4(a) above the expert shall not have rendered a decision in accordance with the appointment, a new expert may (at the request of either party) be appointed and the appointment of the existing expert shall thereupon cease for the purposes of determining the Technical Dispute, save that if the existing expert renders a decision with full reasons prior to the appointment of the new expert, then such a decision shall have effect and the proposed appointment of the new expert shall be withdrawn.
- (e) <u>Final and Binding</u>. The determination of the expert shall, save in the event of fraud or manifest error, be final and binding upon the parties.
- (f) <u>Costs</u>. Each party shall bear its own costs in connection with any Technical Dispute to an expert hereunder and, in the absence of express provision in the Agreement to the contrary, the costs and expenses of the expert shall be shared equally by the parties.

For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Schedule is intended to or shall remove or limit the authority of the relevant qualified person (as specified by the Quality Agreement) to determine whether any Product is to be released for sale or distribution.

# **SCHEDULE G**

# Client supplied material

[\*\*\*\*\*]

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

# **SCHEDULE H**

# quality agreement

[\*\*\*\*\*]

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.



# **SCHEDULE I**

# **List of Territories**

[\*\*\*\*\*]

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

# **SCHEDULE J**

# **IM Machines**

[\*\*\*\*\*]

 $[*****] \begin{tabular}{ll} Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment. \\ \end{tabular}$ 

# **SCHEDULE K**

# <u>Halo Work Orders and Egalet Purchase Orders Existing as of the Effective Date</u> <u>Qualifying as Additional Services</u>

[\*\*\*\*\*]

[\*\*\*\*\*] Material omitted and separately filed with the Commission under a request for confidential treatment.

#### Certification of Principal Executive Officer of Egalet Corporation Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

#### I, Robert S. Radie, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Egalet Corporation;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
    designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
    consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
    which this report is being prepared;
  - b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 10, 2017

/s/ ROBERT S. RADIE

Robert S. Radie President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

#### Certification of Principal Financial and Accounting Officer of Egalet Corporation Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

#### I, Stanley J. Musial, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Egalet Corporation;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
    designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
    consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
    which this report is being prepared;
  - b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 10, 2017

/s/ STANLEY J. MUSIAL

Stanley J. Musial Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

# Certification Of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant To 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant To Section 906 Of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Egalet Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2017, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Robert S. Radie, president and chief executive officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

- 1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- 2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company at the end of the period covered by the Report and results of operations of the Company for the period covered by the Report.

Date: May 10, 2017 /s/ ROBERT S. RADIE

President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

This certification accompanies the Report and shall not be deemed "filed" by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

# **Certification Of** Principal Financial and Accounting Officer Pursuant To 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant To Section 906 Of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Egalet Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2017, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Stanley J. Musial, chief financial officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

- The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1) 1934; and
- The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the 2) Company at the end of the period covered by the Report and results of operations of the Company for the period covered by the Report.

Dated: May 10, 2017

/s/ STANLEY J. MUSIAL Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

This certification accompanies the Report and shall not be deemed "filed" by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.